Surfactant-free colloidal syntheses of precious metal nanoparticles for improved catalysts

Jonathan Quinson,^{a,b,*} Sebastian Kunz^{c,d*} and Matthias Arenz^{e,*}

- a) Department of Chemistry, University of Copenhagen, 5 Universitetsparken, 2100 Copenhagen, Denmark
- b) Biochemical and Chemical Engineering Department, Aarhus University, 40 Åbogade, 8200 Aarhus, Denmark
- c) Institute for Applied and Physical Chemistry University of Bremen, Leobenerstraße, 28359 Bremen, Germany
- d) Südzucker AG Central Department Research, Development Services (CRDS), Wormser Straße 11 67283 Obrigheim, Germany
- e) Department of Chemistry, Biochemistry and Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Bern, Freiestrasse 3 CH-3012 Bern, Switzerland

jquinson@bce.au.dk, ORCID: 0000-0002-9374-9330

sebastian-kunz@web.de, ORCID: 0000-0002-2512-9316

matthias.aren@unibe.ch, ORCID: 0000-0001-9765-4315

Abstract

Colloidal syntheses of nanomaterials offer multiple benefits to study, understand and optimize unsupported and supported catalysts. In particular, colloidal syntheses are relevant to synthetize (precious) metal nanoparticles. By separating the synthesis of the active phase nanoparticles from supporting steps, a deeper knowledge and a rational control on supported catalyst properties is gained. The effect of nanoparticle size, shape, composition, nature of support or metal loading on a support can be studied in more systematic ways. The fundamental knowledge gained paves the way for catalyst optimization by tuning the catalyst activity, selectivity, and stability. However, a major drawback is that most colloidal syntheses require the use of additives or surfactants, which are detrimental to most catalytic reactions since they typically block catalyst active sites. Surfactant removal typically adds complexity, can introduce a lack of reproducibility, is energy consuming, generates waste, and prevents the full exploitation of the many benefits of colloidal syntheses for catalysis. Several surfactant-free strategies to obtain stable colloidal nanoparticles are here reviewed. A focus is given to laser synthesis and processing of colloids (LSPC), solution plasma process (SPP), N,N-dimethylformamide (DMF), polyols, and recently reported mono-alcohols based syntheses. The relevance of these synthetic approaches for catalysis is detailed with a focus on heterogeneous catalysis and electro-catalysis.

Keywords

colloids; surfactant-free; nanoparticles; catalysis; heterogeneous catalysts; electrocatalysis; supported catalysts

Contents

Abs	stract	2					
Key	/words	2					
Intro	oduction	4					
١.	State-of-the-art syntheses of heterogeneous catalysts	7					
	I.1. State-of-the-art: impregnation-calcination	7					
	I.2. A first step beyond state-of-the-art: colloidal syntheses	8					
	I.3. Colloidal syntheses: limitations	9					
	I.4. Surfactant removal	11					
II.	Colloidal surfactant-free syntheses	15					
	II.1. Surfactant-free syntheses: scope and background	16					
	II.2. Laser Synthesis and Processing of Colloids (LSPC)						
	II.3 Solution plasma process (SPP)						
	II.4. N,N-dimethylformamide (DMF) synthesis	22					
	II.5. Surfactant-free polyol synthesis						
	II.6. Surfactant-free mono-alcohol synthesis						
	II.7. Discussion						
III.	Surfactant-free colloidal nanoparticles: reference materials and building blocks						
	III.1. The surfactant-free toolbox approach						
	III.2. Synthesis related effects	42					
	III.2. Size effects	43					
	III.3. Loading and interparticle distance effects	46					
	III.4. Support effects						
	III.5. Support treatment effects	51					
	III.6. Composition and structural effects						
	III.7. Improved electron transfer	54					
	III.8. Effects of surfactants, their removal or absence, towards ligand effects	55					
Con	Conclusions						
Ackı	Acknowledgements						
Refe	erences	62					

Introduction

Catalysis is a key scientific area of fundamental and applied research. With 80-90 % of the products from the chemical industry requiring a catalyst at some stage of their production, the design of catalysts is at the forefront of shaping societies and addressing environmental challenges.¹⁻³ Catalysts facilitate a thermodynamically allowed reaction and are not consumed during the reaction. With a catalyst, chemical reactions can be performed with lower energy requirement (e.g. lower temperature), faster and in most cases with less waste generated than for a non-catalyzed reaction. Catalysts can take diverse forms and be used in different ways. They can be in the same phase as the reactants they will contribute to convert to product(s) (homogeneous catalysis), in a different phase (heterogeneous catalysis), largely designed or inspired by nature (bio-catalysis), relying on solar energy (photo-catalysis) or electron transfer (electrocatalysis). Naturally, there can be overlap between these different types of catalysts but in all cases, catalysts are expected to show common features to be considered performant, i.e. catalytically active, selective and stable. Ideally, catalysts can be easily separated from the products of the reaction catalyzed and can be simply recovered. For practical consideration, in particular scaling up to industrial requirements, it should be added that their production methods must be sustainable and cost efficient. This means that in a broad meaning, catalyst design and life-cycle - considering production, processing, implementation and recovery - must maximize the use of resources and catalysts should be produced in simple and safe ways.

In particular, *heterogeneous* catalysts are popular. For heterogeneous catalysis, a catalytic active phase, typically in the form of metal particles, is stabilized on a support material. The facility to recover the catalysts immobilized on a support, e.g. by simple processes such as filtration, is a major argument for scaling up. This recovery is especially important for the widely used family of precious metal catalysts made of expensive and critical resources such as gold (Au), silver (Ag), platinum (Pt), palladium (Pd), ruthenium (Ru), rhodium (Rh) or iridium (Ir). Such catalysts are relevant for a range of applications such as chemical production,⁴ energy conversion,⁵ sensing,⁶ water remediation,⁷ to name only a few examples. In contrast to most homogeneous and biocatalysts, heterogeneous catalysts, including electrocatalysts, are easily operated under various and possibly extreme environments such as high pressure or temperature. This gives a degree of freedom to optimize the screening of optimal catalytic conditions and to investigate the fundamental aspects of catalytic processes.⁸ Precious metal particle catalysts are

relatively simple to produce and a satisfying control over the catalyst properties such as activity and stability is typically achieved. However, there is room for improvement.

With the recent breakthroughs in nanotechnology, the design of nanomaterials, both as catalysts and catalyst supports, has become a rewarding area of research. In particular, nanoparticles (NPs) are popular catalysts for several reasons.⁹ (i) The use of resources can be optimized down to the atomic scale with NPs. This is especially relevant in light of the high price and scarcity of precious metals. It is therefore a rewarding strategy to develop precious metal nanomaterials. (ii) A wide variety of compositions, shapes, sizes can be obtained to modulate the resulting catalytic properties (activity, selectivity, stability, etc.).⁸, ¹⁰ From a research and development (R&D) perspective, this allows to best tune the materials to address specific needs or meet desired requirements and performances expected for a given reaction. This also allows studying fundamental effects to elucidate synthesis-structure-properties relationships for such materials. (iii) Several synthetic protocols are well documented to obtain in a relatively simple way various nanomaterials in most modern research laboratories.¹¹⁻¹⁵ (iv) The production methods of precious metal NPs are increasingly developed to respect most of the principles of environment-friendly and sustainable *chemistry* that are increasingly driving both academic and industrial research.¹⁶ These latest developments are likely to facilitate bridging the gap between academia and industry.

The purpose of this review is not to cover all synthetic approaches of precious metal NPs to develop new catalysts. For a broad overview on the different strategies to prepare supported catalysts, we encourage the readers to refer to previous reviews.^{17, 18} Out of all the possible methods to prepare nanomaterials, it can be argued that colloidal *wet-chemical* syntheses, where the catalysis are produced in liquid phase, remains a very popular method, especially in academic research. The colloidal production of nanomaterials is indeed a routine approach in many laboratories over the world.^{8, 11, 14, 15} The field of catalysis certainly already largely benefited, and still benefits, from colloidal syntheses of nanomaterials, as it has been extensively highlighted in recent work.^{2, 8, 10, 19, 20} A deeper insight into size, shape, composition, support effects, degradation has been gained over the years^{2, 9, 21} and recent overviews are available.⁸ Unfortunately, colloidal syntheses are not always optimized for catalyst design. *Per se*, some specificities of colloidal syntheses, such as the typical and widespread use of surfactants, are not compatible with the development of catalysts. This usually results in a poor transfer of the knowledge gained in academic research using colloidal syntheses to larger scale with therefore limited direct relevance to industry.

Introduction

This review proposes a definition to surfactant-free syntheses, highlights established and emerging surfactant-free colloidal syntheses that offer several benefits over more conventional colloidal strategies to develop precious metal NPs, with direct relevance to study and optimize precious metal catalysts. In a first section (I) the benefits but also the limits of common colloidal syntheses are detailed. In particular, the need for surfactants or stabilizers can be a severe drawback to develop optimal NP catalysts. In a second section (II), a definition of surfactant-free syntheses is proposed, and the most common surfactant-free colloidal syntheses are presented. They can be narrowed down to (i) laser synthesis and processing of colloids (LSPC), (ii) solution plasma process (SPP), and promising syntheses using (iii) N,Ndimethylformamide (DMF), (iv) polyols, or (v) mono-alcohols as solvents and reducing agents. Emerging trends and new opportunities in surfactant-free syntheses of catalysts are detailed and discussed; opportunities to bridge the gap between fundamental research and larger scale applications using colloids are highlighted.^{12, 22} In a third section (III), examples where *surfactant-free* alcohol-based syntheses were successfully used for catalysis research are detailed. It is demonstrated how surfactant-free NPs can be used as an ideal platform for fundamental research on supported catalysts with examples from both heterogeneous catalysis and electrocatalysis. In particular, the opportunities to disentangle the effects of catalyst synthesis, particle size, particle composition, metal loading, nature of support effects and functionalization are highlighted.²³ A focus is given to precious metals due to their relevance for a wide range of (electro)catalytic reactions in energy conversion (oxygen reduction reaction ORR;²⁴ oxygen evolution reaction, OER²⁵; oxidations of small organic molecules, ²⁶ etc.), sensing²⁷ and chemical synthesis (e.g. hydrogenation,²² oxidation²⁸ or coupling reactions²⁹).

I. State-of-the-art syntheses of heterogeneous catalysts

I.1. State-of-the-art: impregnation-calcination

As a starting point, it must be kept in mind that the state-of-the-art method to produce the several tons of heterogeneous nanocatalysts needed today is largely based on impregnation-calcination or incipientwetness methods.^{4, 8, 17} In simple terms, a precursor is impregnated or deposited on a support and further treated, to form nanocatalysts typically by reduction, as illustrated in Figure 1a. The method is cost efficient and well developed but not necessarily suited for research/rational catalyst design. A major first drawback in this approach is that several properties of the catalyst are entangled. For example, controlling metal loading, which in turn will affect interparticle distance, may require to reiterate cycles of impregnation-calcination, leading to a change in NPs size as well. Typically, larger NP sizes are obtained at higher loadings.³⁰ Also, the size of NPs obtained by impregnation-calcination is typically larger, with also large size distribution, compared to alternative approaches such as colloidal syntheses detailed below.²² This relatively poor control over NP properties impairs a fine tuning and so detailed studies of the catalyst. It must be stressed that the same drawbacks come with the use of commercial catalysts in fundamental studies where only the range of supports, particle sizes, or loadings available from commercial suppliers can be investigated. This limited ability to tune the properties of the supported catalysts impairs any true systematic investigations where only one parameter should be tuned independently of the others, e.g. size independent of support, or loading independent of size.

Secondly, catalysts are formed directly on a support. Therefore the knowledge gained from developing a catalyst with a given size and metal loading, size and/or shape is often support-dependent.^{22, 31} This means that the synthetic protocol needs to be re-optimized for any new support which can be resource and time consuming. Thirdly, the support material typically has a large surface area. Examples of supports are oxide materials such as alumina,³² titanium dioxide,³³ silica,³⁴ or a conductive support (typically carbon) for electrocatalysis,³⁵ a (semi)conductor for photocatalysis.³⁶ Such supports are often porous and a drawback of impregnation-calcination is to possibly lead to the formation of nanomaterials in pores of the support that might not be accessible during catalysis,³⁷ leading to an under-utilization of the (precious) metals. Recent demonstration shows that careful control of the nanoconfinement of the catalyst in porous materials could be beneficial,³⁸ but in most cases it comes as a drawback.

The above challenges typically lead to under-utilization of the precious metal resources which is a severe limitation both in terms of resources management and general cost.³⁹ More generally, any synthesis of

catalysts *directly on a support,* often referred to as *one-pot* syntheses for colloidal approaches, may be subject to similar practical drawbacks.⁴⁰ There is therefore a need to develop alternative synthetic strategies.



Figure 1. Illustration of 'one-pot' synthesis *vs.* colloidal syntheses and possible effects to take into account when studying the influence of support, size or loading. Independent control over properties such as size and loading is more simply achieved by colloidal syntheses.

I.2. A first step beyond state-of-the-art: colloidal syntheses

To overcome the challenges related to the impregnation-calcination approach, the field of catalysis greatly benefited from the development of colloidal syntheses.^{19, 41} Interestingly, it has often been scientists with an interest in (electro)catalysis who developed some of the most popular colloidal syntheses of NPs to date. Since 1857 and the first report by Michael Faraday on the possibility to obtain simple and stable gold colloids from molecular precursors in liquid phase,⁴² the synthesis of NPs went a long way and other examples are the Turkevich-Frens⁴³ and the Brust-Schiffrin syntheses.⁴⁴ To date, almost every scientific fields refined colloidal syntheses to their specific needs.⁴⁵ The production of colloidal metal NPs by so-called wet-chemical methods in aqueous or organic solvents, is very popular and abundantly documented.^{8, 11} Its popularity comes from the simplicity of the equipment needed, largely inherited from more traditional organic and inorganic syntheses.⁴⁶ Colloidal syntheses can be performed in common

I- Colloidal syntheses: benefits and drawbacks

solvents, using simple equipment such as reflux set-up or autoclaves,⁴⁷ with minimal hazard and with minimal prior knowledge.

With the increasing availability of modern characterization tools and established synthetic protocols, it has never been easier to explore the potential of colloidal mono- or multi-metallic NP for catalysis.⁴⁸ Nevertheless, *easy* does not always mean *simple*. It is a well-acknowledged fact within the academic community that reproducibility of nanomaterial synthesis procedures is a common challenge and can be ascribed to subtle influences of parameters such as different glassware cleaning procedures, different grade of chemicals, different lab conditions, different storage conditions of chemicals, different methods to induce the synthesis, to heat or cool down reaction media, etc.^{14, 49-52} On top of this, different testing conditions and the lack of world-used benchmarks for catalytic properties assessment makes it challenging to sometimes compare the *true* benefits of different catalysts compared to another.⁵³ A large amount of literature covers these challenges and the increase of awareness on good practice will hopefully contribute to fill this gap.^{47, 49, 53, 54} Importantly, the need to study well-defined materials is key. In that respect, the use of colloidal syntheses allows to investigate in systematic and controlled ways the effects of size, shape, supports or loading as illustrated in **Figure 1b**.

Understanding the interplay of the NP synthesis method, resulting size and shape, NP dispersion and loading on a support (interparticle distance), support pre-treatments and different catalytic properties assessment protocols, is a prime importance to propose strategies to optimize catalyst activity, selectivity and stability and ultimately mitigate NPs loss or deactivation mechanism(s). Colloidal syntheses are a powerful approach to produce catalysts^{2, 22, 47} because the optimization of the catalysts such as size, structure and composition, can be achieved independently of the nature of the support.²³ After synthesis, a supporting step leads to a uniform and well-defined supported catalyst. This general approach illustrated in **Figure 1b** has led to significant insights into the size effects, proximity effects, shape effects but also composition effect in catalysis detailed in **section III**. The opportunities to perform systematic studies lead to breakthrough in our way of thinking about catalysis, slowly allowing moving catalysis away from a *black art* based on trials and errors to a more controlled area of research.^{17, 18, 55} Nevertheless, challenges remain, especially to implement systematic studies in practical terms.

I.3. Colloidal syntheses: limitations

The literature on colloidal syntheses will often stress the need for *stabilizers / additives / capping agents / polymers / ligands / surfactants* to stabilize the NPs formed.^{56, 57} It is often reported that without such

I- Colloidal syntheses: benefits and drawbacks

stabilizers, no NPs are formed or the NPs agglomerate with detrimental effects for further applications, for instance in catalysis.⁵¹ To name only one of such additives among the many possible options, poly(N-vinyl-2-pyrrolidone) (PVP) is widely used in colloidal synthesis and its use has been reviewed by Koczkur *et al.*⁵⁸ Recent reviews certainly cover the benefits of *ligands* in the chemical synthesis of nanomaterials.^{59, 60} As an illustrative examples, a detailed review includes a discussion on the nature of *ligands* used, from small molecules, polymer to biomolecules, for a wide range of applications beyond catalysis.⁶¹ It is worth pointing out that out of 626 references in this review, the section dedicated to catalysis only comprises 20 references (3.2 % of the citations). This example indirectly highlights the specific challenges of using *ligands* for catalysis. In few instances, however, these *ligands* can bring positive features. The use of *ligands* can bring functionality to active NPs,⁶² for instance in catalysis with improved selectivity^{63, 64} or stability,⁶⁵ and this topic has recently been reviewed by Lu *et al.*⁶⁶ However, the authors acknowledge that first considering, and ultimately elucidating the positive aspects of *ligands*, is a relatively recently emerging topic and there is not yet a rational understanding of *stabilizer / ligand* selection, whether to control NP synthesis nor to optimize application in catalysis.

Additives used to control NP nucleation and growth during NP synthesis, lead to unique materials shape and morphology, provide unique re-dispersion properties and even control self-assembly into macrostructrures.⁶⁷ The complex interplay between the *capped* NPs and the surface of support material can favor suitable interactions for improved catalysts.^{68, 69} Therefore, the benefits of carefully selected and designed ligands cannot be neglected. Nevertheless, the use of surfactants generally brings drawbacks for the catalytic activity and catalyst preparation. (i) Certainly, different additives allow exploring different NP structures and provide some degree of fundamental understanding for various syntheses and reactions.⁷⁰ However, the rational choice of the right surfactant and the right amount of it to achieve a given output (being NP size/shape or catalytic activity or selectivity) is still waiting "a shift from qualitative exploration to quantitative investigation".⁶⁴ This can be explained for instance by different interactions of different additives with different metals. (ii) Furthermore, most surfactants can play different roles during the synthesis which can complicate a full and detailed understanding and control on NP formation and later on applications. This is for instance the case of citrate in the Turkevich-Frens synthesis⁵⁶ or PVP,⁷¹ playing the role of stabilizers and reducing agents. (iii) Ligands compete with substrates for the access to the active site of the NPs. They can also induce different (negative) interaction with support materials. This overall impairs an optimal catalyst design, e.g. by preventing to reach high NP loadings on supports. (iv) As a consequence, it is generally agreed that surfactants need to be removed for improved catalysis.⁷²⁻⁷⁴ The related steps to remove the surfactants can themselves be detrimental to

10

the structure of the catalysts, as detailed below. (v) Most surfactants show some degree of toxicity.⁷⁵ Additives are typically derived from fossil fuels. In order to develop sustainable approaches to catalyst design, avoiding these additives would be beneficial.¹⁶ In all aspects, to understand the effect(s) of additives or develop *clean* NPs, *surfactant-free* NPs are much needed, as illustrated in **Figure 2**.



Figure 2. Schematic representation of some colloidal syntheses of precious metal (PM) NPs and illustration of the benefits of surfactant-free approaches to develop supported catalysts with controlled NP size and loading. Adapted and reproduced with permission from [76].

I.4. Surfactant removal

A first approach to develop *surfactant-free* NPs is to remove the surfactants.⁷⁷ Surfactant-removal from nanomaterial surfaces is not a trivial task, as pointed out in several reviews: "one of the major challenges in catalysis is the removal of surface capping molecules"¹⁰ since "the removal of ligands after deposition of the colloidal metal NPs is rarely studied in detail, even though it is crucial to obtain active catalysts and deserves more attention".¹⁷ As a consequence, purification and *cleaning* of nanomaterials is still an intense area of research.⁷⁸ Surfactant removal strategies have been covered in various reviews and reports.^{60, 63, 64, 66, 73, 77, 79, 80} In general, the benefits of surfactant removal are improved catalytic properties as illustrated in **Figure 3**. However, often this is achieved at the detrimental cost of losing some of the initial features of the as-prepared catalysts such as size, shape or composition. The strong need for efficient surfactant removal strategies has been in particular illustrated for thermal heterogeneous catalysis and electrocatalysis. A simple cleaning method is the washing of the NPs,⁸¹ typically performed

using strongly reacting chemicals⁸² or a solvent with a strong affinity with the surfactant to remove.⁶⁴ Washing offers the benefits to be simple to perform but generates waste. Washing is suitable to remove weakly binding capping agents⁶³ but usually not enough to remove all surfactants⁷² and this calls for further decomposition of the protecting *organic layer*.

Alternative removal approaches include heat,^{83, 84} light/ozone⁸⁵ or electrochemical treatments,⁸⁶ chemical etching,⁸⁷ steam treatment,⁸⁸ to name only a few of the methods covered in a recent opinion paper.⁷⁷ High temperature treatments are generally not recommended⁶³ because they can modify colloidal NP size/morphology/composition. Too reactive atmospheres are not recommended either because they can induce reactions at the outer surface of colloidal NPs. Low temperature treatments are preferable to ensure that the structure of the as-synthesized NPs are not changed during the process. Examples for short high temperature treatments illustrate the possibility to remove surfactants while conserving even the original shape of the NPs.⁸⁴ Electrochemical approaches are usually limited to pre-treatments of the catalysts before catalytic testing, and they are difficult to scale up or to perform on a complete batch of catalyst. To improve surfactant removal, hybrid strategies can be to substitute capping agents with smaller molecules to remove the later more efficiently.⁶⁴



Figure 3. Influence of surfactant removal (a) for CO conversion as a function of temperature for Pd NPs supported on CeO₂. Different heat treatments as indicated were performed for surfactant-removal. Reprinted with permission from [84] .Copyright 2022 American Chemical Society. (b) Influence of surfactant removal by different strategies (heat treatment, chemical method and ozone treatment) for the ORR catalyzed by Pt NPs. Reprinted with permission from [72]. Copyright 2022 American Chemical Society.

For a vast majority of catalytic reactions, the use of surfactant remains a severe drawback continuously stressed over the years.^{64, 89} In a review from 2019, Losch *et al.* stated that "the removal of the ligand shell offers hence a vast pool of possible treatments. It remains nevertheless a delicate choice rather guided by trial and error and necessitating an additional characterization step of the material prior its use in catalysis".⁸ The common challenges with surfactant removal strategies can be summarized as: (i) limited efficiency, (ii) impairing reproducibility, (iii) poor scalability. Colloidal synthesis usually poorly transfer to large scale, and to a large extend this is linked to the extra costs and complexity related to the removal of

the surfactants. In addition, multiplying intermediate steps also come with a time and energy cost (e.g. extra characterization of the material after surfactant removal) as well as reproducibility issues calling for improved alternatives.^{49, 64}

II. Colloidal surfactant-free syntheses

Colloidal *surfactant-free* syntheses are ideal model systems to understand the effect(s) of additives in NP synthesis. *Surfactant-free* NPs are also a much-needed reference material to understand the effect of additives and ligands in catalysis and/or the effect of surfactant-removal, as schematized in **Figure 4**. *Surfactant-free* NPs are therefore relevant to perform studies leading to a more rational design of catalysts and they are ultimately directly relevant as-prepared to develop catalysts that are more active. Two challenges however raise along with these desirable achievements. The first is a conceptual challenge to define a *surfactant-free* synthesis. The second is a practical challenge, since most syntheses reported to date stress the need for surfactants to stabilize colloidal NPs.



Figure 4. Schematic representation of surfactant removal and comparison with surfactant-free synthesis with possible further use of surfactant-free NPs.

II.1. Surfactant-free syntheses: scope and background

Definition

To the best of our knowledge, the last (and maybe only) review on the broad topic of surfactant-free methods (not specific to a given synthesis approach) to produce NPs is from 2013 by Kawasaki.⁹⁰ In 2014, a review by Niu *et al.* addressed various methods to remove surfactants.⁶⁴ The first proposed definition of *surface-clean / unprotected / naked / bare / capping agent-free / ligand-free / surfactant-free* NPs was probably given by Niu *et al.* as NPs "free of formidable long-chain organics" and "stabilized by small molecules which are easy to be displaced by reactants during catalytic reactions".⁶⁴ From these statements, it is clear that the term *surfactant-free* is not necessarily well-defined, as there is no clear terminology on how many atoms are required to define a "long-chain organic". For thermodynamic reasons, a pure metal NP in a liquid will not be stable, so any colloidal dispersion made of NPs *will be stabilized* in some way. It is commonly agreed that such *unprotected* NPs are stabilized by interactions with the solvent and/or ions present in the solvent.⁹⁰ In this respect, the concept of *weakly ligated ligand* developed by Finke and co-workers is close enough to *surfactant-free* NPs.⁹¹

In practical terms, the definition implicitly suggests that *without additives*, or "in the absence of usual protective agents",⁹² the formation of stable colloidal dispersion can still be achieved. *Surfactant-free* colloids then refers best to colloidal dispersions obtained in solvents without substances added on purpose to only play a stabilizing role. At the same time, this conveys the idea that the solvent itself, as used, or after degradation and typically oxidation during synthesis, must play the multiple roles of reaction medium, reducing agent and/or stabilizer.⁷¹ In order to clarify the concept of *unprotected* NPs, we propose a more restrictive definition that encompasses all the previous. The wording *stabilizer-free* would be misleading since colloidal NPs must be stabilized somehow in solution. The word *surfactant-free* seems more appropriate, since it conveys the idea that the focus in on the synthesis on not the resulting NPs (although the two are linked). It is considered here that a synthesis is *surfactant-free* if no species with a molar mass greater than 100 g mol⁻¹ is added to the synthesis (other than the metal salt to reduce).^{20, 76} This means that only qualify syntheses with relatively simple chemicals, typically short carbon length molecules, so "small' molecules, solvents and reducing agents.

Towards surfactant-free syntheses

On the experimental aspects, interest has been given to the opportunities provided by *almost* surfactantfree syntheses of nanomaterials from an early stage.⁹³ In 1987,⁹⁴ using acetone, ethanol and other simple organic solvents under high temperature and vacuum conditions, "living" Pd NPs ca. 8 nm in size were obtained. The colloids will convert to films upon solvent evaporation and so were not yet stable colloids. Although not developed for catalysis, the reduction of Pt(dba)₂, Pt₂(dba)₃ (where dba is dibenzylideneacetone) in toluene or tetrahydrofuran (THF) in presence of CO leads to CO and solvent protected Pt NPs.⁹⁵ These as-prepared NPs reported by Chaudret and co-workers in the 90s were however not stable enough for further use.⁹⁶ The pioneer work from Tang in 2000,⁹⁷ using alkaline polyols solutions, showed that surfactant-free syntheses of NPs in the range 1-2 nm were possible and surprisingly simple for metals as diverse as Pt, Rh or Ru.⁹⁷ In 2004 the benefits of the approach of using surfactant-free colloids to develop supported catalyst was well established using the selective hydrogenation of ochloronitrobenzene to *o*-chloroaniline as model reaction.⁹⁸ The authors noted that "The catalytic activity for the reaction of interest over the present Ru/SnO₂ nanocomposite catalyst is six times higher than the PVP-Ru nanoclusters having the same Ru metal NPs and is much higher than the most effective Ru metal catalyst" reported at the time. This can be inferred to the absence of surfactant and the ability to investigate independently the effect of SnO₂ support. In a nutshell, this result highlights not only the possibility to develop surfactant-free colloids, but also the direct relevance for a range of studies to better understand catalytic systems.

The review from Kawasaki in 2013 gives a comprehensive starting point of different solvents used that were at the time considered suitable to develop surfactant-free NPs.⁹⁰ However, most of them have a molar mass greater than 100 g mol⁻¹. Examples of such solvents are diethylene glycol diethyl ether, e.g. for Au NPs;⁹⁹ benzyl alcohol, e.g. for Pt NPs¹⁰⁰ and more widely for metal oxides^{46, 101} such as Co,¹⁰² or Cu oxides;¹⁰³ methyl isobutyl ketone (MIBK), e.g. for Pd synthesis;¹⁰⁴ 2-[4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazinyl] ethanesulfonic acid (HEPES)¹⁰⁵ or tetrakis(hydroxymethyl)phosphonium chloride (THPC)¹⁰⁶ for Au NPs or N-formylpiperidine reported for PtNi NPs.¹⁰⁷

Scope

In the present review, a focus is given to solvents with a molar mass less than 100 g mol⁻¹. Furthermore, a choice has to be made to cover the different options to develop surfactant-free syntheses and strategies. The use of gas phase synthesis, such as plasma synthesis^{108, 109} or flame pyrolysis,¹¹⁰ is not discussed, instead we focus on colloidal syntheses of NPs in liquid phase. A major drawback of most gas phase and *physical* syntheses, is the aggregation of the nanomaterials and typically the need to rapidly support the

II- Colloidal surfactant-free syntheses

materials. The use of templates, such as other NPs,¹¹¹ electrochemistry or matrixes,^{9, 112, 113} is here disregarded. Methods such as photo- and sono-chemistry are also suitable approaches but not detailed here.⁹⁰ Syntheses in high temperature, high pressure, supercritical conditions can be considered surfactant-free but often do not lead to stable colloids and are also excluded.¹¹⁴ Following the definition proposed above for surfactant-free syntheses, the use of ions such as citrate,^{115, 116} oxalate,¹¹⁷ ascorbic acid,¹¹⁸ most ionic liquids¹¹⁹ as well as anions such as amino-acids or enzymes¹²⁰ is ruled out. However species such as acetate¹²¹⁻¹²³ or sulfate / phosphate,¹²⁴ formaldehyde or formic acid,¹²⁵ could be used but are also not considered further here to keep the focus on syntheses where the solvent is playing the triple role of reaction medium, reducing agent and stabilizer.

Kawasaki concluded his review on surfactant-free NPs by identifying three areas of development for the field of surfactant-free NPs:⁹⁰ (i) better control on the synthesis (e.g. size), (ii) better understanding of the role of small ions and solvents, (iii) better implementation of surfactant-free NPs beyond academia, so at larger scale. The goal of the present review is to give an overview of the recent advances and opportunities brought by surfactant-free syntheses of colloidal NPs, especially for the field of catalysis. We focus here on the most common and generally applicable methods, in particular approaches reported or significantly developed after 2013.

II.2. Laser Synthesis and Processing of Colloids (LSPC)

Laser synthesis has proven to be extremely useful to produce NPs. Since this approach has been extensively covered and reviewed recently,^{6, 12, 126} we encourage the reader to refer to the mentioned literature. In particular, the approach is suitable to obtain surfactant-free NPs.^{1, 127} We focus our discussion on the main features of the techniques and recent achievements.

The approach uses a laser directed on a solid material source, typically a plate of metal placed in a liquid (solvent). In liquid phase, plasma formation and cavitation phenomena lead to the nucleation of NPs from solid material. The synthesis can be very fast (seconds to minutes) and generally applicable to a wide range of materials such as oxide, ignoble and noble metals, depending on the target material used. The method is suitable to develop complex structures shape and composition such as alloys and bi-metallic NPs, **Figure 5**. The method has been shown to be scalable¹² and compatible with flow system with production rate of 4 g of NPs per hour.¹²⁸



Figure 5. Schematic illustration of laser ablation (LAL) in liquids and laser fragmentation in liquids (LFL) processes and the obtainable possible structure. Copyright 2022 Wiley. Used with permission from Zhang *et al.* ChemNanoMat 2017, 3,512 –533.¹²⁷

LSPC is probably the cleanest approach to produce surfactant-free NPs. The NPs are electrostatically stabilized with a negative zeta potential.¹²⁷ As recently detailed by Barcikowski and co-workers,¹ even a small amount of impurities can play an important role in the stabilization of catalysts. In this respect, LSCP can be performed in non-organic media and ensure a higher purity than alternative approaches. This accounts for the fact that *pure* and surfactant-free NPs produced by LSPC have been widely explored for biological and bio-medical applications.¹² Recent illustrative examples of applications of the NPs in

catalysis include Pt_xY for the ORR,¹²⁹ PdAu for glucose oxidation,¹³⁰ or Pt NPs for the ORR towards fuel cell development,¹³¹ or Au NPs for the CO₂ electro-reduction.¹³²



Figure 6. Influencing factors responsible for determining the purity, productivity, shape, size, charge, crystal phase, stability, and dispersion of NPs synthesized by LSPC. Reprinted with permission from Zhang *et al.* Chem. Rev. 2017, 117, 3990–4103. Copyright 2022 American Chemical Society.¹²

The size range typically obtained is 2-100 nm. A main drawback is therefore the relative large size and size distribution (bi-modal distributions are often observed) of the material obtained, as opposed to other surfactant-free methods detailed below. Narrowing down the size distribution comes at the expense of filtration and/or centrifugation steps¹³³ or careful optimization of many synthesis parameters illustrated in **Figure 6**, such as anions concentrations, presence of support materials or post treatments, e.g. with oxidative conditions or proper laser pulse sequence. The free surface of the NPs can also lead to further reaction upon extended storage.¹³⁴

II.3 Solution plasma process (SPP)

Plasma induced synthesis is maybe less popular than other methods but presents several advantages. It is an approach more common for gas phase synthesis¹⁰⁹ but has been reported in liquid phase as solution plasma process (SPP),¹³⁵ suitable to obtain nanomaterials.¹³⁶ Interested readers can refer to reviews and perspective produced in recent years.¹³⁷ In its principles, plasma synthesis is similar to LSPC. However, in SPP the plasma is not generated by a laser but by an electrode. The main difference is that there is no target material. The production of NPs is fast compared to other wet chemical methods (minutes *vs.* hours) and size control relatively easy to achieve e.g. by tuning pH,¹³⁸ precursor concentration,¹³⁹ stirring,¹⁴⁰ temperature¹⁴⁰ or reduction current.^{139, 140} The stabilization mechanism of the NPs is through

electrostatic charge. A benefit of this approach is to typically lead to smaller NPs compared to LSPC with reported cluster sizes around 1.3 nm for Au,¹⁴¹ 2 nm for Pt,¹⁴² 2 nm or Ag.¹⁴³ Many different set up modules have been explored to generate the plasma outside and inside the solution.¹⁴⁴

Mun *et al.* compared in details the literature for NPs obtained from wet-chemical methods and solution plasma process.¹⁴⁴ If a reducing agent, a precursor and stabilizers are typically needed in other wetchemical methods, sometimes none of these are needed in SPP. In some cases, indeed, the electrode itself is the source of the NPs rather than a precursor being reduced. Shape control was even reported by tuning the gas bubbles formed in liquid electrolyte¹⁴⁵ or precursor concentration.¹³⁹ The approach has been shown to be suitable to obtain surfactant-free NPs as diverse as Ni¹⁴⁶, Au,^{138, 141} Pt,^{113, 142} Pd,¹¹³ Rh¹¹³ or even TiO₂ nanorods.¹⁴⁷

For this approach, as per other discussed methods in this review, it is surprising that the advantages of the colloidal NPs were seldom exploited for catalysis.¹⁴⁸ Silver NPs were obtained and demonstrated as suitable catalysts for the ORR. The colloids obtained using a He-H₂ (5%-1%) in N₂ plasma jet at atmospheric pressure with a size around 17 nm were stable as colloids for months. The formation of the plasma generates short live-time reactive species like hydroxyl radicals¹⁴⁴ that contributes to the reduction of the metal precursor and stabilization of the NPs with possible high yields.^{113, 149} Another example for catalytic applications is the work by Cyganowski and co-workers who produced first Au NPs ca. 7 nm in diameter, and further cross-lined the NPs in a polymer matrix to develop an hydrogel. The resulting material shows catalytic activity for 4-nitrophenol decomposition completely reduced to 4-aminophenol.¹⁵⁰ The drawbacks of this approach are similar to the LSPC method: It requires relatively advanced equipment and a fine-tuning of several parameters to achieve the right material size, shape or composition.

II.4. N,N-dimethylformamide (DMF) synthesis

N,N-dimethylformamide (DMF)¹⁵¹ is a suitable solvent and reducing agent for the synthesis of various NPs.^{90, 152} In its surfactant-free version, various quantum dots, clusters and NPs of Au,¹⁵³⁻¹⁵⁵ Ag,¹⁵⁶ Pt,^{157, 158} Pd,^{159, 160} Ir,^{161, 162} Rh,¹⁶³ Cu,^{164, 165} F₂O₃¹⁶⁶ and bi-metallic such as PdCu¹⁶⁷ or PtNi^{168, 169}can also be obtained, see **Table 1**. DMF acts as solvent, reducing agent and stabilizer.^{29, 161} The colloids are typically stable for months in DMF,¹⁵⁷ or even after re-dispersion in various solvents,¹⁵⁵ including aqueous solutions.^{153, 165} DMF protection is partially lost at high temperature which makes such DMF-stabilized clusters ideal for heterogeneous catalysts by un-supported NPs. In particular the group of Obora largely contributed to explore the benefits of this method, see **Figure 7**.²⁹

The colloids are obtained by reducing a metal precursor in DMF under reflux conditions (typically 140 °C) and in air. Alternatively an autoclave can be used and water added.¹⁷⁰ It is proposed that stabilization occurs via the interaction of the amide groups of DMF¹⁵⁷ and experimental evidence by Fourier transform infrared (FTIR) and thermogravimetric analysis (TGA) confirm the presence of DMF on the NP surface. Size control can be challenging owing to the generally already small size of the clusters obtained, see **Table 1**. In N,N- dimethylacetamide (DMA), Ag NPs are similarly obtained with a size control 4-10 nm as the time of reaction increases,¹⁵⁶ which is smaller than for the case of DMF for the same Ag precursors. For Pt NPs, a detailed study on the influence of reaction time, temperature, amount of added water, metal precursor salt used were carried by Gumeci and co-workers.¹⁷⁰ Cubic or truncated octahedral NPs were obtained by tuning the reaction conditions using an autoclave synthesis. In that study, the addition of water was found to lead to carbamic acid as a by-product of DMF oxidation that plays the role of shaping agent.



Figure 7. Illustration of some DMF-stabilized NPs for catalysis. Reprinted with permission from [29]. Copyright 2022 American Chemical Society.

The NPs obtained by DMF synthesis have been intensively studied for their optical properties^{163, 167} such as fluoresecence^{157, 158} or plasmon resonance.¹⁵⁶ For instance, surfactant-free Au NPs produced by the DMF synthesis were used as a platform to evaluate the effect of various ligand functionalization on optical properties.¹⁵³ The same batch of Au NPs was used and functionalized by ligand exchange with: thioctic acid, 11-mercaptoundecanoic acid, 1-dodecanethiol, dodecylamine, PVP, triphenylphosphine, poly(amido) amine, thiocholine bromide in order to tune the NP optical properties. The effect of adding PVP during synthesis was also investigated. The amount of PVP had a strong influence to modulate the emission wavelengths. No changes in the absorption wavelengths of the NPs was observed for different PVP concentrations used during synthesis, while the fluorescence emission wavelength changed relative to PVP concentrations. The authors concluded that the ligand-concentration-effect is a cross-linking effect: PVP provided a cross-linking environment for gold cluster agglomeration.

DMF-protected NPs experienced a regain of interest for catalytic reactions in the last years. In particular, the resulting NPs can be used unsupported and yet easily recovered and re-used. Au NPs were used for the reduction of 4-nitrophenol to 4 amino-phenol.¹⁵⁴ The catalytic activity was influenced by the nature of the DMF layer absorbed on the NP surface which was changing over time or heat-treatment. Compared to thiol-protected Au NPs, the DMF-protected NPs did not show a higher catalytic activity. Au clusters where demonstrated for Ullmann homo-coupling of aryl iodides.¹⁷¹ By controlling the reaction time and temperature different sized were obtained: 1.0, 2.5 and 5.5 nm. The catalytic activity decreased in the order: Au_{2.5nm} > Au_{1.0nm} > Au_{5.0nm}. This illustrates that Au surface atoms do not have the same activity for the homocoupling considered, depending on the NP size and so the atomic environment which illustrates the complex interplay of structure-properties at the nanoscale.

Pt NPs obtained by DMF synthesis were used for detection of Fe^{III} in aqueous solution¹⁷² but scarcely considered for catalysts, probably due to the non-metallic nature of the clusters.¹⁵⁸ In contrast, Pd has been largely investigated. Pd NPs were used for cross-coupling reactions of hydrosilane/disilane.¹⁶⁰ A displacement of the DMF by N-dimethylacetamide (DMAc) was observed to lead to higher activity due to easier access of the reactant to the catalyst surface. Pd NPs were also used for the Suzuki–Miyaura cross coupling and Mizoroki–Heck reactions,^{159, 173} showing turnover numbers up to 4.5x10⁵ and 6.0x10⁸, respectively, and being recycled at least five times without loss of activity in Suzuki–Miyaura cross-coupling reaction. Recently the influence of the precursor used for the reaction was investigated and

II- Colloidal surfactant-free syntheses - DMC

despite a larger size obtained using acetate-based Pd complexes versus chloride-based complexes, the catalyst obtained using Pd(OAc)₂ were about ca. 100 times more active.¹⁷³ Pd NPs were also suitable for the Migita-Kosugi-Stille cross-coupling reactions,¹⁷⁴ and the Sonogashira–Hagihara and Mizoroki–Heck coupling polymerizations,¹⁷⁵ with results similar to those achieved with conventional PdCl₂(PPh₃)₂ and Pd(PPh₃)₄ catalysts for these last reactions. The solvent stabilized NPs potentially mitigate one challenge of the Pd homogeneous catalysis for polymerization that is the likely ligand incorporation into the growing polymer. Equally the Larock indole synthesis was investigated for the reaction of substituted 2-iodoanilines with alkynes to give 2,3-disubstituted indoles.¹⁷⁶ Good recyclability was shown by simple recovery by extraction with hexane–ethyl acetate/DMF since Pd NPs have a strong affinity for the DMF phase.

The relatively good recyclability of the catalysts produced by DMF synthesis was also shown with other catalyst such as Fe_2O_3 NPs used for alkene hydrosilylation with good recyclability over 5 cycles.¹⁶⁶ Together with the high turnover typically observed, this explains why further metals were then investigated. Cu NPs were investigated for the Ullmann-type cross-coupling of aryl halides with phenols¹⁶⁴ and Sonogashira– Hagihara coupling leading to improved catalytic performances using low amount of catalyst (0.01 mol.%) yet achieving relatively high turnover number of 4.0×10^3 .¹⁷⁷ More recently, Ir nanoclusters were shown to catalyze the β -methylation of alcohols via hydrogen auto-transfer with a turnover number up to 3.1×10^5 .¹⁶¹

Table 1. Examples of surfactant-free colloidal syntheses in DMF. Typically, the atmosphere is not
controlled, and the synthesis performed under reflux conditions.

Ref	Date	Solvent	Size	Metal	Precursor	Conditions	Support	Use
153	2008	DMF	< 20 atoms	Au	HAuCl₄ (1 mM)	140 °C - 4 h	-	Ligand exchange for optical properties
155	2010	DMF	< 20 atoms	Au	HAuCl₄ (1 mM)	140 °C - 6 h	-	Optical properties Thermal properties
157	2010	DMF	4-6 atoms	Pt	H ₂ PtCl ₆ (1mM)	140 °C - 8 h	-	Optical properties
156	2011	DMA DMF	4-10 nm	Ag	AgNO₃ (1-10 mM)	RT, dark 30 min-24 h	-	Optical properties
159	2011	DMF	1-1.5 nm	Pd	PdCl₂ (1 mM)	140 °C - 6 h	-	Suzuki–Miyaura cross-coupling Mizoroki–Heck reactions
154	2012	DMF	< 20 atoms	Au	HAuCl₄ (1 mM)	140 °C - 6 h	-	4-nitrophenol to 4 amino-phenol
158	2012	DMF	< 2 nm	Pt	H₂PtCl6 (1mM)	140 °C - 2-8 h	-	Optical properties
164	2012	DMF	ca. 2 nm	Cu	CuCl ₂ (0.1 mM)	140 °C - 8 h	-	Ullmann-type cross-coupling of aryl halides with phenols
178	2012	DMF	9-17 nm	Pt _x Ni _{1-x} ^{1<x<0< sup=""> PtCo₃ PtCu₃, PtFe₃</x<0<>}	Pt ^{II} (pdate) (30 mM) Ni ^{II} (pdate) (10 mM) Co(acac) ₂ , Co(acac) ₃ Cu(acac) ₂ , Fe(acac) ₃	200 °C autoclave 4-24 h	carbon	ORR
169	2012	DMF	ca. 9 nm	Pt ₀₋₄₆ Ni _{0.54}	Pt(acac) ₂ , K ₂ PtCl ₆ (2 mM) Ni(acac) ₂ , Ni(ac) ₂ (6 mM)	120 °C autoclave 16-42 h	carbon	ORR
168	2013	DMF	11 nm 12 nm 13 nm	Pt _{1.5} Ni PtNi PtNi _{1.5}	[Pt(acac) ₂]) [Ni(acac) ₂]	120 °C autoclave 42 h	carbon	ORR
174	2013	DMF	1-1.5 nm	Pd	PdCl₂ (1 mM)	140 °C - 8-10 h	-	Migita-Kosugi-Stille cross-coupling reactions
171	2014	DMF	1.0 nm 2.5 nm 5.5 nm	Au	HAuCl₄ (1 mM)	140 °C - 6 h 150 °C - 2 h 150 °C – 8 h	-	Ullmann homocoupling reaction of aryl iodides
170	2014	DMF + H ₂ O (0-30 %)	< 10 nm	Pt	Pt(acac) ₂ (41 mM) K ₂ PtCl ₄ , K ₂ PtCl ₆ PtBr ₂	120-200 °C autoclave	-	Shape control study
167	2015	DMF	< 2.5 nm	Pd _x Cu _{1-x} 0 <x<1< td=""><td>PdCl₂ (0.1 mM) CuCl₂ (0.1 mM)</td><td>140 °C 16 h</td><td>-</td><td>Optical properties</td></x<1<>	PdCl ₂ (0.1 mM) CuCl ₂ (0.1 mM)	140 °C 16 h	-	Optical properties
179	2015	DMF	13 nm	Pt _x Ni _y Co _z	Pt(acac) ₂ Ni(acac) ₂ Co(acac) ₂	130-200 °C autoclave 42 h	-	ORR
161	2017	DMF	1-1.5 nm	lr	lrCl₃ (1 mM)	140 °C 10 h	-	methylations of alcohols and anilines
165	2017	DMF	ca. 3 nm	Cu	Cu(NO ₃) ₂ (0.1 M)	140 °C 9 h	-	Optical properties Interaction with bovine serum albumine
177	2017	DMF	2-7 nm	Cu	CuCl ₂ (0.1 mM)	140 °C 8 h	-	Sonogashira–Hagihara cross coupling
175	2017	DMF	1-1.5 nm	Pd	PdCl ₂ (1 mM)	140 °C 6 h	-	Sonogashira-Hagihara, Mizoroki-Heck coupling polymerizations
166	2018	DMF	2-5 nm	Fe ₂ O ₃	Fe(acac)₃ (1 mM)	140 °C 8 h	-	hydrosilylation of alkenes

II- Colloidal surfactant-free syntheses - DMC

176	2018	DMF	1-1.5 nm	Pd	PdCl ₂	140 °C	-	Larock indole
					(1 mM)	6 N		synthesis
162	2018	DME	< 1 nm	lr	IrCl₃	140 °C	_	Optical properties
	2010	DIVII	< 1 mm	П	(1 mM)	10 h		Cr(IV) quantification
								Cross coupling reaction
160	2010	DMF		Dd	PdCl ₂	140 °C		of hydrosilanes/disilanes
100	2019		Cd. 2 mm	Pu	(1 mM)	10 h	-	Silylation of aryl halides
								and hexamhetyldisilane
163	163 2010	DME	2	Dh	RhCl₃	140 °C		Ontical properties
100	2019	DIVIF	2 1111		(1 mM)	8 h	-	Optical properties
			2 5 mm		Pd(OAc) ₂			
173	2020	DIAL	3-5 nm	Dd	(0.2 mM)	140 °C		Suzuki-Miyaura
1/5	2020	DIVIF	1.2	Pu	PdCl ₂	8 h	-	cross-coupling
			1-2 nm		(1 mM)			
180	2021		1 5 mm	l e	IrCl₃	140 °C		cross β-alkylation of linear
100	2021	DIVIF	1-2 NM	IĽ	(1 mM)	10 h	-	alcohols

ac: acetate; acac: acetylacetonate; pdate: 2,4-pentanedioanate.



Figure 8. (a, b) TEM and (c) HRTEM images of octahedral PtNi NPs after 42 h obtained by DMF synthesis. (d) TEM image of octahedral PtNi NPs supported on commercial carbon (Vulcan XC-72). Reprinted with permission from [169]. Copyright 2022 American Chemical Society.

II- Colloidal surfactant-free syntheses - DMC

Another good example of the benefits of the DMF approach is the synthesis of PtNi or PtNiCo catalysts for the ORR reported by Tessema and co-workers¹⁷⁸ and Strasser and co-workers.^{169, 179} Transmission electron microscopy (TEM) and high-resolution TEM micrographs are reported in Figure 8. The NPs lead to an unprecedented 9-15 fold mass based activity gained over the state-of-the-art Pt electro catalyst. Strasser et al. used different precursors to control the NP shape while the surface composition was tuned by the reaction time.¹⁶⁹ The most performant catalysts were obtained with 40 at.% of Pt at the surface of the NPs. The synthesis was performed at 120 °C in an autoclave for ca. 16 to 42 hours in order to favor a slow growth mechanism and minimize the size of the NPs to around 9 nm. The authors further use the same synthesis approach to prepare Pt_{1.5}Ni, PtNi and PtNi_{1.5} catalysts in order to study phase segregation for the ORR, following morphological and compositional evolution before and after catalysis.¹⁶⁸ It was shown in opposition to expected theoretical work that the octahedral NPs feature a Pt-rich frame along their edges and corners, and their Ni atoms are preferentially segregated in their <111> facets. The authors noted that Pt only or Ni only NPs were challenging to obtain. This was further observed by Tessema et al. who used higher temperature of 200 °C in their study in order to tune the composition of Pt_xNi_{1-x}NPs and obtained cubic and cuboctahedral Pt₃Ni and octahedral and truncated octahedral PtNi.¹⁷⁸ While Cr precursor did not lead to efficient reduction, PtCo₃, PtCu₃ and PtFe₃ NPs where successfully obtained.

DMF synthesis clearly led to new insights into heterogeneous and electrocatalysis. In particular, unsupported heterogeneous catalysis has been well documented. Given that the materials can also be supported, this opens the room to (re)investigate other reactions, such as electrocatalytic processes, with supported catalysts. However, the synthesis suffers from some limitations. DMF can interact relatively strongly with metal surfaces.¹⁸¹ DMF itself is a relatively non-eco-friendly solvent¹⁸² with a high boiling point. Possibilities to scale up the reaction remain scarce with a preferred metal concentration in the synthesis around 1 mM. A closer look at the reaction conditions stresses the need for relativity high temperature and very long time of synthesis (> 3 hours). This makes its use slightly more energy intensive than alternatives detailed in the next section.

II.5. Surfactant-free polyol synthesis

Background

The polyol synthesis is an extremely popular method for the synthesis of various nanomaterials and metal NPs in particular.¹⁸³ First developed by Fievet and co-workers,¹⁸⁴ the method has been the subject of comprehensive reviews.^{11, 183} In simple terms and most cases, the method consists in mixing a polyol such as ethylene glycol (EG) or glycerol, and a metal precursor under alkaline conditions. Upon heating up the reaction mixture, nucleation occurs and relatively small size NPs are obtained. A very large amount of literature stresses the *need* for surfactants in this approach among which PVP is a very popular choice.^{58, 65} Very often, a support is also directly added during the synthesis.^{185, 186}

In the context of the present review, it must be stressed than since 2000 and the pioneer work of Wang et al., ^{92, 97} it is actually well established that there is no need for surfactants in the synthesis of precious metal NPs by the polyol method, see Figure 9. Conveniently, the approach is not very sensitive to the concentration of metal: a size 1-2 nm is obtained for Pt NPs regardless of the concentration of precursor (0.4 mM - 51 mM). This finding had two consequences: (i) New studies of catalysts with improved properties could be performed¹⁸⁷ and (ii) a new understanding of the stabilization and formation mechanisms of NPs could be gained.^{35, 188-190} Surfactant-free metal NPs such as Pt,^{97, 188} Ru,^{97, 188, 191} Rh,⁹⁷ Ir, 65, 192, 193 Co, 194 Os, 195 Cu, 196 Ni, 197 Ag198 and alloys such as PtRu, 187, 188, 199, 200 PtFe, 201 PtSn, 202-204 PtNi, 205, 206 PtCu,^{205, 206} PtAu,²⁰⁶ PtMn,²⁰⁶ PtCo,²⁰⁶ PtZn,²⁰⁶ PtRh,^{195, 207} Ru@Pt^{208, 209} Pt@Ru²⁰⁹, PtIr,^{210, 211} PtSnOx²¹⁰ PtPd,²¹² PtW,²¹² IrCu²¹³ were obtained and demonstrated in applications ranging from chemical synthesis,^{194, 195, 209, 214} oxygen reduction reaction (ORR),²¹⁵ oxygen evolution reaction (OER),¹⁹³ electrooxidation of methanol (MOR),^{187, 201} ethanol (EOR),²⁰² ammonia (AOR),^{210, 211} and applications in batteries,²¹⁶ photocatalysis,²¹⁷ sensing,²¹⁸ as well as various chemical reactions including hydrogenations,^{98, 213, 219} CO,²²⁰ methane²²¹ or glycerol²⁰⁶ oxidation. From the literature survey performed and summarized in Table S1 in the Supporting Information, it can be observed that while surfactant-free polyol syntheses are not as popular as syntheses using surfactants, several research studies already exploited the unique features of this approach along the years. Furthermore, it is observed that the number of reports on the synthesis of Pd,^{210, 222} Ag¹⁹⁸ or Au^{192, 195} is limited and requires surfactants. This is due to the fact that for the related metal precursors with high redox potentials, surfactants are typically needed to prevent NP agglomeration, due to the fast reduction that can be performed at room temperature in alkaline polyols. Although, the highly viscous solvent glycerol is a suitable solvent for surfactant-free room temperature synthesis of Au NPs.²²³

Figure 9. Procedure of alkaline ethylene glycol method for the chemical preparation of metal nanoclusters stabilized by EG and ions. Reprinted from Wang, Y.; Wang, X. D. Solvent and Simple Ion-Stabilized Metal Nanoclusters: Chemical Synthesis and Application, *Metal Nanoclusters in Catalysis and Materials Science: the Issue of Size Control* 2008, 327-340, Copyright 2022, with permission from Elsevier.⁹²

The direct one-pot synthetic approach on a support was extensively used for the surfactant-free polyol synthesis.²²⁴ This is in part because polyols are typically viscous solvents, therefore flocculation of the colloids typically proceeds with an acid "wash" to collect the NPs. This washing can be tedious and using a support facilitates further washing steps.²³ A main drawback of combining synthesis *and* supporting step is the challenge to achieve high metal loadings on the support, especially on carbon supports since the negatively charged NPs are repulsed by the negatively charge carbon surface under the alkaline synthesis conditions.¹⁸⁵ It has been shown for instance that direct synthesis on carbon supports is going against size control: smaller sizes require a high level of NaOH, which negatively charges the support surface, resulting in repulsive interactions and a loss of NPs that are not efficiently supported.¹⁸⁵ Generally speaking, the high pH required for the synthesis influence the properties of the support and the NPs.²²⁵ This highlights the benefits of colloidal approaches where the synthesis of the materials and the supporting steps can be separated.

In what is probably the latest review of the surfactant-free polyol approach in 2008,⁹² it was already stressed that "For the purpose of studying the intrinsic properties of metal NPs and employing the metal nanoclusters as nanosized building blocks for assembling some important functional systems conveniently, *unprotected* metal nanoclusters with sufficient stability are desirable". It was quickly obvious that different challenges needed to be addressed: (i) controlled synthesis with desired composition, shape, size; (ii) use the surfactant-free NPs to advance our understanding of structure-

property relationships for catalysis; (iii) optimize the immobilization of the catalysts on relevant supports. In this review, we therefore give a more detailed focus to work in these directions reported after this date and achievements using surfactant-free NPs obtained using the polyol synthesis.

Methods

Surfactant-free polyol syntheses can be induced at room temperature using ambient light,^{226, 227} UV light,²²⁸ by thermal treatment using oil bath syntheses approaches²²⁹ or microwave synthesis.⁴⁷ More rarely y-rays were also used.²³⁰ Different polyols can be considered such as di-ethylene glycol,²³¹ triethylene glycol, propylene glycol-1,2, and butylene glycol-1,4.232 A major benefit of these solvents is to show suitable dielectric properties leading to good compatibility with microwave absorption which facilitates the use of microwave reactors.²³³ Polyols also have a high temperature boiling point which allows performing the syntheses across a wide temperature range. NaOH (alternatively KOH²³⁴) is a safer chemical than NaBH₄ often used to reduce metal precursors⁷¹ and the method using a relatively safe solvent and reducing agent such as ethylene glycol is relatively green.¹⁸² The surfactant-free NPs thus obtained typically show very long term colloidal stability for several months.^{97, 188, 235} This is explained by the high viscosity of the solvent and precious metal NP surface functionalization with OH/OH⁻ and CO species.^{188, 189} The mechanism of the polyol synthesis itself is still subject to debate and the formation of glycolic acid / glycolate form by ethylene glycol oxidation while the metal precursor is reduced is not excluded to contribute to the stabilization.¹⁸⁷ Interestingly, carbon dots were reported to facilitate the reduction of metal to NPs.²³⁶ Such carbon dots were reported in polyol synthesis and their role in the formation of NPs is still unclear. It was also reported that anions present in the solution and the type of precursor used could influence the size of the NPs.^{237, 238}

Conveniently, the colloidal dispersions of surfactant-free NPs can be re-dispersed in various solvents such as alcohols, ketone (acetone, cyclohexanone, cyclopentanone), THF, acetonitrile, DMF, di-methyl sulfoxide (DMSO).⁹² Further attractive features of the synthesis are its scalability: up to 10 g Pt NPs were obtained in a batch reaction.²³⁹ Size control typically in the range 1-6 nm can be simply achieved by adding water to the polyol,^{115, 240-242} controlling the 'pH'^{187, 211, 242, 243} or alloying.^{210, 212} The synthesis proceeds by the formation of metal hydroxide or oxide in alkaline conditions reduced at high temperature.⁹² It is often stated that pH control in the alkaline range is key to enable the synthesis to occurs and to achieve size control, but recent results points towards the NaOH/Pt molar ratio as a better descriptor.^{35, 244} Conveniently the C-O stretch vibration easily identified by FTIR can be related to the size of the NPs and provides a fast tool to evaluate the relative size of the NPs. This greatly facilities the optimization of the

synthesis by rapid screening alleviating access to more time consuming electron microscopy based facilities.¹⁸⁸

The polyol synthesis is relatively simpler than the surfactant-free approaches detailed above, see also **Table S1**. Simpler equipment compared to LSPC and SPP is needed and shorter times of synthesis are typically required as compared to DMF-synthesis. Due to the popularity of surfactant-free polyol-based syntheses and the lack of a recent review on this synthesis, a range of different applications of NPs obtained by this method are illustrated further in **Section III**.

II.6. Surfactant-free mono-alcohol synthesis

One of the bottlenecks of the polyol-based syntheses is that they use viscous solvents and are performed are relatively high temperature (> 100 °C). Mono-alcohols such as methanol or ethanol and mixtures with water have long been shown to be suitable reducing agents and solvents for NP synthesis at lower (< 100 °C) temperature.²⁴⁵ However, surfactants and/or a support are almost always required to prevent NP agglomeration,^{246, 247} although some reports suggest that nanomaterials can be obtained without surfactants. For instance, UV-vis induced synthesis of PdPt@Pt NPs in water/methanol mixture was reported to develop electrocatalysts for the MOR.²⁴⁸ In the quest to simplify catalysts production, we recently reported a surfactant-free synthesis of precious metal NPs in alkaline mono-alcohols. We found that mono-alcohols can be used in alkaline conditions to synthesize stable surfactant-free monometallic and bimetallic NPs made of Pt, Ir, Ru.²² New insights into the reaction mechanism and the formation of the NPs can be expected using this new synthesis.²⁴⁹ We showed for instance a strong effect of the cations on the stabilization mechanism of surfactant-free Pt NPs colloids.²³⁴ While the influence of the nature of the base is rarely investigated for other syntheses, we observed that Pt NPs colloids stability decrease with the nature of the cation used in the base in the order $Li^+ > Na^+ > K^+ / Cs^+$. This was attributed to a decreasing interaction with the Pt NP negatively charged surface. We also showed that the solvent from the synthesis can be recycled several times. In our latest development, the synthesis could be performed at room temperature^{52, 250, 251} and a strong influence of the reducing properties of the solvent was shown.²⁵² Pt has been the most studied materials and size controlled achieved by using alcohol/water mixtures. To date, size control remains more challenging for Ir NPs^{253, 254} or Os NPs,^{254, 255} as summarized in Table 2. In the case of Ir and Os NPs, actually no base is needed to obtain NPs,^{255, 256} but the activity and probably the yield of the synthesis are improved using alkaline conditions.

The NPs obtained offer several advantages: the synthesis can be performed at low temperature (e.g. 70-80 °C vs. > 140 °C for DMF or polyol synthesis) avoiding possible phase segregation possibly happening in high temperature treatment of alloys.¹⁸⁷ The synthesis can be induced in different ways, oil bath synthesis, UV-vis microwave synthesis, see **Table 2**, and is compatible with flow systems.²⁵⁷ The colloids are stable in various solvents, including aqueous solutions,²³⁴ and in solvents that are very simple to remove e.g. by simple evaporation²⁵⁸ while no further flocculation steps are needed. This important simplification of the preparation of the NPs leads to supported Pt catalysts showing higher activity than industrial catalysts for the hydrogenation of butanone even at relatively high metal loading of 10 wt.% on Al₂O₃.²² The NPs produced turned out to be ideal template to investigate proximity/loading effect in catalysis.^{258, 259} One

drawback of the synthesis is to require relatively low concentration of precursor in the case of Pt (2.5 mM)²² but was shown to lead to small size Ir NPs even at high precursor concentration of 100 mM.²⁵⁴ The related Ir NPs were shown to be up to ten time more active than the state-of-the-art for the OER.^{22, 259} It is expected that the high activity of the catalyst obtained will help to discriminate in more depth NP size or support effects.

While this mono-alcohol approach is challenging for Au and Pd based nanomaterials, recent results show that a fine control over precursor and based concentration in water-alcohols mixtures could lead to the room temperature synthesis of stable surfactant-free NPs in a surprisingly simple manner.²⁶⁰ The related nanomaterials are directly relevant for catalysis.

Ref	Date	Solvent	Base	Diameter / nm	Metal	Precursor	Conditions	Support (loading)	Use
22	2018	Methanol Ethanol H ₂ O	NaOH (50 mM)	2-5 1-2 1-2	Pt Ir Ru	H₂PtCl ₆ IrCl₃ RuCl₃ (2.5 mM)	15-30 min Reflux MW	-	OER Butanone Hydrogenation
257	2019	Methanol H ₂ O	NaOH (10-250 mm)	2-3	Pt	H₂PtCl ₆ (0.5-2.5 mM)	UV MW	-	Synthesis study
234	2019	Methanol H ₂ O	LiOH, NaOH KOH, CsOH (10-50 mM)	2-3	Pt	H ₂ PtCl ₆ (0.5-2.5 mM)	45 min Reflux MW	-	Synthesis study
258	2019	Methanol	NaOH (44 mM)	1.6	Ir	lrCl₃ (4 mM)	30 min Reflux MW	-	OER
253	2020	Methanol Ethanol H ₂ O	NaOH (0-250 mM)	2.5 1.0-1.7	Pt Ir	H ₂ PtCl ₆ IrCl ₃ , H ₂ IrCl ₆ , Na ₂ IrCl ₆ (2 mM)	UV 2 h	-	Synthesis study
252	2020	Methanol Ethanol H ₂ O	NaOH (10-50 mM)	2	Pt	H ₂ PtCl ₆ (0.5-2.5 mM)	Oil bath MW	-	Synthesis study
52	2020	Methanol H₂O	LiOH (25 mM)	2-3	Pt	Aged H ₂ PtCl ₆ (2.5 mM)	RT seconds minutes	-	Synthesis study MOR
261	2021	Commercial spirits	NaOH (10-50 mM)	2-5	Pt	H ₂ PtCl ₆ (0.5-2.5 mM)	30-60 min Reflux MW	-	MOR
259	2021	Methanol Ethanol EG	NaOH (44 mM)	2	lr	IrCl₃ (4 mM)	30 min Reflux MW	Carbon (10, 30, 50, 70 wt.%)	OER
256	2022	Ethanol	-	2	Ir	IrCl₃ (4 mM)	30 min Reflux MW	Carbon (10, 30, 50, 70 wt.%)	OER

 Table 2. Examples of use of mono-alcohol surfactant-free colloidal synthesis.

II- Colloidal surfactant-free syntheses - mono-alcohol

254	2022	Methanol Ethanol H ₂ O	NaOH (0-1 M)	2	lr Os	IrCl ₃ OsCl ₃ (100 mM)	60-85 °C hours to weeks	-	Synthesis study
255	2022	Methanol Ethanol H ₂ O	NaOH (0-1 M)	1-2	Os	OsCl ₃ , H ₂ OsCl ₆ (2.5-100 mM)	85-90 °C 6 hours	-	Synthesis study
260	2022	Methanol Ethanol H ₂ O	LiOH, NaOH	5-30 3-4	Au Pd	HAuCl₄ PdCl₂ (0.5 mM)	RT hours	-	Synthesis study EOR

II.7. Discussion

Size control. One of the main challenges with surfactant-free syntheses is to develop strategies to achieve size control, which is more classically performed by tuning the amount of surfactant in the synthesis. A detail study of the influence of THF/alcohol mixture is reported for Ru NPs obtained from a Ru(1,5-cyclooctadiene)(1,3,5-cyclooctatriene) precursor.²⁶² It was found that tuning the solvent is a suitable approach to control the size of the surfactant-free NPs obtained. However, the use of home-synthesized precursors hinders further application of the synthesis at larger scale. This explains why relatively simpler precursors such as halide-based complexes such as H₂PtCl₆ or IrCl₃ are typically preferred, see **Table 3**. In the case of Pt NPs, size control can be achieved by controlling the amount of water^{115, 240-242} or the amount of base in the polyol synthesis,^{35, 244} or the solvent in the mono-alcohol synthesis.^{22, 252} The degree of size controlled achieved in DMF synthesis is moderate given that the NP formed tend to be small. LSCP leads to relatively broad size NPs and size-exclusion treatments can be required.¹³³

Shape control. Shape control is probably the most challenging achievement in surfactant-free syntheses. It is an important area of research since shape will correlate with crystallographic structures, which can severely influence catalytic properties. Interested readers can refer to recent dedicated reviews.²⁶³ Shape control is generally challenging with surfactant-free approaches but reports show that a certain degree of shape control is possible. This is typically achieved adding small-molecules (molar mass < 100 g mol⁻¹) and/or gas molecules.^{64, 123} Halogen ions have also been reported as shape controlling agents.²⁶⁴ In the polyol synthesis, such shape control was achieved for instance by using EG/DMSO, to obtain branched Pd nanowires.²⁶⁵ Pt NPs shape was controlled from spheres to tetrahedral and octahedra using an increased amount of AgNO₃ to slow down the reaction, alter the growth rate and lead to shaped NPs.²⁶⁶ Shape control can also be achieved due to side reaction of the solvent itself, as is the case for PtNi nanocrystals obtained in DMF.^{168, 178} A mixture of Pt and Ir treated at 130 °C in ethylene glycol were used a precursor to study the effect of different high temperature and pressure treatments to obtain for instance nanorods with diameter 1-6 nm as suitable catalysts for the MOR and ammonia detection.²⁶⁷ There is certainly still room for improvements to achieve a certain degree of shape control with surfactant-free syntheses and rationalize such shape control.

Simpler syntheses. In order to develop simpler and ultimately cost efficient syntheses, a recent trend is the development of syntheses at room temperature and light.^{52, 227} Without using a support such syntheses at room temperature can be challenging to obtain stable colloids,²⁵⁰ but it is possible by a careful

choice of reactants.²²⁷ In this regard, the role of water suggested and observed to exhibit a possible catalytic effect in the synthesis is still to be clarified.^{227, 247} It was indeed shown experimentally that in the absence of water, the polyol synthesis could not proceed.¹²¹ Along the line of the importance of water as a simple solvent for NP synthesis, some syntheses are performed in water *only*. Light induces hydrolysis of H₂PtCl₆ in water was reported to lead to Pt₄ clusters leading to colloids stable for months.²⁶⁸ Water, as simple and safe solvent, has also been reported as a suitable reaction media for RuO₂ NP synthesis used as electrode material for supercapacitor²⁶⁹ or for the HER,²⁷⁰ as well as for Pt NPs investigated for the ORR.²⁷¹ The synthesis then typically proceeds at temperature over 80 °C for several hours. A reducing agent is technically needed to obtain NPs from a precursor containing metal atoms in an oxidized state. The fact that NPs can be obtained what seems to be *water only*, might actually be related to impurities playing the role of reducing in agent(s) in these syntheses. Impurities or even "dust" are known to have an influence in a range of syntheses^{272, 273} and are anticipated to have an important or maybe more pronounced role in the case of surfactant-free approaches. The role(s) of impurities must therefore be carefully kept in mind.¹

Table 3.	Overview	of pros	and co	ons of	different	colloidal	syntheses	of nano-	catalysts	with a	a focus	on
surfactar	nt-free app	roaches	i.									

			Pros / Cons					
Synthesis	Disadvantages	Post-treatments	Size control	Composition control	Shape control	Scalability		
Colloids with surfactant	Surfactant-removal	Surfactant-removal	YES	YES	YES	Challenging		
One-pot syntheses	Support dependent	Washings	YES/NO	YES	YES/NO	YES/NO		
		Surfactant-free	colloids					
LSPC	Large size distribution Equipment	Size selection	YES	YES	Can be challenging	YES		
Plasma	Equipment	(Size selection)	YES	YES	-	YES		
DMF	High temperature	Washings	YES	YES	YES/NO	NO		
Polyol	High viscosity	Washings	YES	YES	YES/NO	YES/NO		
Mono-alcohol	-	Less Washings	YES	YES	-	YES		
Comparison

LSPC, SPP, DMF, polyol and mono-alcohols syntheses offer multiple advantages over commercial catalysts, catalysts prepared by impregnation-calcination, one-pot syntheses or syntheses using surfactants. An overview of the features of each synthesis is proposed in **Table 3**. However, there is room for improvement. LSPC and SPP require careful optimization of many possible parameters or at least hand on experiment of some specific devices such as laser or plasma generating devices. This certainly offers opportunities to finely tune the NPs properties but can also give rise to a relatively complex optimization. Syntheses in DMF, polyols or mono-alcohols remain more intuitive with *a priori* fewer parameters to tune in order to control the NP properties. Nevertheless, DMF synthesis requires relatively long synthesis time and high temperature, see **Table 1**.

The polyol synthesis is generally performed faster in few hours or even few minutes in a microwave reactor. However, some authors report challenges to use the polyol synthesis e.g. for electrochemical testing.²⁷⁴ This goes against our experience^{35, 215} but highlights the need for simpler and more straightforward methods, in particular circumventing washings steps. Washing steps performed to flocculate the NPs obtained by the polyol synthesis do not exclude a loss of some NPs and generate large amounts of waste. For instance, the mixture water-EG resulting from washing the NPs with an acid cannot be re-used for future syntheses.^{187, 194} Similar to the case related to ligand removal detailed in **section I**, these washing steps can bring irreproducibility in the process. The above challenges are alleviated in mono-alcohols syntheses performed at lower temperature since no washings steps in acid to flocculate the NPs are needed.²² The low boiling point solvents can be evaporated and actually recovered for later syntheses, e.g. during a supporting steps of the NPs.²²

Scaling up the production of colloids to allow their market penetration comes to balance fundamental understanding of the formation mechanism and suitable strategies for large scale production.^{275, 276} The careful synthesis of NPs and selection among various strategies take a stronger meaning in the case of precious metal heavily use in the energy conversion sector, typically at high precious metal loadings.^{70, 277} Given the high cost and scarcity of precious metals,²⁷⁸ any even minor improvement in the production of NPs can have significant economic and ecologic impact. Typical drawbacks and challenges in scaling up nanomaterials syntheses are the need for high temperature, vacuum, inert atmosphere, post-treatment of the materials or recycling of the excess of waste/surfactant. In that respect, sustainable processes designed to optimize the production of scalability of NPs are expected to play a key role in future

II- Colloidal surfactant-free syntheses - Discussion

technologies, especially to facilitate crossing the gap between academia and industry.^{41, 279} By avoiding the use of surfactants, less chemicals are needed and extensive washing steps are avoided.

Conceptually, surfactant-free syntheses have the potential to bring the lab-scale findings on how to more rationally design catalysts a step closer to larger scale applications. However, a final consideration is the cost of production of the catalyst that must be balanced by improved performances (e.g., activity, stability, selectivity). For instance, halide-based complexes are often cheaper and therefore preferred precursors compared to halide-free metal precursors, see **Table 1** and **Table S1**. However, the presence of a halide such as chloride can ultimately lead to contaminations in catalysis. Although the presence of residual chloride at lab scale does not seem to be a critical point, it might come as a limitation at larger scale. Another major drawback to date in surfactant-free syntheses is the need for high boiling point and viscous solvents (e.g. DMC or polyols) requiring intensive washing steps and/or high temperature to perform the synthesis. In particular flow systems are envisioned as a key component of the production of large scale production of nanomaterials.²⁸⁰ Low viscosity solvents such as mono-alcohols are promising candidate in order to avoid high pressure systems.²⁷⁵ In light of these considerations, it is anticipated that surfactant-free mono-alcohols syntheses will play an increasing role not only for fundamental but also applied research.

III. Surfactant-free colloidal nanoparticles: reference materials and building blocks

As conceptually illustrated in **Figure 4**, surfactant-free syntheses of precious metal NPs are ideal to advance rational catalyst design. For instance, to compare the effect(s) of surfactants or ligands on a catalytic reaction, if standard colloidal synthesis approaches are used, surfactant/ligand removal is often required. As discussed above, this leads to several methodical limitations and the interpretation of the results can be challenging. In contrast, using a surfactant-free synthetic strategy, the NPs can serve as *building blocks* and *reference materials*. One can use the same colloidal stock dispersion to compare "bare" particles to differently functionalized ones, e.g. to assess the effect of ligand functionalization.

Since LSPC,¹ SPP,¹³⁷ or DMF based syntheses²⁹ have been reviewed recently, here catalytic studies using surfactant-free NPs obtained by the polyols and mono-alcohols syntheses are detailed. Rather than summarizing different reactions where surfactant-free NPs were successfully used and for which an account is given in **Table S1** and **Table 2**, we present an overview of the common strategy to investigate and optimize the influence of a given parameter affecting the properties of a catalyst. We previously dubbed this approach *toolbox approach* to highlight its variability.^{23, 215, 281}

III.1. The surfactant-free toolbox approach

A major benefit of surfactant-free NPs is to allow parametric studies that will not be possible using commercial catalysts and materials prepared by impregnation-calcination or surfactant-based colloidal methods. The concept in these studies is to go *beyond active site* design and to evaluate in a systematic way not only the influence of the NP composition but also the influence of particle size, support, loading, washing steps, supporting steps, etc.

An illustrative example of this concept is reported in **Figure 10**. The purpose of the related study was to investigate the effect of adding a support at different stages of a catalyst preparation.²⁸² Qi *et al.* highlighted the benefits of a surfactant-free colloidal approach leading to catalysts with higher mass activity for the ORR and MOR due to smaller size NPs obtained: 1.7-2.5 nm for the colloids (support added last) *vs.* 2.1-3.5 nm by impregnation (support added first). The study also showed a clear effect of different

carbon supports. Two different support types were used with different acid group functionalization and different hydrophobicity. For the carbon support with a larger amount of micropores, attempts to reach higher metal loadings (up to 40 wt.%) with a higher concentration of precursor led to more significant particle size increase from 1.3 up to 3.6 nm. In contrast, in the colloidal approach, the size of the NPs remained between 1.7 and 2.9 nm, i.e. size control could be more finely tuned. A similar strategy was used in a comparison of an aqueous-based synthesis and an impregnation reduction method in order to identify an optimized synthesis strategy of PtSn NPs for the EOR.²⁸³ Ir NPs prepared by the polyol synthesis also show better activity than Ir NPs prepared by deposition-precipitation for formaldehyde oxidation at room temperature.²⁸



Figure 10. Graphical representation of the preparing process of different Pt NPs supported on carbon. Reprinted from Qi *et al.*, Preparation of Pt/C via a polyol process – Investigation on carbon support adding sequence, *Int. J. Hydrog. Energy* 2011, 36, 17, 10490-10501, Copyright 2022, with permission from Elsevier.²⁸²

This *toolbox approach* has been formalized, advanced, expanded and improved further over the years.^{23,} ^{215, 281} A specific account of the results related to Pt NP optimization for the ORR is detailed as an illustrative example in reference [281]. In **Figure 11**, a scheme of the approach is shown when using the surfactantfree EG synthesis used in several prior studies for rational catalyst design.^{47, 284} Using low boiling point solvents, the approach is similar, but no washing step is required. It starts with the synthesis of one or more batches of surfactant-free colloidal NPs with specific properties such as composition or size. These batches serve as stock dispersions. In the surfactant-free EG synthesis, the NPs need to be washed to remove the EG. Then the NPs can be either directly supported or for example functionalized with specific molecules in a phase transfer. In the supporting step, the NP to support ratio and thus the resulting metal loading is a variable parameter. Before the (electro-)catalytic testing, typically a catalyst ink needs to be prepared, which results in additional parameters that can be varied and investigated.



Figure 11. Schematic representation of a toolbox approach to surfactant-free NPs based on the EG synthesis for parametric studies. Example of Pt NPs for the ORR. Copyright 2022 Wiley. Used with permission from Quinson *et al.* ChemCatChem 2021, 13, 7, 1692-1705.²³

III.2. Synthesis related effects

The first aspect of catalyst design comes with the choice of the synthesis method. The seemingly *same* metal NPs, e.g. Pt NPs 2 nm in size, obtained by different synthetic approaches are known to possibly lead to different catalytic properties. This is due to the experimental nature of catalyst syntheses and limitations in a full characterization of catalyst materials.²⁷² The cross comparison of different synthetic strategies to develop a similar / same catalyst, however, is not common.^{235, 274} Such studies typically hardly bring fundamental insights, since any different step in the syntheses or any different chemical used, or their different concentrations, or even different lab consumables in some cases, can lead to a different outcomes. Nevertheless, it is important to stress that seemingly unimportant experimental parameters can have a strong effect on the catalyst properties, such as the recently observed cation effect in mono-alcohols syntheses,²³⁴ or the influence of the gas atmosphere during synthesis.²⁸⁵ For instance, using N₂ atmosphere for the NP synthesis, more active catalysts for the ORR and MOR than Pt and PtRu obtained in air are reported.²⁸⁵ In order to compare the benefits of *similar* catalysts prepared in different ways, extra care must then be given to not only document synthetic procedures but also washings and supporting steps as extensively as possible. In this respect, actual footages of the way the experiments are performed can be of great help to improve reproducibility.⁴⁷

A recent report compares the difference of catalytic activity for NPs obtained by the polyol process and the mono-alcohol synthesis. It must however be kept in mind that not only the solvent but also synthesis temperature and duration of synthesis as a well as precursor concentrations are different. Bizzotto *et al.* observed that Ir NPs prepared in mono-alcohols led to higher mass activities for the OER, as illustrated in **Table 4**.²⁵⁹ Similar results were obtained for Pt NPs for butanone hydrogenation²² and illustrate the strong influence of a given colloidal synthetic approach in catalyst preparation.

Table 4. Mass activity for the OER in acid for 2 nm Ir NP catalysts with metal loadings of 10, 30, 50, 70 wt.% prepared in different solvents, as indicated. Reprinted from ', Bizzotto *et al.*, Surfactant-free colloidal strategies for highly dispersed and active supported IrO₂ catalysts: Synthesis and performance evaluation for the oxygen evolution reaction, *J. Catal.* 2022, 401, 54-62, Copyright 2022, with permission from Elsevier.²⁸⁶

Ir Loading	Mass activity [A g _{lr} ⁻¹]		
[%]	ethylene glycol	methanol	ethanol
10	168 ± 16	348 ± 11	388 ± 14
30	201 ± 11	304 ± 6	456 ± 21
50	185 ± 24	342 ± 30	405 ± 36
70	197 ± 15	212 ± 24	415 ± 2

Another aspect of catalyst preparation that is challenging to document is the storage conditions. It is common to use a batch of colloidal NPs for a same study over extended period of time. However, it is established that long term storage of colloidal NPs can lead to changes affecting the NPs properties.²³⁸ In this respect, the polyol synthesis brings new opportunities. The surface of the NPs is stabilized by CO of OH/OH⁻ moieties and phase transfer in organic or aqueous solvents makes it possible to tune which species are the major stabilizers.¹⁹⁰ Removing the solvent and storing the NPs as powders is then possible. The dry powders of surfactant-free NPs can be redispersed without any change in the NP size and the NPs recover their original catalytic activity.¹⁹⁰ This example highlight the probably overlooked potential of surfactant-free NPs leading to stable NPs without agglomeration not only in solution but also as solid powders.

III.2. Size effects

One essential parameter in heterogeneous catalytic reactions is the size of the active NPs that typically determines the active surface area of the catalyst. Decreasing the NP size leads to an increase in surface area per mass and thus to an increase in mass normalized reaction rate. However, changing the particle size can also change the specific, i.e., the surface area normalized reaction rate. In this case, one can speak of an intrinsic particle size effect that typically is related to structure sensitive reactions. Catalysts

prepared from surfactant-free NPs are very suitable to investigate size effects. The control of the obtained particle size typically is significantly better in colloidal methods than in standard syntheses where the particles are formed on the support. As illustrated in **Figure 12**, the control over the particle size can be maintained upon immobilizing them on a support material.

Size effects have been extensively and conversely studied for the electrocatalytic properties of Pt using mainly commercial or ill-comparable catalysts.²⁸⁷⁻²⁸⁹ For example, for the ORR contradicting results have been obtained, which has led to intense discussions if there is an intrinsic particle size effect, or if the influence is merely an influence of surface area.²⁸⁸⁻²⁹⁰ Using the surfactant-free polyol synthesis of Pt a substantially better control of the particle size in the range 1-4 nm could be obtained, which was utilized to study the ORR.^{35, 291} As the particle size decreases, controlled by tuning the NaOH/Pt molar ratio in the synthesis, the mass activity of the NPs increased but the intrinsic/specific activity decreased.³⁵ In the investigated size range, however, the influence on the specific activity was substantially lower than previously reported. Furthermore, using the same synthesis it could be shown that the stability of the NP decreases with decreasing size.²⁹²

In another study, NPs from 1-3 nm in diameter were compared supported on Fe-based supports for CO oxidation properties.²⁴² The NP size influenced the chemical states of Pt species and the strength of metal-support interactions. Metal-support interactions in the Pt/Fe₂O₃ catalysts played a role in adjusting the redox properties of the catalysts, to optimize the activation of CO and O_2 . A further example, is a series of Pt NPs with size 1.3, 1.5, 1.7, 1.9, 2.1 and 2.3 nm supported on ZSM-5 obtained by controlling the amount of precursor concentration and amount of water.²⁴¹ This example illustrate the rather fine size control achievable even without surfactants. The NPs with 1.9 nm diameter exhibit the highest activity due to a balance between Pt dispersion and presence of Pt⁰ in the catalyst. The catalysts high activity, stability, and selectivity thus obtained is relevant for volatile organic compounds (VOCs) removal. In another study, surfactant-free NPs were further functionalized with PVP and entrapped in a matrix (SBA-15). The catalytic activity for ethylene hydrogenation of the NPs obtained this way with a relatively small size was compared to larger size NPs produced by other synthetic methods.²⁹³ The authors stressed that the ability to "synthesize monodisperse particles by solution phase reduction allowed the study of intrinsic activity and selectivity of particle size rather than ensemble (particle size) averaged values of these kinetic phenomena".²⁹³ Using Pt NPs in the range of 1-4 nm synthesized and supported on y-Al₂O₃, it was shown that CO oxidation occurs via two mechanisms in parallel.²⁹⁴ One is the generally accepted Pt catalyzed Langmuir–Hinshelwood mechanism.²⁹⁵ The second is the Boudouard reaction that occurs between

adjacent CO adsorbates on Pt. The latter mechanism becomes more relevant as particle size increases. This suitability of the polyol synthesis to obtain size controlled and relatively small size deviation was recently exploited to study Pt NPs for plastic recycling by hydrogenolysis, where smaller size NPs are more active.²⁹⁶

An example using a different metal, is Ru NPs prepared by investigating the effect of pH, temperature and precursor concentration.¹⁶⁰ It was found that pH was the main factor influencing size control: with a pH increase the NP size decreases. The catalytic activity for the liquid phase hydrogenation of methyl-N-boc-pyrrole-2-carboxylate in ethanol solution at 25 °C and H₂ pressure of 5 bar, was shown to be optimal for a NP size of 1.6 nm.¹⁹¹ However, if similar sized NPs were obtained by another synthesis route, e.g. with PVP, the activity was significantly decreased. These results illustrating the benefits of the surfactant-free approach leading to size-controlled NPs without blocking surface sites.



Figure 12. (a-c) TEM micrographs of 30 wt.% Pt/Vulcan catalysts and (d–f) respective particle size distributions for NP prepared with different sizes by the polyol synthesis. N, dMN, and dMA stand for the

number of analyzed Pt NPs, mean number diameter, and mean area diameter, respectively. Reprinted with permission from [291]. Copyright 2022 American Chemical Society.

III.3. Loading and interparticle distance effects

Discussing loading effects, one has to distinguish between loading in the meaning of the amount of catalyst used in a measurement, and in the meaning of metal to support ratio. Here we concentrate on the latter. Metal loadings can strongly affect the properties of the catalysts.^{132, 297} As comparative studies typically are performed with a fixed amount of active metal, different metal-to-support ratios of the catalysts lead to different absolute amounts/volumes of supported catalyst. This can have substantial impacts in the utilization of the catalyst and volume utilization in a reactor, possibly affecting mass transport phenomena (e.g. for the same mass of metal, a supported catalyst with high metal loading occupies a smaller volume). In the case of electrocatalysis, different metal loadings typically lead to different thicknesses of catalyst layers on the electrode, as illustrated in Figure 13.²⁹⁸ In addition to the required optimization of the ionic conductance of the catalyst layer, mass transport related phenomena can affect the catalytic properties, especially at high reaction rates.^{298, 299} On a more fundamental level, the metal loading also changes the interparticle distance which can alter the oxophilicity of the catalyst and alter the electric double layer resulting in different (electro)catalytic properties.^{24, 300} In addition, the metal loading can influence the metal support interaction discussed in the next section.³⁰¹ To establish and differentiate these effects experimentally, typically very sophisticated preparation methods such as the preparation of size-selected clusters are required.^{24, 302, 303}



Figure 13. Comparison of scanning electron microscopy (SEM) and energy dispersive X-ray spectroscopy data on cross-sections of three gas diffusion electrodes prepared with different Pt/C catalysts. (Left) HISPEC 20 wt.%, (middle) TKK 46 wt.%, and (right) HISPEC 70 wt.%. Due to the different metal loading on the carbon support in the Pt/C catalysts, the fixed Pt loading on the GDL (208 ug_{Pt} cm⁻²) leads to different thicknesses of the catalyst film. Reprinted from Nösberger *et al.* The gas diffusion electrode setup as a testing platform for evaluating fuel cell catalysts: A comparative RDE-GDE study, *Eletrochem. Sci. Adv.* 2022, DOI: 10.1002/elsa.202100190, Copyright 2022, with permission from Elsevier.²⁹⁸

However, surfactant-free NP syntheses allow similar control of the catalyst properties. Using the toolbox approach, it was shown that high metal loadings, meaning short interparticle distances, can lead to improve mass activity and stability of Pt NPs for the ORR. The flexibility of the approach allowed to establish that particle size and interparticle distance effects are entangled, see **Figure 14**.^{35, 291, 303} It can be seen that at large interparticle distance, i.e., isolated NPs, the specific ORR activity decreases with decreasing particle size; similar to what was reported based on commercial catalysts.²⁸⁹ In addition, the specific ORR activity increases with decreasing interparticle size; an effect more pronounced for smaller NPs. Therefore, both effects could only be distinguished with the help of a synthesis allowing independent control of NP size and metal loading. The analysis of the electrochemically active surface area (ECSA) as

function of the interparticle distance thereby serves to identify the synthetic limitations, i.e., particle agglomeration during synthesis. The particle proximity effect was also investigated using Ir NPs prepared by the mono-alcohol synthesis for the OER leading to similar conclusions.^{258, 259} However, for the OER the effects mainly lead to a difference in oxide formation and not the catalytic activity as the active phase of Ir is IrO₂.



Figure 14. ECSA (a), ORR specific activity (SA) at 0.9 V_{RHE} (b) and ORR mass activity (MA) at 0.9 V_{RHE} (c) of the Pt/Vulcan catalysts with various Pt loadings and Pt NP sizes determined from the RDE measurements. Reprinted with permission from [291].Copyright 2022 American Chemical Society.

Inspired by the concept of *particle proximity effects* detailed above, the surfactant-free colloidal synthesis approach also allows the design of more complex catalysts consisting of different monometallic NPs, which are dubbed nanocomposite catalysts. For example, using the surfactant-free polyol synthesis [Pt + Ir] nanocomposites were recently studied and compared to Pt_xIr_y NPs.³⁰⁴ The addition of Ir to Pt, either in the form of alloyed NPs or in form of nanocomposite results in a decrease in ORR activity as compared to Pt benchmark, while the OER activity increases. The increase in OER activity is related to an increase in stability upon applying accelerated degradation tests (ADTs). Interestingly, the nanocomposite thereby also showed slightly increased stability compared to Pt_xIr_yNPs. However, in both systems the Ir to Pt ratio decreased upon applying the ADT, indicating challenges for the long-term stability. Nevertheless, the concept of nanocomposites prepared by surfactant-free colloidal NPs allows for a careful optimization of the parameters and is therefore promising to develop further for catalysis. It was also shown using oleylamine-protected Au NPs and surfactant-free Pt that a similar effect of improved activity and stability for the ORR was possible when the surfactants can be removed by a mild treatment.³⁰⁵ Pt-Au alloy nanoparticles can also be formed in situ from co-deposited Pt and Au NPs, towards improved catalysts for formic aid oxidation.³⁰⁶ This allows including NPs into nanocomposites where a colloidal surfactant-free synthesis is not yet established. It furthermore means that the combination of protected (inactive) and unprotected (active) NPs could ultimately be a "new knob" to tune catalyst properties to promote in the particle proximity effect as a new concept in catalyst design.

III.4. Support effects

Supported heterogeneous catalysts and electrocatalysts are made of an active phase material supported on another material. The support material can play different roles and it is key to investigate its influence, to control and improve catalytic activity and stability.³⁰⁷ The effects of various supports for various reactions were clarified using surfactant-free colloidal NPs, where conveniently a same batch of colloidal NPs can be supported on different materials.

For instance, Pt NPs on Ti-based supports were used for chloroform degradation and hydrogen evolution.²¹⁷ Highly dispersed Pt NPs in well-organized mesoporous bi-crystalline TiO₂ frameworks were obtained. The catalytic efficiency was improved as compared to commercial TiO₂. Surfactant-free Pt NPs were also use to guide support design with TiO₂ based for the ORR.³⁰⁸ Upon electrochemical testing, the size of the Pt NPs increased from initially around 1.6 nm to a size of 2-2.5 nm and it was shown that the mass activity increased with the design of more conductive TiO_xC_yN_z supports. A range of different supports such as TiO₂@C,³⁰⁹ ordered mesoporous carbon,³¹⁰ nitrogen-doped carbon nano-horns,³¹¹ FTO-rGO³¹² (where FTO is fluorine-doped Tin Oxide and GO is graphene oxide) were reported to be promising alternatives to standard amorphous carbon supports. Pt-WO₃ on carbon,³¹³ Pt on carbon nanofiber (CNF) and carbon black³¹⁴ were also explored for the MOR. A last illustrative example of support-effect studies is with PtRu on highly ordered meso-porous carbon mesoporous carbon¹⁹⁹, nitrogen-doped carbon nano-horn,²⁰⁰ carbon¹⁸⁷ achieving higher activity than commercial catalysts.

Surfactant-free Pt NPs were used to show for the first time that *o*-chloroaniline formation was suppressed using γ -Fe₂O₃ supports for complete conversion of *o*-chloronitrobenzene (CNB).³¹⁵ A catalyst prepared by incipient wetness was also compared in this study and showed lower activity. Hydrogenation of *o*- and *m*-CNB, with selectivity superior to 99.4% and complete conversion was achieved over Pt/Fe₃O₄ catalyst.³¹⁶ Pt was used on γ -Fe₂O₃ and other FeO_x for selective solvent-less hydrogenation of *o*-CNB to *o*chloroaniline; 99.9% selectivity at 99.95% conversion was achieved and γ -Fe₂O₃ was found to be the best catalyst support.³¹⁷ Selective hydrogenation of *o*-CNB to ochloroaniline was performed with Pt/Al₂O₃³² without using any solvent and 88.5% selectivity to *o*-chloroaniline at 98.2% conversion of *o*-CNB was achieved and 99.8% selectivity to *o*-chloroaniline at 100% conversion using Sn⁴⁺. Ru on SnO₂ was investigated for the same reaction, the high activity observed was attributed to the absence of surfactant and possible contribution from NH₂ groups in *o*-CAN interacting with Sn⁴⁺ or Sn²⁺ species at the surface of SnO₂.⁹⁸

Effects of FeO_x supports with different properties were investigated for Pt mediated CO oxidation.^{242, 318} Surface hydroxides on FeO_x could participate in the catalytic process, reacting with CO adsorbed on Pt⁰ sites and recovered in the co-presence of water gas and oxygen. The properties of the FeO_x support not only affect the oxidation state of supported Pt NPs, but also provide new active sites with the possibility to generate synergies or detrimental effects between the support and the catalytic metal known as strong-metal support interactions (SIMS).³¹⁹ Pt NPs of different sizes in the range of 1-4 nm were deposited onto FeO_x and investigated using CO oxidation as a model reaction.³²⁰ Evidence for a Mars van Krevelen mechanism was found that occurs at the interface between FeO_x support and the Pt NPs. This reaction pathways occurs in parallel to the purely Pt induced Langmuir–Hinshelwood mechanism. As the particle size increases the relevance of the Mars van Krevelen mechanism decreases as the ratio of metal surface to metal-FeO_x interface decreases. Surfactant-free NPs were also supported on zeolites for removal of VOCs.³²¹ Effect of for α -Al₂O₃, γ -Al₂O₃ and CeO₂–TiO₂ for the AOR by Pt was screened. Superior performance of Pt/CeO₂–TiO₂ was related to a synergy between Pt and the support providing adsorbed and lattice oxygen species for selective NH₃ oxidation to NO.³²² Equally, Ru NPs deposited on rutile and anatase TiO₂ and γ -Al₂O₃ were used to investigate the effect of the support in HCl oxidation.³³ Stable catalysts made of Rh showing high activity were obtained on Y-Al₂O₃ for the partial oxidation of methane.²²¹

Co on CNF was used to achieve excellent activity and regioselectivity for the 1-octene hydroformylation. The higher activity observed was attributed to the better dispersion of the NPs on the support as compared to a commercial catalyst.¹⁹⁴ Effect of Co(OH)₂ as support of Pt NPs for the chemoselective hydrogenation of halonitrobenzenes (chloro-, bromo- and iodo-), above 99.6% selectivity to haloanilines was achieved at complete conversion irrespective of the substrates used.³²³ These results illustrate that the development of non-precious-metal catalyst can also benefit from surfactant-free NPs.

In electrochemistry as well, the effect of nature of carbon support was invesgiated.^{215, 297, 324-327} For instance, out of two common carbon supports commercially available to develop electrocatlaysts, Vulcan XC72R and Ketjenblack EC-300J, the second led to more stable catalysts.³²⁴

III.5. Support treatment effects

Beyond studying the effect of different supports, the *toolbox* approach also allows to study the effects of different treatments performed on a support in order to tune further the support properties. Surfactant-free NPs were successfully used as catalysts for such studies. For the CO oxidation, Pt/Al₂O₃ with different heat treatments were investigated.³²⁸ The Al₂O₃ support acts as an anchor and inhibited the sintering of Pt particles through intimate interaction between Al₂O₃ and Pt. The catalyst pre-treated at 200 °C showed the highest activity by trapping O₂ molecules on Pt sites and producing active oxygen species. The effect of acid treatment of carbon nanotubes (CNTs) was investigated as well.³²⁹ Both dispersion and sintering resistance of Pt NPs were dependent on the amount of oxygen surface groups on CNTs but no influence

on the Pt loading was observed. The Pt NPs supported on the functionalized CNTs by oxidation treatment gave superior catalytic activity for the phenylacetylene hydrogenation, conversion and selectivity to styrene are 99% and 88%, respectively. This is attributed the higher dispersion of the Pt NPs. Another example of use of surfactant-free NPs is for Pt on CNT to assess the effect of different support treatment (acid treatment or use of polymer) on the resulting activity for the ORR and MOR.³³⁰ It was shown that using polymer polystyrene sulfonate to disperse the CNTs was beneficial to achieve a better dispersion of the supporting material and ultimately a better dispersion of the NPs on the support. This leads to high activity for the ORR and MOR.

For electrocatalytic reactions, it was observed that the film quality of supported catalysts on carbon electrodes from so-called *catalyst inks* was pH-dependent.³²⁷ *Optimized* film properties are essential for reactant transport. It was shown that alkaline inks should be preferred to enable homogenous catalyst films. Alkaline inks favor a more homogenous dispersion and drying of the ink, leading to improved mass transport in the films and so higher mass activities recorded. The optimization of the ink pH was not relevant for commercial catalysts that typically are alkaline without adding base. The washing step of the surfactant-free polyol synthesis, however, renders the ink pH more acidic. The results stress once more the importance of a systematic approach with a careful evaluation of the different factors that may influence the obtained results.²⁰ NPs obtained by the polyol synthesis were also used to study the optimal amount of ionomer required in catalyst inks.³²⁶ Using the mono-alcohol syntheses, it was also shown that the activity for the OER of Ir NPs prepared in ethylene glycol, methanol or ethanol, was improved using ethanol-based syntheses, see **Table 4**.²⁵⁹ This is more related to the stability of the carbon support in ethanol than an effect of the solvent on the synthesis of the NPs. These results stress the careful need for optimization of the NPs at all stages of the supported catalyst preparation, from synthesis all the way to characterization including supporting steps, as illustrated in **Figure 11**.

III.6. Composition and structural effects

Controlling NP composition enable to tune further the properties of nano-catalysts.⁴⁸ A range of bi- and multi- metallic NPs can be obtained by surfactant-free colloidal syntheses, as summarized in **Table S1**. Illustrative examples are PtIr, PtPd and PtSnO_x catalytsts investigated for the AOR.²¹⁰ PtPd based catalysts showed a decreased onset potential *vs.* pure Pt NPs but poor stability. Pt₇(SnOx)₃ showed similar current density to Pt but improved stability. This is attributed to possible weakening of adsorption of poisonous

52

 N_{ads} intermediates.²¹⁰ Higher catalytic activity, stability and activity recovery of PtIr NPs vs. Pt NPs is attributed to the electronic effect generated between Pt and Ir atoms in alloy.²¹¹ Pt, Ru, PtRu alloy, Ru@Pt, and Pt@Ru NPs and mixture of Pt and Ru NPs onto CNTs have been investigated for the selective hydrogenation of phenylacetylene.²⁰⁹ The NPs where prepared from the same precursors and the results highlight the versatility of colloidal approaches to produce complex structures. The benefits of core-shell structure (vs. mixture of identical metal) were demonstrated. Pt, Cu, Ni as well as PtSn, PtNi, PtCu, PtMn, PtFe, PtCo, PtZn, PtAu catalysts were produced and screened for their catalytic properties e.g. for glycerol oxdiation.³³¹ The method of synthesis used was also investigated: conventional thermal heating vs. microwave.²⁰⁵ Pt₉Ni₁ catalyst obtained using a microwave synthesis showed the most promising performances for glycerol oxidation whereas Pt₉Sn₁ showed promising activity for the EOR.²⁰⁶ IrCu NPs were shown to be suitable catalysts²¹³ showing an Ir rich surface favorable for hydrogenation of crotonaldehyde with >40% yield to crotyl alcohol in the vapor phase after supporting on mesoporous Co₃O₄. Other comparative study include various bi- and tri- metallic (PtRuW and PtRuMo) alloys with the respective decreasing activity for the EOR: Pt₁Sn₁/C > Pt₁Ru₁/C > Pt₁Pd₁/C > Pt/C.²¹² This was attributed to -OH_{ad} species forming more easily on the surface of Sn-containing catalysts.

Surfactant-free Pt NPs used as building block to develop PtCu catalysts on carbon for *p*-CNB hydrogenation.³³² Seed-mediated grown is a suitable strategy to develop complex nanostructures.³³³ Surfactant-free Pt NPs were obtained by the polyol synthesis served as building block for instance for nanowire design³³⁴ or Pt@Sn NPs.³³⁵ Beyond a building block to achieve given catalytic properties, unprotected NPs were also used to develop supported catalysts where zeolitic imidazolate frameworks were built around Pt NPs to stabilize them. The resulting structure obtained was demonstrated as suitable catalyst for hydrogenation of 1-hexene and ciscyclooctene.³³⁶

For Ru@Pt NPs, a careful control of the pH when developing the shell was showed to be key to best tune the properties of the NP outer surface for the MOR.²⁰⁸ As the pH increases the outer surface get enriched in Pt. The catalyst obtained lead to 10 times more activity for the MOR for the alloyed shell compared to 5 times higher activity for a rich shell compared to the pure Pt catalysts also obtained by the polyol synthesis. In the synthesis of Pt_{0.7}Ir_{0.3} NPs increasing the pH from 7 to 8.5 lead to formation of a bimodal distribution suggesting that with smaller size at lower pH, less alloying occurs¹⁸⁰ and NP surface expressed different oxidation states: oxidation state 0 at lower pH *vs.* mixed valence at higher pH. The NPs prepared at lower pH showed better activity than Pt NPs or the IrPt prepared at higher pH for the AOR. PtRu NPs were obtained by various methods: co-precipitation, step precipitation starting with Pt of Ru using

different pH to achieve different size and composition.³³⁷ A pH increase leads to size increase in a coreduction approach. This was however not so marked for steps reduction method. In Pt₇Sn₃ synthesis, the pH was found to control the size of the NPs but also the structure of the alloy obtained.³³⁸ At high NaOH concentration, partial alloying and bi phase Pt/SnO_x structures were obtained while at low NaOH concentration disordered NPs were formed. Bi-phase Pt (6.5 nm)/SnO_x expressed the best catalytic activity for EOR followed by 5 nm disordered alloy Pt₇Sn₃ nano-catalyst. The higher activity for the EOR was attributed to a size effect favoring interaction with ethanol rather than a composition effect.³³⁹

As a last example, Pt, Rh and PtRh with PVP were produce adding PVP during NPs formation or after NP formation.²⁰⁷ With presence of PVP during synthesis more Rh atoms were found on the surface of the RhPt NPs. With different surface structures, PVP-RhPt and PVP-added-RhPt show different catalytic activities for the hydrogenation of *o*-CNB. The results give inside into the selection of polymer as a potential way to tune catalytic performance of bimetallic nano-catalysts.

III.7. Improved electron transfer

Surfactant-free NPs can be rationally selected when efficient electron transfer is necessary. This account for the vast literature on electrocatalysis illustrated in **Table S1** but also other applications. Surfactant-free Pt NPs were used as electron relay for enzyme-mediated immunsensor.³⁴⁰ Pt NPs were used to cover transparent conductive oxide to develop dye-sensitized solar cells where a "clean surface was needed and so the addition of additives non desirable".³⁶ Ru NPs were used to develop improved carbon²¹⁶ or carbon free Li-O₂³⁴¹ battery support electrode materials, leading to promising specific capacity of 750 mA h g⁻¹ and good stability. The superior performances are attributed to the improved conductivity and interfacial contact between the supporting materials and improved ORR and OER activity from the Ru NPs. Ni NPs where formed in alkaline EG in presence of hydrazine and further deposited on GO for glucose sensing.¹⁹⁷ Pt NPs were co-immobilized with enzymes such as glucose oxidase on SiO₂ NPs to favor electron transfer and developed more performing sensors.³⁴ These examples illustrate the large potential of applications of surfactant-free NPs.

III.8. Effects of surfactants, their removal or absence, towards ligand effects

Surfactant-free NPs are ideal control materials to investigate the effects of surfactants on catalysis, see illustration in **Figure 4**. The benefits of polyol and mono-alcohols syntheses is to be surfactant-free but these syntheses in most cases can also accommodate the presence of surfactants. The influence of various additives on the resulting catalytic properties can then be established. Furthermore, surfactant-free colloidal NP syntheses offer a range of options to functionalize the same batch of NPs with different ligands, i.e. molecules that are not necessarily stabilizing the colloids but would bring catalytic functionality, here referred to as *ligand* by analogy with homogeneous catalysis.

Surfactant and their removal

The pioneer work by Wang *et al.* reported a ligand functionalization by phase exchange of surfactant-free NPs by PVP or triphenylphosphine.⁹⁷ It was shown that minimal amount of PVP (compared to previous approaches were PVP was used directly during the synthesis) is required to ensure sufficient protection, e.g. only Pt/PVP ratio of 5. Certainly, these results pave the way to further optimization of resources to NP design by minimizing the amount of chemicals needed to achieve stable NP colloids. Pt NPs then protected by low amount of alkylamine, alkylthiol, PVP, polyvinyl alcohol, or triphenylphosphine showed an increase by 0.5–0.8 eV in the Pt 4f binding energies relative to those of bulk Pt.³⁴²

Pt NPs served for instance as building block for further functionalization with PVP to investigate the effect of surfactant removal,³⁴³ or to compare Pt NPs *vs.* PVP-protected Pt and AuPt structures.³⁴⁴ The surfactantfree NPs typically show better activity than the PVP protected NPs., e.g. for the MOR and ORR.³⁴⁴ Pt NPs were protected by oleylamine,⁶⁹ as reference material to stress the benefits of NiPt allowing CO oxidation on different supports such as MgO or Al_2O_3 .

A same mother batch of NPs²²⁰ was used and functionalized with three ligands: oleylamine, trimethyl tetradecyl ammonium bromide and PVP. The Pt NPs were immobilized on porous silica (SBA-15) for the ethylene hydrogenation and CO oxidation PVP- and trimethyl tetradecyl ammonium - protected Pt NP expressed mass-normalized reaction rates decreasing with increasing pretreatment temperature, attributed to the partial coverage of the Pt surface with decomposition products from the organic capping agent. Amine capping exhibited a detrimental influence on the catalytic properties as severe deactivation was observed for ethylene hydrogenation and low activity for and CO oxidation, respectively. This highlights the strong influence of the amine groups poisoning Pt surfaces. Further examples are functionalization of Pt NPs with amine and thiol compounds to elucidate the respective binding.³⁴⁵ The

55

results stressed the need to consider the effects and properties of capping agents on the catalytic properties.

Pt NPs with 5 different capping agents were investigated and the effect on electrochemical properties (ORR) for each capping agent evaluated.⁸⁰ The protected NPs lead to better sensitivity and stability compared to surfactant-free NPs and this was related to the ligand preventing agglomeration of the NPs. Although PVP strongly prevents electron transfer in electrocatalysis, it was reported that small amount of PVP could be beneficial compared to surfactant-free Ir NPs.⁶⁵ This was attributed to the PVP stabilizing the NPs on the electrode.

Ligand effects

Functionalization of NP with ligands is to affect the overall catalytic activity and/or selectivity as well as stability. Indeed, ligands are expected to alter the properties of the NPs (e.g. outer surface redox properties or shape), alter the metal-support interaction, but also alter the reaction mechanism for instance by promoting different ligand-reactant interactions.

Activity. For instance, surfactant-free Pt nanocrystals were modified with triphenylphosphine, octadecylamine, PVP, polyvinyl alcohol, and dodecanethiol, to assess the effect of protective agents on the catalytic property of Pt nanocrystals for the hydrogenation of *p*-CNB.³⁴⁶ In this case, interactions between nanocrystals and protective agents impact the catalytic performance. Electron donating ligands bring the surface atoms into an electron-rich state, changing the adsorption and the reactivity of reactant, intermediates and products. The coordinated Pt atoms oxidized by dodecanethiol generate cationic Pt species that improve the hydrogenation rate and selectivity to *p*-chloroaniline by polarizing the N=O bond in the -NO₂ group.

Pt NPs protected with dodecylamine were also deposited on various supports (Y-Al₂O₃, SiO₂, MgO). It was found that the ligands modify the metal-support interactions and prevent the oxidation of the NPs occurring during deposition. In the case of SiO₂, the ligand protected NPs actually showed a higher activity than the surfactant-free NPs for octadiene hydrogenation at low temperature < 100 °C.⁶⁸ The ligand was suggested to keep the NPs in a reduced state. However, for Al₂O₃ and MgO the activity decreased with an increase in ligand amount. At higher temperature for CO oxidation, spillover was observed for all supports and surfactant-free NPs showed better activity. The same concept can certainly be applied to bi-metallic NPs. An examples is the hydrogenation of acetylene to ethylene in ethylene-rich streams on Pt and PtSn NPs.²⁰³ Dodecylamine (DDA)-capped Pt and PtSn NPs were compared with surfactant-free NPs. The most

selective catalyst was found to be the DDA-capped PtSn catalyst. Rh NPs with ligand such as phenyl acetylene and 9-ethnylphenanthrene for hydrogen detection.²⁷ PtSn NPs were functionalized with different ligands such as dodecanethiol ($C_{12}H_{25}SH$), capric acid($C_{9}H_{19}COOH$,) and oleic acid ($C_{17}H_{33}COOH$,),²⁰⁴ to achieve better NP dispersion and improved gas sensing properties for H₂ oxidation.⁶²

Selectivity. Beyond tuning activity, ligands have also been shown to be very useful in manipulating selectivity.³⁴⁷ An example is the so-called N-H effect.³⁴⁸ As the amino group donates electrons to the catalytic metal, the N-H bond is strongly polarized with the H-substituent acting like a proton. It can interact with the oxygen of a keto group and in this way enhance the activation of the reactant significantly. This improved activation can overcompensate the loss of activity caused by blocking of the catalytic surface through ligand binding. It could be shown that the transfer of the N-H ligand acceleration effect allows enhancing the hydrogenation activity of Pt NPs while increasing simultaneously the selectivity.³⁴⁹ This finding was further supported by computational and kinetic studies.^{350, 351} On the same type of reaction but using different ligands (N-heterocyclic carbenes), an improved selectivity was shown at the expensive of activity. The ligands applied in the latter study do not exhibit a N-H bond that would allow for an N-H effect. As a result, the above mentioned N-H ligand acceleration effect cannot proceed.

Ligand-reactant interactions. Another important opportunity provided by ligand functionalization is the ability to utilize ligand-reactant interactions.³⁵² This knob to design catalysts allows not only chemo- but also stereo- selective conversions to be performed with supported ligand-functionalized NPs. In particular, using surfactant-free NPs as building blocks, Kunz *et al.* worked towards this goal.^{349, 353, 354} An example is the hydrogenation of ketones for which various ligands were tested to explore the possibility to transfer a chiral information from a surface bound ligand to an adsorbed reactant. In order to systematically investigate these complex systems, an approach was developed to functionalize the surfactant-free NPs in a phase-transfer reaction with hydrophilic ligands such as amino acids.³⁵⁵ In this way the NP synthesis, the surface functionalization with ligands, and the supporting of thus functionalized NPs can be separated into individual steps, while the particle size is maintained. This allows for systematic studies on the effect of the NP properties (metal and particle size), the ligands, and the support material on the catalytic performance, since all relevant material properties of the catalysts can be varied independently.

Stability. A last opportunity offered by surfactant-free NPs is the development of more stable NPs. In particular, the use of hydrophilic ligands is crucial for the application of supported ligand-functionalized NPs as heterogeneous catalysts. Organic reactants (e.g. ketones) and solvents used for colloidal syntheses are lipophilic. If NPs are functionalized with lipophilic such as those that are used for homogeneous

catalysts (e.g. phosphorus-based or N-heterocyclic carbene ligand) the ligand-sphere interacts strongly with the reaction medium and the NPs become solvent-stabilized colloids. As a result, such particles desorb from the support under reaction conditions acting like a homogeneous catalyst. Furthermore, the probability of ligand desorption from the surface increases with increasing solubility of the ligands, leading to fade off the desired selectivity control by ligands. Hydrophilic ligands such as amino acids are not soluble in organic reaction media. The use of such hydrophilic ligand hence allows suppressing desorption of the ligand-functionalized NPs from the support as well as ligand desorption from the particle surface. Functionalizing surfactant-free NPs with hydrophilic ligands therefore bear several promising outcomes.³⁵⁵

Optimized NPs. Taking into account the different influences of ligands, and using a rational design approach for supported NPs functionalized with hydrophilic ligands starting with size controlled surfactant-free NPs, it was found that the stereoselectivity does not vary with particle size, but depends merely on the ligand for a given reactant.³⁵⁶ This result was surprising as it implies that the mechanism of stereoselectivity control is very similar to homogeneous catalysts determined only be ligand-reactant interactions. Furthermore, for most systems that have been investigated in more detail, one-to-one ligand-reactant interactions dominate the stereoselectivity control as determined from studies on nonlinear effects.³⁵⁷ Surface science techniques may help in the future to get even more insights into ligand-reactant interactions.³⁵⁸ Investigations on different ligands and reactants eventually led to systems with enantiomeric excesses of more than 80%, clearly demonstrating the potential of ligand-functionalized NPs to design stereoselective heterogeneous catalysts.^{350, 354}

Bi-functional ligands. The use of ligands is not limited to covering NPs, bi-functional ligands (ligands with two binding groups) can be used to build NP networks.³⁵⁹ Such networks have been shown to exhibit high densities of catalytically active sites. This is particularly useful for hydrogen sensing, as the concept of catalytic hydrogen sensing is based on detecting the heat of reaction of the hydrogen oxidation reaction.³⁶⁰ The use of a support material increases significantly the heat capacity of the catalytic material, as a supported catalysts consists of typically 90-99 wt.% support material. This reduces any heat induced signal and slows down the response time.³⁶¹ In contrast, networks formed with bifunctional ligands exhibit more the 70 wt.% catalytic metal, while the remaining less than 30 wt.% are the ligands that take over the role of a support by keeping the NPs at distance. In this way sintering can be inhibited. Particularly suitable for this purpose are aromatic bifunctional ligands with binding groups that are not part of an aromatic moiety. Such ligands barely undergo side reactions under catalytic conditions.²¹⁴

58

Conclusion

While the controlled use of ligands in heterogeneous catalysis to tune catalytic properties has already shown great potential, it is still in its infancy. The (de)functionalization of NPs with various ligands or surfactants is nevertheless gaining an increasing interest for catalytic studies. The above-mentioned examples and the concepts behind tuning catalyst properties by using ligands are in many aspects very similar to the mechanistic considerations known from bimetallic catalysis. Maybe to date, suitable building blocks to actually study ligand effects were missing. Surfactant-free NPs are promising building blocks in this regard as illustrated above. It is therefore of great importance that researcher explore this potential further and furthermore aim at developing concepts that can be easily transferred into actual applications.

Conclusions

A surfactant-free colloidal synthesis can be defined as a synthesis where the solvent plays the multiple roles of reaction medium, reducing agent and stabilizer. A synthesis with no species with a molar mass greater than 100 g mol⁻¹ used as reactant, excluding metal precursors to be reduced to NPs, can be considered surfactant-free. Various surfactant-free syntheses of precious metal NPs have been reported. In particular, laser-based techniques (LSPC), plasma-based syntheses (SPP) and syntheses in DMF, alkaline polyols or alkaline mono-alcohols are well documented. These syntheses offer a suitable control over surfactant-free NP composition and size. Specifically, the polyols and mono-alcohols based syntheses are relatively straightforward to implement without extended prior knowledge and with relatively simple equipment, performed at relatively low temperature and with typically short reaction time. Despite this abundance of options and the multiple benefits of surfactant-free NPs summarized below, a large majority of research in catalysis still uses surfactants and/or direct deposition of NPs on supports in one-pot syntheses.

Surfactant-free NPs are ideal reference materials to investigate and rationalize the still debated effect of surfactant / ligands in NP synthesis and catalysis.^{61, 66, 362} The complex interplay between NPs, surface functionalization, effects of ligand functionalization, the influence of surfactant removal, the exact nature of the resulting metal support interaction etc., call for further understanding of the links between metal surface coordination, shape-controlled synthesis and catalytic properties.⁶⁰ To achieve this goal, not only new characterization tools are needed but also model systems among which surfactant-free colloids have a place of choice.

Surfactant-free NPs are ideal materials for systematic parametric studies to optimize supported catalysts beyond the active phase design. Effects related to size, loading, interparticle distances, nature of support, supporting steps, washing steps and supported catalyst preparation in general, can be more systematically studied, understood, and controlled.

Surfactant-free NPs are promising building blocks towards increasingly complex nanocatalysts, including with a degree of shape control, e.g., as seed for seed mediated growth or towards multi-metallic NPs, including alloys and core-shell materials.

Surfactant-free NPs are ideal to develop active catalysts. For instance, by avoiding steps to remove surfactant from the NPs, more reproducibility and higher activity can be achieved. In particular surfactant-

free synthesis are well suited to develop supported and unsupported heterogeneous catalysts and electrocatalysts for which *clean* catalyst surfaces are needed. Surfactant-free nano-catalysts have already been investigated for several catalytic reactions illustrated here but are promising for many more. Finally, surfactant-free NPs are ideal building blocks to be functionalized to study further the effect of ligandfunctionalization in heterogeneous catalysis.

With the expected increase of modelling in nanoscience,³⁶³ surfactant-free NPs could also prove to be an ideal model system to bridge the gap between theory and experiments. Surfactant-free NPs are indeed arguably simpler than their more complex surfactant-stabilized counterpart.³⁶⁴ Furthermore, surfactant-free syntheses bear promising features to cross the gap between academia and industry, e.g. using fewer and safer chemicals, such as cheaper solvent such as water or alkaline mono-alcohols. To conclude, colloidal surfactant-free syntheses of metal NPs are probably under-exploited and overlooked to date synthetic approaches to develop catalysts relevant for fundamental and applied research.

Acknowledgements

M.A. acknowledges funding from the Swiss National Science Foundation (SNSF) project No. 200021_184742.

References

(1) Reichenberger, S.; Marzun, G.; Muhler, M.; Barcikowski, S. Perspective of Surfactant-free Colloidal Nanoparticles in Heterogeneous Catalysis. *ChemCatChem* **2019**, *11* (18), 4489-4518. DOI: 10.1002/cctc.201900666.

(2) Cargnello, M. Colloidal Nanocrystals as Building Blocks for Well-Defined Heterogeneous Catalysts. *Chemistry of Materials* **2019**, *31* (3), 576-596. DOI: 10.1021/acs.chemmater.8b04533.

(3) Deutschmann, O.; Knözinger, H.; Kochloefl, K.; Turek, T. Ullmann's Encyclopedia of Industrial Chemistry. In Wiley Ed.; **2009**. DOI: 10.1002/14356007.a05_313.pub2.

(4) Witte, P. T.; Berben, P. H.; Boland, S.; Boymans, E. H.; Vogt, D.; Geus, J. W.; Donkervoort, J. G. BASF NanoSelect (TM) Technology: Innovative Supported Pd- and Pt-based Catalysts for Selective

Hydrogenation Reactions. *Topics in Catalysis* **2012**, *55* (7-10), 505-511. DOI: 10.1007/s11244-012-9818-y. (5) Seh, Z. W.; Kibsgaard, J.; Dickens, C. F.; Chorkendorff, I. B.; Norskov, J. K.; Jaramillo, T. F. Combining theory and experiment in electrocatalysis: Insights into materials design. *Science* **2017**, *355* (6321). DOI: 10.1126/science.aad4998.

(6) Zhang, J. M.; Claverie, J.; Chaker, M.; Ma, D. L. Colloidal Metal Nanoparticles Prepared by Laser Ablation and their Applications. *ChemPhysChem* 2017, *18* (9), 986-1006. DOI: 10.1002/cphc.201601220.
(7) Pradeep, T.; Anshup. Noble metal nanoparticles for water purification: A critical review. *Thin Solid Films* 2009, *517* (24), 6441-6478. DOI: 10.1016/j.tsf.2009.03.195.

(8) Losch, P.; Huang, W. X.; Goodman, E. D.; Wrasman, C. J.; Holm, A.; Riscoe, A. R.; Schwalbe, J. A.; Cargnello, M. Colloidal nanocrystals for heterogeneous catalysis. *Nano Today* **2019**, *24*, 15-47. DOI: 10.1016/j.nantod.2018.12.002.

(9) Jia, C. J.; Schuth, F. Colloidal metal nanoparticles as a component of designed catalyst. *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics* **2011**, *13* (7), 2457-2487. DOI: 10.1039/c0cp02680h.

(10) An, K.; Somorjai, G. A. Size and Shape Control of Metal Nanoparticles for Reaction Selectivity in Catalysis. *ChemCatChem* **2012**, *4* (10), 1512-1524. DOI: 10.1002/cctc.201200229.

(11) Fievet, F.; Ammar-Merah, S.; Brayner, R.; Chau, F.; Giraud, M.; Mammeri, F.; Peron, J.; Piquemal, J.-Y.; Sicarda, L.; Viaub, G. The polyol process: a unique method for easy access to metal nanoparticles with tailored sizes, shapes and compositions. *Chemical Society Reviews* **2018**, *47*, 5187-5233. DOI: 10.1039/c7cs00777a.

(12) Zhang, D. S.; Goekce, B.; Barcikowski, S. Laser Synthesis and Processing of Colloids: Fundamentals and Applications. *Chemical Reviews* 2017, *117* (5), 3990-4103. DOI: 10.1021/acs.chemrev.6b00468.
(13) Wilcoxon, J. P.; Abrams, B. L. Synthesis, structure and properties of metal nanoclusters. *Chemical Society Reviews* 2006, *35* (11), 1162-1194. DOI: 10.1039/b517312b.

(14) De Souza, C. D.; Nogueira, B. R.; Rostelato, M. Review of the methodologies used in the synthesis gold nanoparticles by chemical reduction. *Journal of Alloys and Compounds* **2019**, *798*, 714-740. DOI: 10.1016/j.jallcom.2019.05.153.

(15) Quinson, J. Iridium and IrO_x nanoparticles: an overview and review of syntheses and applications. *Advances in Colloid and Interface Science* **2022**, *303*, 102643. DOI: 10.1016/j.cis.2022.102643.

(16) Duan, H. H.; Wang, D. S.; Li, Y. D. Green chemistry for nanoparticle synthesis. *Chemical Society Reviews* **2015**, *44* (16), 5778-5792. DOI: 10.1039/c4cs00363b.

(17) Munnik, P.; de Jongh, P. E.; de Jong, K. P. Recent Developments in the Synthesis of Supported Catalysts. *Chemical Reviews* **2015**, *115* (14), 6687-6718. DOI: 10.1021/cr500486u.

(18) Mehrabadi, B. A. T.; Eskandari, S.; Khan, U.; White, R. D.; Regalbuto, J. R. A Review of Preparation Methods for Supported Metal Catalysts. *Advances in Catalysis* **2017**, *61*, 1-35. DOI: 10.1016/bs.acat.2017.10.001.

(19) Guntern, Y. T.; Okatenko, V.; Pankhurst, J.; Varandili, S. B.; Iyengar, P.; Koolen, C.; Stoian, D.; Vavra, J.; Buonsanti, R. Colloidal Nanocrystals as Electrocatalysts with Tunable Activity and Selectivity. *ACS Catalysis* **2021**, *11* (3), 1248-1295. DOI: 10.1021/acscatal.0c04403.

(20) Quinson, J. Colloidal surfacant-free syntheses of precious metal nanoparticles for electrocatalysis. *Current Opinion in Electrochemistry* **2022**, *34*, 100977. DOI: 10.1016/j.coelec.2022.100977.

(21) Burda, C.; Chen, X. B.; Narayanan, R.; El-Sayed, M. A. Chemistry and properties of nanocrystals of different shapes. *Chemical Reviews* **2005**, *105* (4), 1025-1102. DOI: 10.1021/cr030063a.

(22) Quinson, J.; Neumann, S.; Wannmacher, T.; Kacenauskaite, L.; Inaba, M.; Bucher, J.; Bizzotto, F.; Simonsen, S. B.; Kuhn, L. T.; Bujak, D.; et al. Colloids for Catalysts: A Concept for the Preparation of Superior Catalysts of Industrial Relevance. *Angewandte Chemie-International Edition* **2018**, *57* (38), 12338-12341. DOI: 10.1002/anie.201807450.

(23) Quinson, J.; Kunz, S.; Arenz, M. Beyond Active Site Design: A Surfactant-Free Toolbox Approach for Optimized Supported Nanoparticle Catalysts. *ChemCatChem* **2021**, *13* (7), 1692-1705. DOI: 10.1002/cctc.202001858.

(24) Nesselberger, M.; Roefzaad, M.; Hamou, R. F.; Biedermann, P. U.; Schweinberger, F. F.; Kunz, S.; Schloegl, K.; Wiberg, G. K. H.; Ashton, S.; Heiz, U.; et al. The effect of particle proximity on the oxygen reduction rate of size-selected platinum clusters. *Nature Materials* **2013**, *12* (10), 919-924. DOI: 10.1038/nmat3712.

(25) Suen, N.-T.; Hung, S.-F.; Quan, Q.; Zhang, N.; Xu, Y.-J.; Chen, H. M. Electrocatalysis for the oxygen evolution reaction: recent development and future perspectives. *Chemical Society Reviews* **2017**, *46* (2), 337-365. DOI: 10.1039/c6cs00328a.

(26) Antolini, E.; Gonzalez, E. R. Alkaline direct alcohol fuel cells. *Journal of Power Sources* **2010**, *195* (11), 3431-3450. DOI: 10.1016/j.jpowsour.2009.11.145.

(27) Srivastav, A. K.; Agrawal, B.; Swami, B.; Agrawal, Y. K.; Maity, P. Ligand exchange synthesis of organometallic Rh nanoparticles and application in explosive sensing. *Journal of Nanoparticle Research* **2017**, *19* (6). DOI: 10.1007/s11051-017-3910-y.

(28) Sun, X. C.; Lin, J.; Wang, Y. H.; Li, L.; Pan, X. L.; Su, Y.; Wang, X. D. Catalytically active Ir₀ species supported on Al₂O₃ for complete oxidation of formaldehyde at ambient temperature. *Applied Catalysis B-Environmental* **2020**, *268*, 118741. DOI: 10.1016/j.apcatb.2020.118741.

(29) Nagata, T.; Obora, Y. N,N-Dimethylformamide-Protected Single-Sized Metal Nanoparticles and Their Use as Catalysts for Organic Transformations. *ACS Omega* **2020**, *5* (1), 98-103. DOI: 10.1021/acsomega.9b03828.

(30) Hong, X.; Li, B.; Wang, Y. J.; Lu, J. Q.; Hu, G. S.; Luo, M. F. Stable Ir/SiO₂ catalyst for selective hydrogenation of crotonaldehyde. *Applied Surface Science* **2013**, *270*, 388-394. DOI: 10.1016/j.apsusc.2013.01.035.

(31) a) Oh, H.-S.; Oh, J.-G.; Kim, H. Modification of polyol process for synthesis of highly platinum loaded platinum-carbon catalysts for fuel cells. *Journal of Power Sources* **2008**, *183* (2), 600-603. DOI:

10.1016/j.jpowsour.2008.05.070. b) Liu, B.; Yao, H. Q.; Song, W. Q.; Jin, L.; Mosa, I. M.; Rusling, J. F.; Suib, S. L.; He, J. Ligand-Free Noble Metal Nanocluster Catalysts on Carbon Supports via "Soft" Nitriding. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **2016**, *138* (14), 4718-4721. DOI: 10.1021/jacs.6b01702. c) Maki-Arvela, P.; Murzin, D. Y. Effect of catalyst synthesis parameters on the metal particle size. *Applied Catalysis a-General* **2013**, *451*, 251-281. DOI: 10.1016/j.apcata.2012.10.012.

(32) Bai, Q.; Li, D.; He, L.; Xiao, H. L.; Sui, N.; Liu, M. H. Solvent-free selective hydrogenation of ochloronitrobenzene to o-chloroaniline over alumina supported Pt nanoparticles. *Progress in Natural Science-Materials International* **2015**, *25* (3), 179-184. DOI: 10.1016/j.pnsc.2015.05.005.

(33) Kondratenko, E. V.; Amrute, A. P.; Pohl, M. M.; Steinfeldt, N.; Mondelli, C.; Perez-Ramirez, J. Superior activity of rutile-supported ruthenium nanoparticles for HCl oxidation. *Catalysis Science & Technology* **2013**, *3* (10), 2555-2558. DOI: 10.1039/c3cy00372h.

(34) Yang, H. P.; Zhu, Y. F. Glucose biosensor based on nano-SiO₂ and "unprotected" Pt nanoclusters. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics* **2007**, *22* (12), 2989-2993. DOI: 10.1016/j.bios.2006.12.019.

(35) Quinson, J.; Inaba, M.; Neumann, S.; Swane, A. A.; Bucher, J.; Simonsen, S. B.; Kuhn, L. T.; Kirkensgaard, J. J. K.; Jensen, K. M. O.; Oezaslan, M.; et al. Investigating Particle Size Effects in Catalysis by Applying a Size-Controlled and Surfactant-Free Synthesis of Colloidal Nanoparticles in Alkaline Ethylene Glycol: Case Study of the Oxygen Reduction Reaction on Pt. *ACS Catalysis* **2018**, *8* (7), 6627-6635. DOI: 10.1021/acscatal.8b00694.

(36) Li, L. L.; Wu, H. H.; Tsai, C. H.; Diau, E. W. G. Nanofabrication of uniform and stabilizer-free selfassembled platinum monolayers as counter electrodes for dye-sensitized solar cells. *Npg Asia Materials* **2014**, *6*. DOI: 10.1038/am.2014.57.

(37) Park, Y. C.; Tokiwa, H.; Kakinuma, K.; Watanabe, M.; Uchida, M. Effects of carbon supports on Pt distribution, ionomer coverage and cathode performance for polymer electrolyte fuel cells. *Journal of Power Sources* **2016**, *315*, 179-191. DOI: 10.1016/j.jpowsour.2016.02.091.

(38) Dong, B.; Pei, Y. C.; Zhao, F.; Goh, T. W.; Qi, Z. Y.; Xiao, C. X.; Chen, K. C.; Huang, W. Y.; Fang, N. In situ quantitative single-molecule study of dynamic catalytic processes in nanoconfinement. *Nature Catalysis* **2018**, *1* (2), 135-140. DOI: 10.1038/s41929-017-0021-1.

(39) Pollet, B. G.; Kocha, S. S.; Staffell, I. Current status of automotive fuel cells for sustainable transport. *Current Opinion in Electrochemistry* **2019**, *16*, 90-95. DOI: 10.1016/j.coelec.2019.04.021.

(40) Sharma, R.; Wang, Y.; Li, F.; Chamier, J.; Andersen, S. M. A. Particle Size-Controlled Growth of Carbon-Supported Platinum Nanoparticles (Pt/C) through Water-Assisted Polyol Synthesis. *ACS Omega* **2019**, *4* (13), 15711–15720. DOI: 10.1021/acsomega.9b02351.

(41) Olveira, S.; Forster, S. P.; Seeger, S. Nanocatalysis: Academic Discipline and Industrial Realities. *Journal of Nanotechnology* **2014**, 324089. DOI: 10.1155/2014/324089.

(42) Faraday, M. The Bakerian Lecture: Experimental relations of gold (and other metals) to light. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London* **1857**, *147*, 145–181. DOI: 10.1098/rstl.1857.0011

(43) Turkevich, J.; Stevenson, P. C.; Hillier, J. A STUDY OF THE NUCLEATION AND GROWTH PROCESSES IN THE SYNTHESIS OF COLLOIDAL GOLD. *Discussions of the Faraday Society* **1951**, (11), 55-&. DOI: 10.1039/df9511100055.

(44) Brust, M.; Walker, M.; Bethell, D.; Schiffrin, D. J.; Whyman, R. SYNTHESIS OF THIOL-DERIVATIZED GOLD NANOPARTICLES IN A 2-PHASE LIQUID-LIQUID SYSTEM. *Journal of the Chemical Society-Chemical Communications* **1994**, (7), 801-802. DOI: 10.1039/c39940000801.

(45) Chakraborty, I.; Pradeep, T. Atomically Precise Clusters of Noble Metals: Emerging Link between Atoms and Nanoparticles. *Chemical Reviews* **2017**, *117* (12), 8208-8271. DOI: 10.21021/j.japa.ch.202762

10.1021/acs.chemrev.6b00769.

(46) Niederberger, M.; Garnweitner, G. Organic reaction pathways in the nonaqueous synthesis of metal oxide nanoparticles. *Chemistry-a European Journal* **2006**, *12* (28), 7282-7302. DOI: 10.1002/chem.200600313.

(47) Inaba, M.; Quinson, J.; Bucher, J. R.; Arenz, M. On the Preparation and Testing of Fuel Cell Catalysts Using the Thin Film Rotating Disk Electrode Method. *Jove-Journal of Visualized Experiments* **2018**, (133), e57105. DOI: 10.3791/57105.

(48) a) Sankar, M.; Dimitratos, N.; Miedziak, P. J.; Wells, P. P.; Kiely, C. J.; Hutchings, G. J. Designing bimetallic catalysts for a green and sustainable future. *Chemical Society Reviews* **2012**, *41* (24), 8099-8139. DOI: 10.1039/c2cs35296f. b) Xu, Y.; Chen, L.; Wang, X.; Yao, W.; Zhang, Q. Recent advances in noble metal based composite nanocatalysts: colloidal synthesis, properties, and catalytic applications. *Nanoscale* **2015**, *7* (24), 10559-10583. DOI: 10.1039/c5nr02216a. c) Kusada, K.; Wu, D. S.; Kitagawa, H. New Aspects of Platinum Group Metal-Based Solid-Solution Alloy Nanoparticles: Binary to High-Entropy Alloys. *Chemistry-a European Journal* **2020**, *26* (23), 5105-5130. DOI: 10.1002/chem.201903928.

(49) Bligaard, T.; Bullock, R. M.; Campbell, C. T.; Chen, J. G. G.; Gates, B. C.; Gorte, R. J.; Jones, C. W.; Jones, W. D.; Kitchin, J. R.; Scott, S. L. Toward Benchmarking in Catalysis Science: Best Practices, Challenges, and Opportunities. *ACS Catalysis* 2016, *6* (4), 2590-2602. DOI: 10.1021/acscatal.6b00183.
(50) Yang, T. H.; Gilroy, K. D.; Xia, Y. N. Reduction rate as a quantitative knob for achieving deterministic synthesis of colloidal metal nanocrystals. *Chemical Science* 2017, *8* (10), 6730-6749. DOI: 10.1039/c7sc02833d.

(51) Lettenmeier, P.; Majchel, J.; Wang, L.; Saveleva, V. A.; Zafeiratos, S.; Savinova, E. R.; Gallet, J. J.; Bournel, F.; Gago, A. S.; Friedrich, K. A. Highly active nano-sized iridium catalysts: synthesis and operando spectroscopy in a proton exchange membrane electrolyzer. *Chemical Science* **2018**, *9* (14), 3570-3579. DOI: 10.1039/c8sc00555a.

(52) Quinson, J.; Mathiesen, J. K.; Schroder, J.; Dworzak, A.; Bizzotto, F.; Zana, A.; Simonsen, S. B.; Kuhn, L. T.; Oezaslan, M.; Jensen, K. M. O.; et al. Teaching old precursors new tricks: Fast room temperature synthesis of surfactant-free colloidal platinum nanoparticles. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science* **2020**, *577*, 319-328. DOI: 10.1016/j.jcis.2020.05.078.

(53) Kramm, U. I.; Marschall, R.; Rose, M. Pitfalls in Heterogeneous Thermal, Electro- and Photocatalysis. *ChemCatChem* **2019**, *11* (11), 2563-2574. DOI: 10.1002/cctc.201900137.

(54) a) Inaba, M.; Jensen, A. W.; Sievers, G. W.; Escudero-Escribano, M.; Zana, A.; Arenz, M. Benchmarking high surface area electrocatalysts in a gas diffusion electrode: measurement of oxygen reduction activities under realistic conditions. *Energy & Environmental Science* **2018**, *11* (4), 988-994. DOI: 10.1039/c8ee00019k. b) McCrory, C. C. L.; Jung, S. H.; Peters, J. C.; Jaramillo, T. F. Benchmarking Heterogeneous Electrocatalysts for the Oxygen Evolution Reaction. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **2013**, *135* (45), 16977-16987. DOI: 10.1021/ja407115p. c) Chen, J. G.; Jones, C. W.; Linic, S.; Stamenkovic, V. R. Best Practices in Pursuit of Topics in Heterogeneous Electrocatalysis. *ACS Catalysis* **2017**, *7* (9), 6392-6393. DOI: 10.1021/acscatal.7b02839.

(55) Polte, J. Fundamental growth principles of colloidal metal nanoparticles - a new perspective. *CrystEngComm* **2015**, *17* (36), 6809-6830. DOI: 10.1039/c5ce01014d.

(56) Wuithschick, M.; Birnbaum, A.; Witte, S.; Sztucki, M.; Vainio, U.; Pinna, N.; Rademann, K.; Emmerling, F.; Kraehnert, R.; Polte, J. Turkevich in New Robes: Key Questions Answered for the Most Common Gold Nanoparticle Synthesis. *ACS Nano* **2015**, *9* (7), 7052-7071. DOI: 10.1021/acsnano.5b01579.

(57) a) Quinson, J.; Jensen, K. M. Ø. From platinum atoms in molecules to colloidal nanoparticles: A review on reduction, nucleation and growth mechanisms. *Advances in Colloid and Interface Science* **2020**, *286*, 102300. DOI: 10.1016/j.cis.2020.102300. b) Calvin, J. J.; Brewer, A. S.; Alivisatos, A. P. The role of organic ligand shell structures in colloidal nanocrystal synthesis. *Nature Synthesis* **2022**, *1*, 127–137. DOI: 10.1038/s44160-022-00025-4.

(58) Koczkur, K. M.; Mourdikoudis, S.; Polavarapu, L.; Skrabalak, S. E. Polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP) in nanoparticle synthesis. *Dalton Transactions* 2015, *44* (41), 17883-17905. DOI: 10.1039/c5dt02964c.
(59) Campisi, S.; Schiavoni, M.; Chan-Thaw, C. E.; Villa, A. Untangling the Role of the Capping Agent in Nanocatalysis: Recent Advances and Perspectives. *Catalysts* 2016, *6* (12), 185. DOI: 10.3390/catal6120185.

(60) Rossi, L. M.; Fiorio, J. L.; Garcia, M. A. S.; Ferraz, C. P. The role and fate of capping ligands in colloidally prepared metal nanoparticle catalysts. *Dalton Transactions* **2018**, *47* (17), 5889-5915. DOI: 10.1039/c7dt04728b.

(61) Heuer-Jungemann, A.; Feliu, N.; Bakaimi, I.; Hamaly, M.; Alkilany, A.; Chakraborty, I.; Masood, A.; Casula, M. F.; Kostopoulou, A.; Oh, E.; et al. The Role of Ligands in the Chemical Synthesis and Applications of Inorganic Nanoparticles. *Chemical Reviews* **2019**, *119* (8), 4819-4880. DOI: 10.1021/acs.chemrev.8b00733.

(62) Altmann, L.; Sturm, H.; Brauns, E.; Lang, W.; Baumer, M. Novel catalytic gas sensors based on functionalized nanoparticle layers. *Sensors and Actuators B-Chemical* **2012**, *174*, 145-152. DOI: 10.1016/j.snb.2012.07.057.

(63) Huang, W. X.; Hua, Q.; Cao, T. Influence and Removal of Capping Ligands on Catalytic Colloidal Nanoparticles. *Catalysis Letters* 2014, *144* (8), 1355-1369. DOI: 10.1007/s10562-014-1306-5.
(64) Niu, Z. Q.; Li, Y. D. Removal and Utilization of Capping Agents in Nanocatalysis. *Chemistry of Materials* 2014, *26* (1), 72-83. DOI: 10.1021/cm4022479.

(65) Arminio-Ravelo, J. A.; Quinson, J.; Pedersen, M. A.; Kirkensgaard, J. J. K.; Arenz, M.; Escudero-Escribano, M. Synthesis of Iridium Nanocatalysts for Water Oxidation in Acid: Effect of the Surfactant. *ChemCatChem* **2020**, *12* (5), 1282-1287. DOI: 10.1002/cctc.201902190.

(66) Lu, L. F.; Zou, S. H.; Fang, B. Z. The Critical Impacts of Ligands on Heterogeneous Nanocatalysis: A Review. ACS Catalysis **2021**, *11* (10), 6020-6058. DOI: 10.1021/acscatal.1c00903.

(67) Wu, L. H.; Willis, J. J.; McKay, I. S.; Diroll, B. T.; Qin, J.; Cargnello, M.; Tassone, C. J. High-temperature crystallization of nanocrystals into three-dimensional superlattices. *Nature* **2017**, *548* (7666), 197-+. DOI: 10.1038/nature23308.

(68) Wang, X.; Sonstrom, P.; Arndt, D.; Stover, J.; Zielasek, V.; Borchert, H.; Thiel, K.; Al-Shamery, K.; Baumer, M. Heterogeneous catalysis with supported platinum colloids: A systematic study of the interplay between support and functional ligands. *Journal of Catalysis* **2011**, *278* (1), 143-152. DOI: 10.1016/j.jcat.2010.11.020.

(69) Jurgens, B.; Borchert, H.; Ahrenstorf, K.; Sonstrom, P.; Pretorius, A.; Schowalter, M.; Gries, K.; Zielasek, V.; Rosenauer, A.; Weller, H.; et al. Colloidally Prepared Nanoparticles for the Synthesis of Structurally Well-Defined and Highly Active Heterogeneous Catalysts. *Angewandte Chemie-International Edition* **2008**, *47* (46), 8946-8949. DOI: 10.1002/anie.200802188.

(70) Yin, H.-J.; Zhou, J.-H.; Zhang, Y.-W. Shaping well-defined noble-metal-based nanostructures for fabricating high-performance electrocatalysts: advances and perspectives. *Inorganic Chemistry Frontiers* **2019**, *6*, 2582-2618. DOI: 10.1039/c9qi00689c.

(71) Rodrigues, T. S.; Zhao, M.; Yang, T. H.; Gilroy, K. D.; da Silva, A. G. M.; Camargo, P. H. C.; Xia, Y. N. Synthesis of Colloidal Metal Nanocrystals: A Comprehensive Review on the Reductants. *Chemistry-a European Journal* **2018**, *24* (64), 16944-16963. DOI: 10.1002/chem.201802194.

(72) Li, D. G.; Wang, C.; Tripkovic, D.; Sun, S. H.; Markovic, N. M.; Stamenkovic, V. R. Surfactant Removal for Colloidal Nanoparticles from Solution Synthesis: The Effect on Catalytic Performance. *ACS Catalysis* **2012**, *2* (7), 1358-1362. DOI: 10.1021/cs300219j.

(73) Naresh, N.; Wasim, F. G. S.; Ladewig, B. P.; Neergat, M. Removal of surfactant and capping agent from Pd nanocubes (Pd-NCs) using tert-butylamine: its effect on electrochemical characteristics. *Journal of Materials Chemistry A* **2013**, *1* (30), 8553-8559. DOI: 10.1039/c3ta11183k.

(74) Luo, M. H.; Hong, Y. C.; Yao, W. F.; Huang, C. P.; Xu, Q. J.; Wu, Q. Facile removal of polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP) adsorbates from Pt alloy nanoparticles. *Journal of Materials Chemistry A* **2015**, *3* (6), 2770-2775. DOI: 10.1039/c4ta05250a.

(75) Johnson, P.; Trybala, A.; Starov, V.; Pinfield, V. J. Effect of synthetic surfactants on the environment and the potential for substitution by biosurfactants. *Advances in Colloid and Interface Science* **2021**, *288*. DOI: 10.1016/j.cis.2020.102340.

(76) Quinson, J. Surfactant-free precious metal colloidal nanoparticles for catalysis. *Frontiers in Nanotechnology* **2021**, *3*, 770281. DOI: 10.3389/fnano.2021.770281.

(77) Pu, H.; Dai, H.; Zhang, T.; Dong, K.; Wang, Y.; Deng, Y. Metal nanoparticles with clean surface: The importance and progress. *Current Opinion in Electrochemistry* **2022**, *32*, 100927. DOI: 10.1016/j.coelec.2021.100927.

(78) Shen, Y.; Gee, M. Y.; Greytak, A. B. Purification technologies for colloidal nanocrystals. *Chemical Communications* **2017**, *53* (5), 827-841. DOI: 10.1039/c6cc07998a.

(79) a) Collins, G.; Davitt, F.; O'Dwyer, C.; Holmes, J. D. Comparing Thermal and Chemical Removal of Nanoparticle Stabilizing Ligands: Effect on Catalytic Activity and Stability. *ACS Applied Nano Materials* **2018**, *1* (12), 7129-7138. DOI: 10.1021/acsanm.8b02019. b) Park, J. Y.; Aliaga, C.; Renzas, J. R.; Lee, H.; Somorjai, G. A. The Role of Organic Capping Layers of Platinum Nanoparticles in Catalytic Activity of CO Oxidation. *Catalysis Letters* **2009**, *129* (1-2), 1-6. DOI: 10.1007/s10562-009-9871-8. c) Nelson, A.; Zong, Y.; Fritz, K. E.; Suntivich, J.; Robinson, R. D. Assessment of soft ligand removal strategies: alkylation as a promising alternative to high-temperature treatments for colloidal nanoparticle surfaces. *ACS Materials Letters* **2019**, *1*, 177-184. DOI: 10.1021/acsmaterialslett.9b00089.

(80) Liu, W.; Wang, H. L. Influence of surface capping on oxygen reduction catalysis: A case study of 1.7 nm Pt nanoparticles. *Surface Science* **2016**, *648*, 120-125. DOI: 10.1016/j.susc.2015.10.023.

(81) Lopez-Sanchez, J. A.; Dimitratos, N.; Hammond, C.; Brett, G. L.; Kesavan, L.; White, S.; Miedziak, P.; Tiruvalam, R.; Jenkins, R. L.; Carley, A. F.; et al. Facile removal of stabilizer-ligands from supported gold nanoparticles. *Nature Chemistry* **2011**, *3* (7), 551-556. DOI: 10.1038/nchem.1066.

(82) Donoeva, B.; de Jongh, P. E. Colloidal Au Catalyst Preparation: Selective Removal of Polyvinylpyrrolidone from Active Au Sites. *ChemCatChem* **2018**, *10* (5), 989-997. DOI: 10.1002/cctc.201701760.

(83) a) Rioux, R. M.; Song, H.; Grass, M.; Habas, S.; Niesz, K.; Hoefelmeyer, J. D.; Yang, P.; Somorjai, G. A. Monodisperse platinum nanoparticles of well-defined shape: synthesise characterization, catalytic properties and future prospects. *Topics in Catalysis* **2006**, *39* (3-4), 167-174. DOI: 10.1007/s11244-006-0053-2. b) Simakova, I. L.; Demidova, Y. S.; Glasel, J.; Murzina, E. V.; Schubert, T.; Prosvirin, I. P.; Etzold, B. J. M.; Murzin, D. Y. Controlled synthesis of PVP-based carbon-supported Ru nanoparticles: synthesis approaches, characterization, capping agent removal and catalytic behavior. *Catalysis Science & Technology* **2016**, *6* (24), 8490-8504. DOI: 10.1039/c6cy02086k.

(84) Cargnello, M.; Chen, C.; Diroll, B. T.; Doan-Nguyen, V. V. T.; Gorte, R. J.; Murray, C. B. Efficient Removal of Organic Ligands from Supported Nanocrystals by Fast Thermal Annealing Enables Catalytic Studies on Well-Defined Active Phases. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **2015**, *137* (21), 6906-6911. DOI: 10.1021/jacs.5b03333.

(85) Aliaga, C.; Park, J. Y.; Yamada, Y.; Lee, H. S.; Tsung, C. K.; Yang, P. D.; Somorjai, G. A. Sum Frequency Generation and Catalytic Reaction Studies of the Removal of Organic Capping Agents from Pt Nanoparticles by UV-Ozone Treatment. *Journal of Physical Chemistry C* **2009**, *113* (15), 6150-6155. DOI: 10.1021/jp8108946.

(86) a) Solla-Gullon, J.; Montiel, V.; Aldaz, A.; Clavilier, J. Electrochemical characterisation of platinum nanoparticles prepared by microemulsion: how to clean them without loss of crystalline surface structure. *Journal of Electroanalytical Chemistry* 2000, *491* (1-2), 69-77. DOI: 10.1016/s0022-0728(00)00306-5. b) Solla-Gullon, J.; Montiel, V.; Aldaz, A.; Clavilier, J. Synthesis and electrochemical decontamination of platinum-palladium nanoparticles prepared by water-in-oil microemulsion. *Journal of the Electrochemical Society* 2003, *150* (2), E104-E109. DOI: 10.1149/1.1534600. c) Lu, L. F.; Lou, B. H.; Zou, S. H.; Kobayashi, H.; Liu, J. J.; Xiao, L. P.; Fan, J. Robust Removal of Ligands from Noble Metal Nanoparticles by Electrochemical Strategies. *ACS Catalysis* 2018, *8* (9), 8484-8492. DOI: 10.1021/acscatal.8b01627. d) Yang, H. Z.; Tang, Y. G.; Zou, S. Z. Electrochemical removal of surfactants from Pt nanocubes. *Electrochemistry Communications* 2014, *38*, 134-137. DOI: 10.1016/j.elecom.2013.11.019.

(87) a) Zhou, S.; Huo, D.; Goines, S.; Yang, T. H.; Lyu, Z. H.; Zhao, M.; Gilroy, K. D.; Wu, Y. R.; Hood, Z. D.; Xie, M. H.; et al. Enabling Complete Ligand Exchange on the Surface of Gold Nanocrystals through the Deposition and Then Etching of Silver. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **2018**, *140* (38), 11898-11901. DOI: 10.1021/jacs.8b06464. b) Nalajala, N.; Saleha, W. F. G.; Ladewig, B. P.; Neergat, M. Sodium borohydride treatment: a simple and effective process for the removal of stabilizer and capping agents from shape-controlled palladium nanoparticles. *Chemical Communications* **2014**, *50* (66), 9365-9368. DOI: 10.1039/c4cc02747g.

(88) Yang, L. N.; Cheng, G. Z.; Guo, Y. S.; Li, D.; Xia, L. X.; Liu, H. Y. Steam treatment: a facile and effective process for the removal of PVP from shape-controlled palladium nanoparticles. *Nanoscale* **2018**, *10* (25), 11992-11996. DOI: 10.1039/c8nr02996b.

(89) van Hoof, A. J. F.; Michel-Ligthart, D. A. J.; Friedrich, H.; Hensen, E. J. M. The Influence and Removability of Colloidal Capping Agents on Carbon Monoxide Hydrogenation by Zirconia-Supported Rhodium Nanoparticles. *ChemCatChem* **2017**, *9* (6), 1018-1024. DOI: 10.1002/cctc.201601378.

(90) Kawasaki, H. Surfactant-free solution-based synthesis of metallic nanoparticles toward efficient use of the nanoparticles' surfaces and their application in catalysis and chemo-/biosensing. *Nanotechnology Reviews* **2013**, *2* (1), 5-25. DOI: 10.1515/ntrev-2012-0079.

(91) Mondloch, J. E.; Ozkar, S.; Finke, R. G. "Weakly Ligated, Labile Ligand" Nanoparticles: The Case of Ir(0)(n)center dot(H+Cl-)(m). ACS Omega 2018, 3 (11), 14538-14550. DOI: 10.1021/acsomega.8b01569.
(92) Wang, Y.; Wang, X. D. Solvent and Simple Ion-Stabilized Metal Nanoclusters: Chemical Synthesis and Application. Metal Nanoclusters in Catalysis and Materials Science: the Issue of Size Control 2008, 327-340. DOI: 10.1016/b978-044453057-8.50021-0.

(93) Curtis, A. C.; Duff, D. G.; Edwards, P. P.; Jefferson, D. A.; Johnson, B. F. G.; Kirkland, A. I.; Wallace, A. S. PREPARATION AND STRUCTURAL CHARACTERIZATION OF AN UNPROTECTED COPPER SOL. *Journal of Physical Chemistry* **1988**, *92* (8), 2270-2275. DOI: 10.1021/j100319a035.

(94) Cardenastrivino, G.; Klabunde, K. J.; Dale, E. B. LIVING COLLOIDAL PALLADIUM IN NONAQUEOUS SOLVENTS - FORMATION, STABILITY, AND FILM-FORMING PROPERTIES - CLUSTERING OF METAL ATOMS IN ORGANIC MEDIA .14. *Langmuir* **1987**, *3* (6), 986-992. DOI: 10.1021/la00078a019.

(95) a) Amiens, C.; Decaro, D.; Chaudret, B.; Bradley, J. S.; Mazel, R.; Roucau, C. SELECTIVE SYNTHESIS, CHARACTERIZATION, AND SPECTROSCOPIC STUDIES ON A NOVEL CLASS OF REDUCED PLATINUM AND PALLADIUM PARTICLES STABILIZED BY CARBONYL AND PHOSPHINE-LIGANDS. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **1993**, *115* (24), 11638-11639. DOI: 10.1021/ja00077a089. b) Rodriguez, A.; Amiens, C.; Chaudret, B.; Casanove, M. J.; Lecante, P.; Bradley, J. S. Synthesis and isolation of cuboctahedral and icosahedral platinum nanoparticles. Ligand-dependent structures. *Chemistry of Materials* **1996**, *8* (8), 1978-1986. DOI: 10.1021/cm960338I.

(96) Dassenoy, F.; Philippot, K.; Ould-Ely, T.; Amiens, C.; Lecante, P.; Snoeck, E.; Mosset, A.; Casanove, M. J.; Chaudret, B. Platinum nanoparticles stabilized by CO and octanethiol ligands or polymers: FT-IR, NMR, HREM and WAXS studies. *New Journal of Chemistry* **1998**, *22* (7), 703-711. DOI: 10.1039/a709245h. (97) Wang, Y.; Ren, J. W.; Deng, K.; Gui, L. L.; Tang, Y. Q. Preparation of tractable platinum, rhodium, and ruthenium nanoclusters with small particle size in organic media. *Chemistry of Materials* **2000**, *12* (6), 1622-1627. DOI: 10.1021/cm0000853.

(98) Zuo, B. J.; Wang, Y.; Wang, Q. L.; Zhang, J. L.; Wu, N. Z.; Peng, L. D.; Gui, L. L.; Wang, X. D.; Wang, R. M.; Yu, D. P. An efficient ruthenium catalyst for selective hydrogenation of ortho-chloronitrobenzene prepared via assembling ruthenium and tin oxide nanoparticles. *Journal of Catalysis* **2004**, *222* (2), 493-498. DOI: 10.1016/j.jcat.2003.12.007.

(99) Schulz-Dobrick, M.; Sarathy, K. V.; Jansen, M. Surfactant-free synthesis and functionalization of gold nanoparticles. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **2005**, *127* (37), 12816-12817. DOI: 10.1021/ja054734t.

(100) Jia, F. L.; Wang, F. F.; Lin, Y.; Zhang, L. Z. Microwave-Induced Formation of Platinum Nanostructured Networks with Superior Electrochemical Activity and Stability. *Chemistry-a European Journal* **2011**, *17* (51), 14603-14610. DOI: 10.1002/chem.201101179.

(101) a) Garnweitner, G.; Niederberger, M. Nonaqueous and surfactant-free synthesis routes to metal oxide nanoparticles. *Journal of the American Ceramic Society* **2006**, *89* (6), 1801-1808. DOI: 10.1111/j.1551-2916.2006.01005.x. b) Pinna, N.; Niederberger, M. Surfactant-free nonaqueous

synthesis of metal oxide nanostructures. *Angewandte Chemie-International Edition* **2008**, *47* (29), 5292-5304. DOI: 10.1002/anie.200704541.

(102) Wolf, M.; Fischer, N.; Claeys, M. Surfactant-free synthesis of monodisperse cobalt oxide nanoparticles of tunable size and oxidation state developed by factorial design. *Materials Chemistry and Physics* **2018**, *213*, 305-312. DOI: 10.1016/j.matchemphys.2018.04.021.

(103) Staniuk, M.; Zindel, D.; van Beek, W.; Hirsch, O.; Kranzlin, N.; Niederberger, M.; Koziej, D. Matching the organic and inorganic counterparts during nucleation and growth of copper-based nanoparticles - in situ spectroscopic studies. *CrystEngComm* **2015**, *17* (36), 6962-6971. DOI: 10.1039/c5ce00454c.

(104) a) Esumi, K.; Tano, T.; Meguro, K. PREPARATION OF ORGANOPALLADIUM PARTICLES FROM THERMAL-DECOMPOSITION OF ITS ORGANIC-COMPLEX IN ORGANIC-SOLVENTS. *Langmuir* **1989**, *5* (1), 268-270. DOI: 10.1021/la00085a051. b) Chen, Y. X.; He, B. L.; Liu, H. F. Preparation and characterization of palladium colloidal nanoparticles by thermal decomposition of palladium acetate with microwave irradiation. *Journal of Materials Science & Technology* **2005**, *21* (2), 187-190.

(105) Xie, J. P.; Zhang, Q. B.; Lee, J. Y.; Wang, D. I. C. The Synthesis of SERS-Active Gold Nanoflower Tags for In Vivo Applications. *ACS Nano* **2008**, *2* (12), 2473-2480. DOI: 10.1021/nn800442q.

(106) Duff, D. G.; Baiker, A.; Edwards, P. P. A NEW HYDROSOL OF GOLD CLUSTERS .1. FORMATION AND PARTICLE-SIZE VARIATION. *Langmuir* **1993**, *9* (9), 2301-2309. DOI: 10.1021/la00033a010.

(107) Zhang, N.; Tsao, K. C.; Pan, Y. T.; Yang, H. Control of the composition of Pt-Ni electrocatalysts in surfactant-free synthesis using neat N-formylpiperidine. *Nanoscale* **2016**, *8* (5), 2548-2553. DOI: 10.1039/c5nr08362a.

(108) Lin, P. A.; Sankaran, R. M. Plasma-Assisted Dissociation of Organometallic Vapors for Continuous, Gas-Phase Preparation of Multimetallic Nanoparticles. *Angewandte Chemie-International Edition* **2011**, *50* (46), 10953-10956. DOI: 10.1002/anie.201101881.

(109) Kumar, A.; Kang, S.; Larriba-Andaluz, C.; Ouyang, H.; Hogan, C. J.; Sankaran, R. M. Ligand-free Ni nanocluster formation at atmospheric pressure via rapid quenching in a microplasma process. *Nanotechnology* **2014**, *25* (38). DOI: 10.1088/0957-4484/25/38/385601.

(110) a) Kammler, H. K.; Madler, L.; Pratsinis, S. E. Flame synthesis of nanoparticles. *Chemical Engineering & Technology* **2001**, *24* (6), 583-596. DOI: 10.1002/1521-4125(200106)24:6<583::aid-ceat583>3.0.co;2-h. b) Strobel, R.; Stark, W. J.; Madler, L.; Pratsinis, S. E.; Baiker, A. Flame-made platinum/alumina: structural properties and catalytic behaviour in enantioselective hydrogenation. *Journal of Catalysis* **2003**, *213* (2), 296-304. DOI: 10.1016/s0021-9517(02)00082-9.

(111) Hu, Y. X.; Liu, Y. Z.; Sun, Y. G. Mesoporous Colloidal Superparticles of Platinum-Group Nanocrystals with Surfactant-Free Surfaces and Enhanced Heterogeneous Catalysis. *Advanced Functional Materials* **2015**, *25* (11), 1638-1647. DOI: 10.1002/adfm.201403664.

(112) a) Chen, H.; Wang, D. L.; Yu, Y. C.; Newton, K. A.; Muller, D. A.; Abruna, H.; DiSalvo, F. J. A Surfactant-Free Strategy for Synthesizing, and Processing Intermetallic Platinum-Based Nanoparticle Catalysts. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **2012**, *134* (44), 18453-18459. DOI:

10.1021/ja308674b. b) Fernandez, E.; Rivero-Crespo, M. A.; Dominguez, I.; Rubio-Marques, P.; Oliver-Meseguer, J.; Liu, L. C.; Cabrero-Antonino, M.; Gavara, R.; Hernandez-Garrido, J. C.; Boronat, M.; et al. Base-Controlled Heck, Suzuki, and Sonogashira Reactions Catalyzed by Ligand-Free Platinum or Palladium Single Atom and Sub-Nanometer Clusters. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **2019**, *141* (5), 1928-1940. DOI: 10.1021/jacs.8b07884. c) Yang, M.; Zhang, J. Z.; Cao, Y. Y.; Wu, M. F.; Qian, K.; Zhang, Z. H.; Liu, H. Y.; Wang, J. G.; Chen, W.; Huang, W. X. Facet Sensitivity of Capping Ligand-Free Ag Crystals in CO₂ Electrochemical Reduction to CO. *ChemCatChem* **2018**, *10* (22), 5128-5134. DOI: 10.1002/cctc.201801423. d) Guo, T. T.; Yu, G.; Zhang, Y.; Xiang, H. Y.; Chang, F. F.; Zhong, C. J. Synthesis of Ultralong, Monodispersed, and Surfactant-Free Gold Nanowire Catalysts: Growth Mechanism and Electrocatalytic Properties for Methanol Oxidation Reaction. *Journal of Physical Chemistry C* **2017**, *121* (5), 3108-3116. DOI: 10.1021/acs.jpcc.6b11608. (113) Sauvageau, J. F.; Turgeon, S.; Chevallier, P.; Fortin, M. A. Colloidal Suspensions of Platinum Group Metal Nanoparticles (Pt, Pd, Rh) Synthesized by Dielectric Barrier Discharge Plasma (DBD). *Particle & Particle Systems Characterization* **2018**, *35* (4). DOI: 10.1002/ppsc.201700365.

(114) Saha, D.; Bojesen, E. D.; Jensen, K. M. O.; Dippel, A. C.; Iversen, B. B. Formation Mechanisms of Pt and Pt3Gd Nanoparticles under Solvothermal Conditions: An in Situ Total X-ray Scattering Study. *Journal of Physical Chemistry C* **2015**, *119* (23), 13357-13362. DOI: 10.1021/acs.jpcc.5b03394.

(115) Zheng, Y. Y.; Dou, Z. J.; Fang, Y. X.; Li, M. W.; Wu, X.; Zeng, J. H.; Hou, Z. H.; Liao, S. J. Platinum nanoparticles on carbon-nanotube support prepared by room-temperature reduction with H_2 in ethylene glycol/water mixed solvent as catalysts for polymer electrolyte membrane fuel cells. *Journal of Power Sources* **2016**, *306*, 448-453. DOI: 10.1016/j.jpowsour.2015.12.077.

(116) Briskeby, S. T.; Tsypkin, M.; Tunold, R.; Sunde, S. Preparation of electrocatalysts by reduction of precursors with sodium citrate. *RSC Advances* **2014**, *4* (83), 44185-44192. DOI: 10.1039/c4ra06639a. (117) Fu, X. Y.; Wang, Y. A.; Wu, N. Z.; Gui, L. L.; Tang, Y. Q. Shape-selective preparation and properties of oxalate-stabilized Pt colloid. *Langmuir* **2002**, *18* (12), 4619-4624. DOI: 10.1021/la020087x.

(118) a) Wang, J.; Zhang, X. B.; Wang, Z. L.; Wang, L. M.; Xing, W.; Liu, X. One-step and rapid synthesis of "clean" and monodisperse dendritic Pt nanoparticles and their high performance toward methanol oxidation and p-nitrophenol reduction. *Nanoscale* **2012**, *4* (5), 1549-1552. DOI: 10.1039/c2nr11912a. b) Qin, Y. L.; Zhang, X. B.; Wang, J.; Wang, L. M. Rapid and shape-controlled synthesis of "clean" star-like and concave Pd nanocrystallites and their high performance toward methanol oxidation. *Journal of Materials Chemistry* **2012**, *22* (30), 14861-14863. DOI: 10.1039/c2jm32682e.

(119) a) Zhang, H. C.; Shang, Y. Y.; Zhao, J.; Wang, J. J. Enhanced Electrocatalytic Activity of Ethanol Oxidation Reaction on Palladium-Silver Nanoparticles via Removable Surface Ligands. *ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces* **2017**, *9* (19), 16635-16643. DOI: 10.1021/acsami.7b01874. b) Scheeren, C. W.; Machado, G.; Dupont, J.; Fichtner, P. F. P.; Texeira, S. R. Nanoscale Pt(0) particles prepared in imidazolium room temperature ionic liquids: Synthesis from an organometallic precursor, characterization, and catalytic properties in hydrogenation reactions. *Inorganic Chemistry* **2003**, *42* (15), 4738-4742. DOI: 10.1021/ic034453r.

(120) Wang, W.; Leng, F.; Zhan, L.; Chang, Y.; Yang, X. X.; Lan, J.; Huang, C. Z. One-step prepared fluorescent copper nanoclusters for reversible pH-sensing. *Analyst* **2014**, *139* (12), 2990-2993. DOI: 10.1039/c4an00113c.

(121) Yang, J.; Deivaraj, T. C.; Too, H. P.; Lee, J. Y. Acetate stabilization of metal nanoparticles and its role in the preparation of metal nanoparticles in ethylene glycol. *Langmuir* **2004**, *20* (10), 4241-4245. DOI: 10.1021/la0361159.

(122) Liu, Y.; Chen, L. F.; Cheng, T.; Guo, H. Y.; Sun, B.; Wang, Y. Preparation and application in assembling high-performance fuel cell catalysts of colloidal PtCu alloy nanoclusters. *Journal of Power Sources* **2018**, *395*, 66-76. DOI: 10.1016/j.jpowsour.2018.05.055.

(123) Zhang, B. H.; Xue, Y. G.; Sun, H.; Jiang, A. N.; Li, Z. H.; Hao, J. C. A green synthesis of "naked" Pt and PtPd catalysts for highly efficient methanol electrooxidation. *RSC Advances* **2016**, *6* (61), 56083-56090. DOI: 10.1039/c6ra09516j.

(124) a) Ott, L. S.; Finke, R. G. Transition-metal nanocluster stabilization for catalysis: A critical review of ranking methods and putative stabilizers. *Coordination Chemistry Reviews* **2007**, *251* (9-10), 1075-1100. DOI: 10.1016/j.ccr.2006.08.016. b) Ozkar, S.; Finke, R. G. Transition-metal nanocluster stabilization fundamental studies: Hydrogen phosphate as a simple, effective, readily available, robust, and previously unappreciated stabilizer for well-formed, isolable, and redissolvable Ir(0) and other transition-metal nanoclusters. *Langmuir* **2003**, *19* (15), 6247-6260. DOI: 10.1021/la0207522.

(125) Danilenko, M. V.; Guterman, V. E.; Vetrova, E. V.; Metelitsa, A. V.; Paperzh, K. O.; Pankov, I. V.; Safronenko, O. I. Nucleation/growth of the platinum nanoparticles under the liquid phase synthesis.

Colloids and Surfaces a-Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects **2021**, *630*, 127525. DOI: 10.1016/j.colsurfa.2021.127525.

(126) Zhang, J. M.; Chaker, M.; Ma, D. L. Pulsed laser ablation based synthesis of colloidal metal nanoparticles for catalytic applications. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science* **2017**, *489*, 138-149. DOI: 10.1016/j.jcis.2016.07.050.

(127) Zhang, D. S.; Liu, J.; Li, P. F.; Tian, Z. F.; Liang, C. H. Recent Advances in Surfactant-Free, Surface-Charged, and Defect-Rich Catalysts Developed by Laser Ablation and Processing in Liquids. *ChemNanoMat* **2017**, *3* (8), 512-533. DOI: 10.1002/cnma.201700079.

(128) Streubel, R.; Barcikowski, S.; Gokce, B. Continuous multigram nanoparticle synthesis by high-power, high-repetition-rate ultrafast laser ablation in liquids. *Optics Letters* **2016**, *41* (7), 1486-1489. DOI: 10.1364/ol.41.001486.

(129) Brandiele, R.; Guadagnini, A.; Girardi, L.; Drazi, G.; Dalconi, M. C.; Rizzi, G. A.; Amendola, V.; Durante, C. Climbing the oxygen reduction reaction volcano plot with laser ablation synthesis of PtxY nanoalloys. *Catalysis Science & Technology* **2020**, *10* (14), 4503-4508. DOI: 10.1039/d0cy00983k. (130) Holade, Y.; Hebie, S.; Maximova, K.; Sentis, M.; Delaporte, P.; Kokoh, K. B.; Napporn, T. W.; Kabashin, A. V. Bare laser-synthesized palladium-gold alloy nanoparticles as efficient electrocatalysts for glucose oxidation for energy conversion applications. *Catalysis Science & Technology* **2020**, *10* (23), 7955-7964. DOI: 10.1039/d0cy01323d.

(131) Kohsakowski, S.; Streubel, R.; Radev, I.; Peinecke, V.; Barcikowski, S.; Marzun, G.; Reichenberger, S. First PEM fuel cell based on ligand-free, laser-generated platinum nanoparticles. *Applied Surface Science* **2019**, *467*, 486-492. DOI: 10.1016/j.apsusc.2018.10.145.

(132) Alinejad, S.; Quinson, J.; Wiberg, G. K. H.; Schlegel, N.; Zhang, D.; Li, Y.; Reichenberger, S.; Barcikowski, S.; Arenz, M. Electrochemical Reduction of CO₂ on Au Electrocatalysts in a Zero-Gap, Half-Cell Gas Diffusion Electrode Setup: a Systematic Performance Evaluation and Comparison to an H-cell Setup. *ChemElectroChem* **2022**. DOI: 10.1002/celc.202200341.

(133) Kohsakowski, S.; Seiser, F.; Wiederrecht, J. P.; Reichenberger, S.; Vinnay, T.; Barcikowski, S.; Marzun, G. Effective size separation of laser-generated, surfactant-free nanoparticles by continuous centrifugation. *Nanotechnology* **2020**, *31* (9), 095603. DOI: 10.1088/1361-6528/ab55bd.

(134) Zhang, D. S.; Choi, W.; Jakobi, J.; Kalus, M. R.; Barcikowski, S.; Cho, S. H.; Sugioka, K. Spontaneous Shape Alteration and Size Separation of Surfactant-Free Silver Particles Synthesized by Laser Ablation in Acetone during Long-Period Storage. *Nanomaterials* **2018**, *8* (7), 539. DOI: 10.3390/nano8070529. (135) Rezaei, F.; Vanraes, P.; Nikiforov, A.; Morent, R.; De Geyter, N. Applications of Plasma-Liquid Systems: A Review. *Materials* **2019**, *12* (17), 2751. DOI: 10.3390/ma12172751.

(136) a) Treshchalov, A.; Erikson, H.; Puust, L.; Tsarenko, S.; Saar, R.; Vanetsev, A.; Tammeveski, K.; Sildos, I. Stabilizer-free silver nanoparticles as efficient catalysts for electrochemical reduction of oxygen. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science* **2017**, *491*, 358-366. DOI: 10.1016/j.jcis.2016.12.053. b) Saito, G.; Akiyama, T. Nanomaterial Synthesis Using Plasma Generation in Liquid. *Journal of Nanomaterials* **2015**, 123696. DOI: 10.1155/2015/123696.

(137) a) Rumbach, P.; Go, D. B. Perspectives on Plasmas in Contact with Liquids for Chemical Processing and Materials Synthesis. *Topics in Catalysis* 2017, *60* (12-14), 799-811. DOI: 10.1007/s11244-017-0745-9.
b) Yonezawa, T.; Cempel, D.; Nguyen, M. T. Microwave-Induced Plasma-In-Liquid Process for Nanoparticle Production. *Bulletin of the Chemical Society of Japan* 2018, *91* (12), 1781-1798. DOI: 10.1246/bcsj.20180285. c) Chen, Q.; Li, J. S.; Li, Y. F. A review of plasma-liquid interactions for nanomaterial synthesis. *Journal of Physics D-Applied Physics* 2015, *48* (42). DOI: 10.1088/0022-3727/48/42/424005. d) Horikoshi, S.; Serpone, N. In-liquid plasma: a novel tool in the fabrication of nanomaterials and in the treatment of wastewaters. *RSC Advances* 2017, *7* (75), 47196-47218. DOI: 10.1039/c7ra09600c.

(138) Bratescu, M. A.; Cho, S.-P.; Takai, O.; Saito, N. Size-Controlled Gold Nanoparticles Synthesized in Solution Plasma. *Journal of Physical Chemistry C* **2011**, *115* (50), 24569-24576. DOI: 10.1021/jp207447c. (139) Patel, J.; Nemcova, L.; Maguire, P.; Graham, W. G.; Mariotti, D. Synthesis of surfactant-free electrostatically stabilized gold nanoparticles by plasma-induced liquid chemistry. *Nanotechnology* **2013**, *24* (24), 245604. DOI: 10.1088/0957-4484/24/24/245604.

(140) Huang, X.; Li, Y.; Zhong, X. Effect of experimental conditions on size control of Au nanoparticles synthesized by atmospheric microplasma electrochemistry. *Nanoscale Research Letters* **2014**, *9*, 572. DOI: 10.1186/1556-276x-9-572.

(141) Hu, X.; Cho, S.-P.; Takai, O.; Saito, N. Rapid Synthesis and Structural Characterization of Well-Defined Gold Clusters by Solution Plasma Sputtering. *Crystal Growth & Design* **2012**, *12* (1), 119-123. DOI: 10.1021/cg2008528.

(142) Koo, I. G.; Lee, M. S.; Shim, J. H.; Ahn, J. H.; Lee, W. M. Platinum nanoparticles prepared by a plasma-chemical reduction method. *Journal of Materials Chemistry* **2005**, *15* (38), 4125-4128. DOI: 10.1039/b508420b.

(143) Treshchalov, A.; sarenko, S.; Avarmaa, T.; Saar, R.; Lõhmus, A.; Vanetsev, A.; Sildos, I. He/H2 pulsed-discharge plasma as a tool for synthesis of surfactant-free colloidal silver nanoparticles in water. *Plasma Medicine* **2016**, *6* (1), 85-100. DOI: 10.1615/PlasmaMed.2016015839.

(144) Mun, M. K.; Lee, W. O.; Park, J. W.; Kim, D. S.; Yeom, G. Y.; Kim, D. W. Nanoparticles Synthesis and Modification using Solution Plasma Process. *Applied Science and Convergence Technology* **2017**, *26* (6), 164-173. DOI: 10.5757/asct.2017.26.6.164.

(145) Kim, H. J.; Shin, J. G.; Park, C. S.; Kum, D. S.; Shin, B. J.; Kim, J. Y.; Park, H. D.; Choi, M.; Tae, H. S. In-Liquid Plasma Process for Size- and Shape-Controlled Synthesis of Silver Nanoparticles by Controlling Gas Bubbles in Water. *Materials* **2018**, *11* (6), 891. DOI: 10.3390/ma11060891.

(146) Tokushige, M.; Nishikiori, T.; Ito, Y. Synthesis of Ni nanoparticles by plasma-induced cathodic discharge electrolysis. *Journal of Applied Electrochemistry* **2009**, *39* (10), 1665-1670. DOI: 10.1007/s10800-009-9856-8.

(147) Acayanka, E.; Djowe, A. T.; Laminsi, S.; Tchoumkwe, C. C.; Nzali, S.; Mbouopda, A. P.; Ndifon, P. T.; Gaigneaux, E. M. Plasma-Assisted Synthesis of TiO2 Nanorods by Gliding Arc Discharge Processing at Atmospheric Pressure for Photocatalytic Applications. *Plasma Chemistry and Plasma Processing* **2013**, *33* (4), 725-735. DOI: 10.1007/s11090-013-9455-7.

(148) Hussain, S.; Erikson, H.; Kongi, N.; Treshchalov, A.; Rahn, M.; Kook, M.; Merisalu, M.; Matisen, L.; Sammelselg, V.; Tammeveski, K. Oxygen Electroreduction on Pt Nanoparticles Deposited on Reduced Graphene Oxide and N-doped Reduced Graphene Oxide Prepared by Plasma-assisted Synthesis in Aqueous Solution. *ChemElectroChem* 2018, *5* (19), 2902-2911. DOI: 10.1002/celc.201800582.
(149) Ghosh, S.; Hawtof, R.; Rumbach, P.; Go, D. B.; Akolkar, R.; Sankaran, R. M. Quantitative Study of Electrochemical Reduction of Ag+ to Ag Nanoparticles in Aqueous Solutions by a Plasma Cathode. *Journal of the Electrochemical Society* 2017, *164* (13), D818-D824. DOI: 10.1149/2.0541713jes.
(150) Cyganowski, P.; Jermakowicz-Bartkowiak, D.; Jamroz, P.; Pohl, P.; Dzimitrowicz, A. Hydrogel-based nanocomposite catalyst containing uncoated gold nanoparticles synthesized using cold atmospheric pressure plasma for the catalytic decomposition of 4-nitrophenol. *Colloids and Surfaces a-Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects* 2019, *582*, 123886. DOI: 10.1016/j.colsurfa.2019.123886.
(151) Heravi, M. M.; Ghavidel, M.; Mohammadkhani, L. Beyond a solvent: triple roles of dimethylformamide in organic chemistry. *RSC Advances* 2018, *8* (49), 27832-27862. DOI: 10.1039/c8ra04985h.

(152) Pastoriza-Santos, I.; Liz-Marzan, L. M. N,N-Dimethylformamide as a Reaction Medium for Metal Nanoparticle Synthesis. *Advanced Functional Materials* **2009**, *19* (5), 679-688. DOI: 10.1002/adfm.200801566.
(153) Liu, X. F.; Li, C. H.; Xu, J. L.; Lv, J.; Zhu, M.; Guo, Y. B.; Cui, S.; Liu, H. B.; Wang, S.; Li, Y. L. Surfactantfree synthesis and functionalization of highly fluorescent gold quantum dots. *Journal of Physical Chemistry C* **2008**, *112* (29), 10778-10783. DOI: 10.1021/jp8028227.

(154) Yamamoto, H.; Yano, H.; Kouchi, H.; Obora, Y.; Arakawa, R.; Kawasaki, H. N,N-Dimethylformamidestabilized gold nanoclusters as a catalyst for the reduction of 4-nitrophenol. *Nanoscale* **2012**, *4* (14), 4148-4154. DOI: 10.1039/c2nr30222e.

(155) Kawasaki, H.; Yamamoto, H.; Fujimori, H.; Arakawa, R.; Iwasaki, Y.; Inada, M. Stability of the DMF-Protected Au Nanoclusters: Photochemical, Dispersion, and Thermal Properties. *Langmuir* **2010**, *26* (8), 5926-5933. DOI: 10.1021/la9038842.

(156) da Costa, L. P.; Formiga, A. L. B.; Mazali, I. O.; Sigoli, F. A. Spontaneous formation of highly dispersed spheroidal metallic silver nanoparticles in surfactant-free N,N-dimethylacetamide. *Synthetic Metals* **2011**, *161* (15-16), 1517-1521. DOI: 10.1016/j.synthmet.2011.04.018.

(157) Kawasaki, H.; Yamamoto, H.; Fujimori, H.; Arakawa, R.; Inada, M.; Iwasaki, Y. Surfactant-free solution synthesis of fluorescent platinum subnanoclusters. *Chemical Communications* **2010**, *46* (21), 3759-3761. DOI: 10.1039/b925117k.

(158) Duchesne, P. N.; Zhang, P. Local structure of fluorescent platinum nanoclusters. *Nanoscale* **2012**, *4* (14), 4199-4205. DOI: 10.1039/c2nr30500c.

(159) Hyotanishi, M.; Isomura, Y.; Yamamoto, H.; Kawasaki, H.; Obora, Y. Surfactant-free synthesis of palladium nanoclusters for their use in catalytic cross-coupling reactions. *Chemical Communications* **2011**, *47* (20), 5750-5752. DOI: 10.1039/c1cc11487e.

(160) Nagata, T.; Inoue, T.; Lin, X. J.; Ishimoto, S.; Nakamichi, S.; Oka, H.; Kondo, R.; Suzuki, T.; Obora, Y. Dimethylformamide-stabilised palladium nanoclusters catalysed coupling reactions of aryl halides with hydrosilanes/disilanes. *RSC Advances* **2019**, *9* (30), 17425-17431. DOI: 10.1039/c9ra02895a.

(161) Oikawa, K.; Itoh, S.; Yano, H.; Kawasaki, H.; Obora, Y. Preparation and use of DMF-stabilized iridium nanoclusters as methylation catalysts using methanol as the C1 source. *Chemical Communications* **2017**, *53* (6), 1080-1083. DOI: 10.1039/c6cc09279a.

(162) Cui, M. L.; Wang, C.; Yang, D. P.; Song, Q. J. Fluorescent iridium nanoclusters for selective determination of chromium(VI). *Microchimica Acta* **2018**, *185* (1). DOI: 10.1007/s00604-017-2553-0. (163) Maman, M. P.; Gratious, S.; Aparna, R. K.; Mandel, S. A N,N-dimethylformamide protected rhodium nanocluster with engrossing optical properties and its application. *Dalton Transactions* **2019**, *48* (19), 6522-6526. DOI: 10.1039/c9dt01036j.

(164) Isomura, Y.; Narushima, T.; Kawasaki, H.; Yonezawa, T.; Obora, Y. Surfactant-free single-nano-sized colloidal Cu nanoparticles for use as an active catalyst in Ullmann-coupling reaction. *Chemical Communications* **2012**, *48* (31), 3784-3786. DOI: 10.1039/c2cc30975k.

(165) Sahu, D. K.; Sahu, K. Characterizing optical properties, composition of stabilizer copper nanoclusters and its interaction with bovine serum albumin. *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology a-Chemistry* **2017**, *347*, 17-25. DOI: 10.1016/j.jphotochem.2017.07.002.

(166) Azuma, R.; Nakamichi, S.; Kimura, J.; Yano, H.; Kawasaki, H.; Suzuki, T.; Kondo, R.; Kanda, Y.; Shimizu, K.; Kato, K.; et al. Solution Synthesis of N,N-Dimethylformamide-Stabilized Iron-Oxide Nanoparticles as an Efficient and Recyclable Catalyst for Alkene Hydrosilylation. *ChemCatChem* **2018**, *10* (11), 2378-2382. DOI: 10.1002/cctc.201800161.

(167) Chiba, M.; Thanh, M. N.; Hasegawa, Y.; Obora, Y.; Kawasaki, H.; Yonezawa, T. Synthesis of binary solid solution Cu-Pd nanoparticles by DMF reduction for enhanced photoluminescence properties. *Journal of Materials Chemistry C* **2015**, *3* (3), 514-520. DOI: 10.1039/c4tc02129k.

(168) Cui, C. H.; Gan, L.; Heggen, M.; Rudi, S.; Strasser, P. Compositional segregation in shaped Pt alloy nanoparticles and their structural behaviour during electrocatalysis. *Nature Materials* **2013**, *12* (8), 765-771. DOI: 10.1038/nmat3668.

(169) Cui, C. H.; Gan, L.; Li, H. H.; Yu, S. H.; Heggen, M.; Strasser, P. Octahedral PtNi Nanoparticle Catalysts: Exceptional Oxygen Reduction Activity by Tuning the Alloy Particle Surface Composition. *Nano Letters* **2012**, *12* (11), 5885-5889. DOI: 10.1021/nl3032795.

(170) Gumeci, C.; Marathe, A.; Behrens, R. L.; Chaudhuri, J.; Korzeniewski, C. Solvothermal Synthesis and Electrochemical Characterization of Shape-Controlled Pt Nanocrystals. *Journal of Physical Chemistry C* **2014**, *118* (26), 14433-14440. DOI: 10.1021/jp5037525.

(171) Yao, W.; Gong, W. J.; Li, H. X.; Li, F. L.; Gao, J.; Lang, J. P. Synthesis of DMF-protected Au NPs with different size distributions and their catalytic performance in the Ullmann homocoupling of aryl iodides. *Dalton Transactions* **2014**, *43* (42), 15752-15759. DOI: 10.1039/c4dt01856g.

(172) George, A.; Gopalakrishnan, H.; Mandal, S. Surfactant free platinum nanocluster as fluorescent probe for the selective detection of Fe (III) ions in aqueous medium. *Sensors and Actuators B-Chemical* **2017**, *243*, 332-337. DOI: 10.1016/j.snb.2016.11.138.

(173) Ishida, J.; Nakatsuji, M.; Nagata, T.; Kawasaki, H.; Suzuki, T.; Obora, Y. Synthesis and Characterization of N,N-Dimethylformamide-Protected Palladium Nanoparticles and Their Use in the Suzuki-Miyaura Cross-Coupling Reaction. *ACS Omega* **2020**, *5* (16), 9598-9604. DOI: 10.1021/acsomega.0c01006.

(174) Yano, H.; Nakajima, Y.; Obora, Y. N,N-Dimethylformamide-stabilized palladium nanoclusters as catalyst for Migita-Kosugi-Stille cross-coupling reactions. *Journal of Organometallic Chemistry* **2013**, *745*, 258-261. DOI: 10.1016/j.jorganchem.2013.08.004.

(175) Asada, S.; Nito, A.; Miyagi, Y.; Ishida, J.; Obora, Y.; Sanda, F. Sonogashira-Hagihara and Mizoroki-Heck Coupling Polymerizations Catalyzed by Pd Nanoclusters. *Macromolecules* **2017**, *50* (10), 4084-4372. DOI: 10.1021/acs.macromol.7b00779.

(176) Onishi, K.; Oikawa, K.; Yano, H.; Suzuki, T.; Obora, Y. N,N-Dimethylformamide-stabilized palladium nanoclusters as a catalyst for Larock indole synthesis. *RSC Advances* **2018**, *8* (21), 11324-11329. DOI: 10.1039/c8ra01410h.

(177) Oka, H.; Kitai, K.; Suzuki, T.; Obora, Y. N,N-Dimethylformamide-stabilized copper nanoparticles as a catalyst precursor for Sonogashira-Hagihara cross coupling. *RSC Advances* **2017**, *7* (37), 22869-22874. DOI: 10.1039/c6ra27910d.

(178) Carpenter, M. K.; Moylan, T. E.; Kukreja, R. S.; Atwan, M. H.; Tessema, M. M. Solvothermal Synthesis of Platinum Alloy Nanoparticles for Oxygen Reduction Electrocatalysis. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **2012**, *134* (20), 8535-8542. DOI: 10.1021/ja300756y.

(179) Aran-Ais, R. M.; Dionigi, F.; Merzdorf, T.; Gocyla, M.; Heggen, M.; Dunin-Borkowski, R. E.; Gliech, M.; Solla-Gullon, J.; Herrero, E.; Feliu, J. M.; et al. Elemental Anisotropic Growth and Atomic-Scale Structure of Shape-Controlled Octahedral Pt-Ni-Co Alloy Nanocatalysts. *Nano Letters* **2015**, *15* (11), 7473-7480. DOI: 10.1021/acs.nanolett.5b03057.

(180) Kobayashi, M.; Yamaguchi, H.; Suzuki, T.; Obora, Y. Cross beta-alkylation of primary alcohols catalysed by DMF-stabilized iridium nanoparticles. *Organic & Biomolecular Chemistry* **2021**, *19* (9), 1950-1954. DOI: 10.1039/d1ob00045d.

(181) Ludwig, T.; Singh, A. R.; Norskov, J. K. Nonaqueous Solvent Adsorption on Transition Metal Surfaces with Density Functional Theory: Interaction of N,N-Dimethylformamide (DMF), Tetrahydrofuran (THF), and Dimethyl Sulfoxide (DMSO) with Ag, Cu, Pt, Rh, and Re Surfaces. *Journal of Physical Chemistry C* **2021**, *125* (40), 21943-21957. DOI: 10.1021/acs.jpcc.1c05724.

(182) Prat, D.; Wells, A.; Hayler, J.; Sneddon, H.; McElroy, C. R.; Abou-Shehada, S.; Dunn, P. J. CHEM21 selection guide of classical- and less classical-solvents. *Green Chemistry* **2016**, *18* (1), 288-296. DOI: 10.1039/c5gc01008j.

(183) Dong, H.; Chen, Y. C.; Feldmann, C. Polyol synthesis of nanoparticles: status and options regarding metals, oxides, chalcogenides, and non-metal elements. *Green Chemistry* **2015**, *17* (8), 4107-4132. DOI: 10.1039/c5gc00943j.

(184) Fievet, F.; Lagier, J. P.; Blin, B.; Beaudoin, B.; Figlarz, M. HOMOGENEOUS AND HETEROGENEOUS NUCLEATIONS IN THE POLYOL PROCESS FOR THE PREPARATION OF MICRON AND SUB-MICRON SIZE METAL PARTICLES. *Solid State Ionics* **1989**, *32-3*, 198-205. DOI: 10.1016/0167-2738(89)90222-1. (185) Aoun, N.; Schlange, A.; dos Santos, A. R.; Kunz, U.; Turek, T. Effect of the OH-/Pt Ratio During Polyol Synthesis on Metal Loading and Particle Size in DMFC Catalysts. *Electrocatalysis* **2016**, *7* (1), 13-21. DOI: 10.1007/s12678-015-0275-9.

(186) Liu, J.; Yin, J.; Feng, B.; Li, F.; Wang, F. One-pot synthesis of unprotected PtPd nanoclusters with enhanced catalytic activity, durability, and methanol-tolerance for oxygen reduction reaction. *Applied Surface Science* **2019**, *473*, 318-325. DOI: 10.1016/j.apsusc.2018.12.072.

(187) Bock, C.; Paquet, C.; Couillard, M.; Botton, G. A.; MacDougall, B. R. Size-selected synthesis of PtRu nano-catalysts: Reaction and size control mechanism. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **2004**, *126* (25), 8028-8037. DOI: 10.1021/ja0495819.

(188) Baranova, E. A.; Bock, C.; Ilin, D.; Wang, D.; MacDougall, B. Infrared spectroscopy on size-controlled synthesized Pt-based nano-catalysts. *Surface Science* **2006**, *600* (17), 3502-3511. DOI: 10.1016/j.susc.2006.07.005.

(189) Schrader, I.; Warneke, J.; Neumann, S.; Grotheer, S.; Swane, A. A.; Kirkensgaard, J. J. K.; Arenz, M.; Kunz, S. Surface Chemistry of "Unprotected" Nanoparticles: A Spectroscopic Investigation on Colloidal Particles. *Journal of Physical Chemistry C* **2015**, *119* (31), 17655-17661. DOI: 10.1021/acs.jpcc.5b03863. (190) Neumann, S.; Grotheer, S.; Tielke, J.; Schrader, I.; Quinson, J.; Zana, A.; Oezaslan, M.; Arenz, M.; Kunz, S. Nanoparticles in a box: a concept to isolate, store and re-use colloidal surfactant-free precious metal nanoparticles. *Journal of Materials Chemistry a* **2017**, *5* (13), 6140-6145. DOI: 10.1039/c7ta00628d.

(191) Steinfeldt, N.; Sebek, M.; Jahnisch, K. Liquid phase hydrogenation of methyl-N-Boc-pyrrole-2-carboxylate over tailored Ru nanoparticles. *Journal of Catalysis* **2012**, *289*, 249-258. DOI: 10.1016/j.jcat.2012.02.017.

(192) Bonet, F.; Delmas, V.; Grugeon, S.; Urbina, R. H.; Silvert, P. Y.; Tekaia-Elhsissen, K. Synthesis of monodisperse Au, Pt, Pd, Ru and Ir nanoparticles in ethylene glycol. *Nanostructured Materials* **1999**, *11* (8), 1277-1284. DOI: 10.1016/s0965-9773(99)00419-5.

(193) El-Sayed, H. A.; Weiss, A.; Olbrich, L. F.; Putro, G. P.; Gasteiger, H. A. OER Catalyst Stability Investigation Using RDE Technique: A Stability Measure or an Artifact? *Journal of the Electrochemical Society* **2019**, *166* (8), F458-F464. DOI: 10.1149/2.0301908jes.

(194) Qiu, J. S.; Zhang, H. Z.; Liang, C. H.; Li, J. W.; Zhao, Z. B. Co/CNF catalysts tailored by controlling the deposition of metal colloids onto CNFs: Preparation and catalytic properties. *Chemistry-a European Journal* **2006**, *12* (8), 2147-2151. DOI: 10.1002/chem.200500960.

(195) Wang, Y.; Zhang, J. L.; Wang, X. D.; Ren, J. W.; Zuo, B. J.; Tang, Y. Q. Metal nanoclusters stabilized with simple ions and solvents - promising building blocks for future catalysts. *Topics in Catalysis* **2005**, *35* (1-2), 35-41. DOI: 10.1007/s11244-005-3811-7.

(196) Kawasaki, H.; Kosaka, Y.; Myoujin, Y.; Narushima, T.; Yonezawa, T.; Arakawa, R. Microwaveassisted polyol synthesis of copper nanocrystals without using additional protective agents. *Chemical Communications* **2011**, *47* (27), 7740-7742. DOI: 10.1039/c1cc12346g.

(197) Darvishi, S.; Souissi, M.; Karimzadeh, F.; Kharaziha, M.; Sahara, R.; Ahadian, S. Ni nanoparticledecorated reduced graphene oxide for non-enzymatic glucose sensing: An experimental and modeling study. *Electrochimica Acta* **2017**, *240*, 388-398. DOI: 10.1016/j.electacta.2017.04.086.

(198) Sarkar, A.; Kapoor, S.; Mukherjee, T. Synthesis and characterisation of silver nanoparticles in viscous solvents and its transfer into non-polar solvents. *Research on Chemical Intermediates* **2010**, *36* (4), 411-421. DOI: 10.1007/s11164-010-0151-4.

(199) Ding, J.; Chan, K. Y.; Ren, J. W.; Xiao, F. S. Platinum and platinum-ruthenium nanoparticles supported on ordered mesoporous carbon and their electrocatalytic performance for fuel cell reactions. *Electrochimica Acta* **2005**, *50* (15), 3131-3141. DOI: 10.1016/j.electacta.2004.11.064.

(200) Zhang, L. W.; Gao, A.; Liu, Y.; Wang, Y.; Ma, J. T. PtRu nanoparticles dispersed on nitrogen-doped carbon nanohorns as an efficient electrocatalyst for methanol oxidation reaction. *Electrochimica Acta* **2014**, *132*, 416-422. DOI: 10.1016/j.electacta.2014.03.180.

(201) Li, W. Z.; Zhou, W. J.; Li, H. Q.; Zhou, Z. H.; Zhou, B.; Sun, G. Q.; Xin, Q. Nano-stuctured Pt-Fe/C as cathode catalyst in direct methanol fuel cell. *Electrochimica Acta* **2004**, *49* (7), 1045-1055. DOI: 10.1016/j.electacta.2003.10.015.

(202) Zhu, M. Y.; Sun, G. Q.; Xin, Q. Effect of alloying degree in PtSn catalyst on the catalytic behavior for ethanol electro-oxidation. *Electrochimica Acta* **2009**, *54* (5), 1511-1518. DOI:

10.1016/j.electacta.2008.09.035.

(203) Altmann, L.; Wang, X. D.; Stover, J.; Klink, M.; Zielasek, V.; Thiel, K.; Kolny-Olesiak, J.; Al-Shamery, K.; Borchert, H.; Parisi, J.; et al. Impact of Organic Ligands on the Structure and Hydrogenation Performance of Colloidally Prepared Bimetallic PtSn Nanoparticles. *ChemCatChem* **2013**, *5* (7), 1803-1810. DOI: 10.1002/cctc.201200849.

(204) Wang, X. D.; Stover, J.; Zielasek, V.; Altmann, L.; Thiel, K.; Al-Shamery, K.; Baumer, M.; Borchert, H.; Parisi, J.; Kolny-Olesiak, J. Colloidal Synthesis and Structural Control of PtSn Bimetallic Nanoparticles. *Langmuir* **2011**, *27* (17), 11052-11061. DOI: 10.1021/la201829y.

(205) Galhardo, T. S.; Goncalves, M.; Mandelli, D.; Carvalho, W. A. Glycerol valorization by base-free oxidation with air using platinum-nickel nanoparticles supported on activated carbon as catalyst prepared by a simple microwave polyol method. *Clean Technologies and Environmental Policy* **2018**, *20* (9), 2075-2088. DOI: 10.1007/s10098-018-1593-4.

(206) Dou, J.; Zhang, B. W.; Liu, H.; Hong, J. D.; Yin, S. M.; Huang, Y. Z.; Xu, R. Carbon supported Pt9Sn1 nanoparticles as an efficient nanocatalyst for glycerol oxidation. *Applied Catalysis B-Environmental* **2016**, *180*, 78-85. DOI: 10.1016/j.apcatb.2015.06.007.

(207) Tu, W. X.; Hou, T. T.; Qi, K.; Chen, D. W.; Cao, S. J. Modification effect of poly(vinylpyrrolidone) on surface structures of RhPt bimetallic nanocluster catalysts. *Colloids and Surfaces a-Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects* **2013**, *428*, 47-52. DOI: 10.1016/j.colsurfa.2013.03.037.

(208) Muthuswamy, N.; de la Fuente, J. L. G.; Tran, D. T.; Walmsley, J.; Tsypkin, M.; Raaen, S.; Sunde, S.; Ronning, M.; Chen, D. Ru@Pt core-shell nanoparticles for methanol fuel cell catalyst: Control and effects of shell composition. *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy* **2013**, *38* (36), 16631-16641. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijhydene.2013.02.056.

(209) Li, C.; Shao, Z. F.; Pang, M.; Williams, C. T.; Zhang, X. F.; Liang, C. H. Carbon Nanotubes Supported Mono- and Bimetallic Pt and Ru Catalysts for Selective Hydrogenation of Phenylacetylene. *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research* **2012**, *51* (13), 4934-4941. DOI: 10.1021/ie202342a.

(210) Lomocso, T. L.; Baranova, E. A. Electrochemical oxidation of ammonia on carbon-supported bimetallic PtM (M = Ir, Pd, SnOx) nanoparticles. *Electrochimica Acta* **2011**, *56* (24), 8551-8558. DOI: 10.1016/j.electacta.2011.07.041.

(211) Allagui, A.; Oudah, M.; Tuaev, X.; Ntais, S.; Almomani, F.; Baranova, E. A. Ammonia electrooxidation on alloyed PtIr nanoparticles of well-defined size. *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy* **2013**, *38* (5), 2455-2463. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijhydene.2012.11.079.

(212) Zhou, W. J.; Zhou, Z. H.; Song, S. Q.; Li, W. Z.; Sun, G. Q.; Tsiakaras, P.; Xin, Q. Pt based anode catalysts for direct ethanol fuel cells. *Applied Catalysis B-Environmental* **2003**, *46* (2), 273-285. DOI: 10.1016/s0926-3373(03)00218-2.

(213) Guo, H. Y.; Li, H.; Fernandez, D.; Willis, S.; Jarvis, K.; Henkelman, G.; Humphrey, S. M. Stabilizer-Free-Culr Alloy Nanoparticle Catalysts. *Chemistry of Materials* **2019**, *31* (24), 10225-10235, Article. DOI: 10.1021/acs.chemmater.9b04138. (214) Morsbach, E.; Brauns, E.; Kowalik, T.; Lang, W.; Kunz, S.; Baumer, M. Ligand-stabilized Pt nanoparticles (NPs) as novel materials for catalytic gas sensing: influence of the ligand on important catalytic properties. *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics* **2014**, *16* (39), 21243-21251. DOI: 10.1039/c4cp02993c.

(215) Speder, J.; Altmann, L.; Roefzaad, M.; Baumer, M.; Kirkensgaard, J. J. K.; Mortensen, K.; Arenz, M. Pt based PEMFC catalysts prepared from colloidal particle suspensions - a toolbox for model studies. *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics* **2013**, *15* (10), 3602-3608. DOI: 10.1039/c3cp50195g.

(216) Li, F. J.; Chen, Y.; Tang, D. M.; Jian, Z. L.; Liu, C.; Golberg, D.; Yamada, A.; Zhou, H. S. Performanceimproved Li-O-2 battery with Ru nanoparticles supported on binder-free multi-walled carbon nanotube paper as cathode. *Energy & Environmental Science* **2014**, *7* (5), 1648-1652. DOI: 10.1039/c3ee44043e. (217) Bai, Y.; Li, W.; Liu, C.; Yang, Z. H.; Feng, X.; Lu, X. H.; Chan, K. Y. Stability of Pt nanoparticles and enhanced photocatalytic performance in mesoporous Pt-(anatase/TiO2(B)) nanoarchitecture. *Journal of Materials Chemistry* **2009**, *19* (38), 7055-7061. DOI: 10.1039/b910240j.

(218) Du, X. Y.; Wang, Y.; Mu, Y. Y.; Gui, L. L.; Wang, P.; Tang, Y. Q. A new highly selective H₂ sensor based on TiO2/PtO-Pt dual-layer films. *Chemistry of Materials* **2002**, *14* (9), 3953-3957. DOI: 10.1021/cm0201293.

(219) Rioux, R. M.; Song, H.; Hoefelmeyer, J. D.; Yang, P.; Somorjai, G. A. High-surface-area catalyst design: Synthesis, characterization, and reaction studies of platinum nanoparticles in mesoporous SBA-15 silica. *Journal of Physical Chemistry B* **2005**, *109* (6), 2192-2202. DOI: 10.1021/jp048867x.

(220) Kuhn, J. N.; Tsung, C. K.; Huang, W.; Somorjai, G. A. Effect of organic capping layers over monodisperse platinum nanoparticles upon activity for ethylene hydrogenation and carbon monoxide oxidation. *Journal of Catalysis* **2009**, *265* (2), 209-215. DOI: 10.1016/j.jcat.2009.05.001.

(221) Berger-Karin, C.; Sebek, M.; Pohl, M. M.; Bentrup, U.; Kondratenko, V. A.; Steinfeldt, N.; Kondratenko, E. V. Tailored Noble Metal Nanoparticles on Y-Al₂O₃ for High Temperature CH₄ Conversion to Syngas. *ChemCatChem* **2012**, *4* (9), 1368-1375. DOI: 10.1002/cctc.201200096.

(222) Chen, L. J.; Wan, C. C.; Wang, Y. Y. Chemical preparation of Pd nanoparticles in room temperature ethylene glycol system and its application to electroless copper deposition. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science* **2006**, *297* (1), 143-150. DOI: 10.1016/j.jcis.2005.10.029.

(223) Parveen, R.; Ullah, S.; Sgarbi, R.; Tremiliosi, G. One-pot ligand-free synthesis of gold nanoparticles: The role of glycerol as reducing-cum-stabilizing agent. *Colloids and Surfaces a-Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects* **2019**, *565*, 162-171. DOI: 10.1016/j.colsurfa.2019.01.005.

(224) Zhou, Z. H.; Wang, S. L.; Zhou, W. J.; Wang, G. X.; Jiang, L. H.; Li, W. Z.; Song, S. Q.; Liu, J. G.; Sun, G. Q.; Xin, Q. Novel synthesis of highly active Pt/C cathode electrocatalyst for direct methanol fuel cell. *Chemical Communications* **2003**, (3), 394-395. DOI: 10.1039/b211075j.

(225) Chen, Z. Y.; Mao, J. X.; Zhou, R. X. Preparation of size-controlled Pt supported on Al₂O₃ nanocatalysts for deep catalytic oxidation of benzene at lower temperature. *Applied Surface Science* **2019**, *465*, 15-22. DOI: 10.1016/j.apsusc.2018.09.138.

(226) Kacenauskaite, L.; Swane, A. A.; Kirkensgaard, J. J. K.; Fleige, M.; Kunz, S.; Vosch, T.; Arenz, M. Synthesis Mechanism and Influence of Light on Unprotected Platinum Nanoparticles Synthesis at Room Temperature. *ChemNanoMat* **2016**, *2* (2), 104-107. DOI: 10.1002/cnma.201500118.

(227) Fang, D. H.; Zhang, H. J.; He, L.; Geng, J. T.; Song, W.; Sun, S. C.; Shao, Z. G.; Yi, B. L. Facile Synthesis of Nanoporous Pt-Encapsulated Ir Black as a Bifunctional Oxygen Catalyst via Modified Polyol Process at Room Temperature. *ChemElectroChem* **2019**, *6* (14), 3633-3643. DOI: 10.1002/celc.201900824.

(228) a) Kacenauskaite, L.; Quinson, J.; Schultz, H.; Kirkensgaard, J. J. K.; Kunz, S.; Vosch, T.; Arenz, M. UV-Induced Synthesis and Stabilization of Surfactant-Free Colloidal Pt Nanoparticles with Controlled Particle Size in Ethylene Glycol. *ChemNanoMat* **2017**, *3* (2), 89-93. DOI: 10.1002/cnma.201600313. b) Quinson, J.; Kacenauskaite, L.; Christiansen, T. L.; Vosch, T.; Arenz, M.; Jensen, K. M. O. Spatially Localized Synthesis and Structural Characterization of Platinum Nanocrystals Obtained Using UV Light.

ACS Omega **2018**, *3* (8), 10351-10356. DOI: 10.1021/acsomega.8b01613. c) Schroder, J.; Neumann, S.; Kunz, S. Visible-Light-Induced Synthesis of "Surfactant-Free" Pt Nanoparticles in Ethylene Glycol as a Synthetic Approach for Mechanistic Studies on Nanoparticle Formation. *Journal of Physical Chemistry C* **2020**, *124* (39), 21798-21809. DOI: 10.1021/acs.jpcc.0c06361.

(229) Morsbach, E.; Kunz, S.; Baumer, M. Novel nanoparticle catalysts for catalytic gas sensing. *Catalysis Science & Technology* **2016**, *6* (2), 339-348. DOI: 10.1039/c5cy01553g.

(230) Zhang, Q. L.; Zhang, Y. W.; Gao, Z. H.; Ma, H. L.; Wang, S. J.; Peng, J.; Li, J. Q.; Zhai, M. L. A facile synthesis of platinum nanoparticle decorated graphene by one-step gamma-ray induced reduction for high rate supercapacitors. *Journal of Materials Chemistry C* **2013**, *1* (2), 321-328. DOI: 10.1039/c2tc00078d.

(231) Wang, Y.; Zheng, Y. Q.; Huang, C. Z.; Xia, Y. N. Synthesis of Ag Nanocubes 18-32 nm in Edge Length: The Effects of Polyol on Reduction Kinetics, Size Control, and Reproducibility. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **2013**, *135* (5), 1941-1951. DOI: 10.1021/ja311503q.

(232) He, B. L.; Chen, Y. X.; Liu, H. F.; Liu, Y. Synthesis of solvent-stabilized colloidal nanoparticles of platinum, rhodium, and ruthenium by microwave-polyol process. *Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology* **2005**, *5* (2), 266-270. DOI: 10.1166/jnn.2005.028.

(233) a) Harpeness, R.; Peng, Z.; Liu, X. S.; Pol, V. G.; Koltypin, Y.; Gedanken, A. Controlling the agglomeration of anisotropic Ru nanoparticles by the microwave-polyol process. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science* **2005**, *287* (2), 678-684. DOI: 10.1016/j.jcis.2005.02.020. b) Gawande, M. B.; Shelke, S. N.; Zboril, R.; Varma, R. S. Microwave-Assisted Chemistry: Synthetic Applications for Rapid Assembly of Nanomaterials and Organics. *Accounts of Chemical Research* **2014**, *47* (4), 1338-1348. DOI: 10.1021/ar400309b.

(234) Quinson, J.; Bucher, J.; Simonsen, S. B.; Theil Kuhn, u.; Kunz, S.; Arenz, M. Monovalent alkali cations: simple and eco-friendly stabilizers for surfactant-free precious metal nanoparticle colloids. *ACS Sustainable Chemistry & Engineering* 2019, *7* (16), 13680-13686. DOI: 10.1021/acssuschemeng.9b00681.
(235) Liu, G. L.; Arellano-Jimenez, M. J.; Carter, C. B.; Agrios, A. G. Preparation of functionalized platinum nanoparticles: a comparison of different methods and reagents. *Journal of Nanoparticle Research* 2013, *15* (6). DOI: 10.1007/s11051-013-1744-9.

(236) a) Wang, X. L.; Long, Y. J.; Wang, Q. L.; Zhang, H. J.; Huang, X. X.; Zhu, R.; Teng, P.; Liang, L. P.; Zheng, H. Z. Reduced state carbon dots as both reductant and stabilizer for the synthesis of gold nanoparticles. *Carbon* **2013**, *64*, 499-506. DOI: 10.1016/j.carbon.2013.07.104. b) Zhuo, Y.; Zhong, D.; Miao, H.; Yang, X. M. Reduced carbon dots employed for synthesizing metal nanoclusters and nanoparticles. *RSC Advances* **2015**, *5* (41), 32669-32674. DOI: 10.1039/c5ra02598b.

(237) Schroder, J.; Neumann, S.; Quinson, J.; Arenz, M.; Kunz, S. Anion Dependent Particle Size Control of Platinum Nanoparticles Synthesized in Ethylene Glycol. *Nanomaterials* **2021**, *11* (8). DOI: 10.3390/nano11082092.

(238) Neumann, S.; Schroder, J.; Bizzotto, F.; Arenz, M.; Dworzak, A.; Oezaslan, M.; Baumer, M.; Kunz, S. Halide-Induced Leaching of Pt Nanoparticles - Manipulation of Particle Size by Controlled Ostwald Ripening. *ChemNanoMat* **2019**, *5* (4), 462-471. DOI: 10.1002/cnma.201800550.

(239) Epshteyn, A.; Garsany, Y.; More, K. L.; Meyer, H. M.; Jain, V.; Purdy, A. P.; Swider-Lyons, K. E. Effective Strategy for Improving Electrocatalyst Durability by Adhesive Immobilization of Catalyst Nanoparticles on Graphitic Carbon Supports. *ACS Catalysis* **2015**, *5* (6), 3662-3674. DOI: 10.1021/cs501791z.

(240) Sevjidsuren, G.; Zils, S.; Kaserer, S.; Wolz, A.; Ettingshausen, F.; Dixon, D.; Schoekel, A.; Roth, C.; Altantsog, P.; Sangaa, D.; et al. Effect of Different Support Morphologies and Pt Particle Sizes in Electrocatalysts for Fuel Cell Applications. *Journal of Nanomaterials* **2010**, 852786. DOI: 10.1155/2010/852786.

(241) Chen, C. Y.; Chen, F.; Zhang, L.; Pan, S. X.; Bian, C. Q.; Zheng, X. M.; Meng, X. J.; Xiao, F. S. Importance of platinum particle size for complete oxidation of toluene over Pt/ZSM-5 catalysts. *Chemical Communications* **2015**, *51* (27), 5936-5938. DOI: 10.1039/c4cc09383f.

(242) An, N. H.; Li, S. Y.; Duchesne, P. N.; Wu, P.; Zhang, W. L.; Lee, J. F.; Cheng, S.; Zhang, P.; Jia, M. J.; Zhang, W. X. Size Effects of Platinum Colloid Particles on the Structure and CO Oxidation Properties of Supported Pt/Fe₂O₃ Catalysts. *Journal of Physical Chemistry C* **2013**, *117* (41), 21254-21262. DOI: 10.1021/jp404266p.

(243) Steinfeldt, N. In Situ Monitoring of Pt Nanoparticle Formation in Ethylene Glycol Solution by SAXS-Influence of the NaOH to Pt Ratio. *Langmuir* **2012**, *28* (36), 13072-13079. DOI: 10.1021/la3026232. (244) Quinson, J.; Dworzak, A.; Simonsen, S. B.; Kuhn, L. T.; Jensen, K. M. O.; Zana, A.; Oezaslan, M.; Kirkensgaard, J. J. K.; Arenz, M. Surfactant-free synthesis of size controlled platinum nanoparticles: Insights from in situ studies. *Applied Surface Science* **2021**, *549*, 149263. DOI: 10.1016/j.apsusc.2021.149263.

(245) Duff, D. G.; Edwards, P. P.; Evans, J.; Gauntlett, J. T.; Jefferson, D. A.; Johnson, B. F. G.; Kirkland, A. I.; Smith, D. J. A JOINT STRUCTURAL CHARACTERIZATION OF COLLOIDAL PLATINUM BY EXAFS AND HIGH-RESOLUTION ELECTRON-MICROSCOPY. *Angewandte Chemie-International Edition in English* **1989**, *28* (5), 590-593. DOI: 10.1002/anie.198905901.

(246) a) Dandapat, A.; Mitra, A.; Gautam, P. K.; De, G. A Facile Synthesis of Pt Nanoflowers Composed of an Ordered Array of Nanoparticles. *Nanomaterials and Nanotechnology* **2013**, *3*, 11:2013. DOI: 10.5772/56868. b) Lin, C.-S.; Khan, M. R.; Lin, S. D. The preparation of Pt nanoparticles by methanol and citrate. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science* **2006**, *299* (2), 678-685. DOI: 10.1016/j.jcis.2006.03.003. c) Zhu, Q. L.; Tsumori, N.; Xu, Q. Immobilizing Extremely Catalytically Active Palladium Nanoparticles to Carbon Nanospheres: A Weakly-Capping Growth Approach. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **2015**, *137* (36), 11743-11748. DOI: 10.1021/jacs.5b06707.

(247) Chen, S. M.; Yang, Q. Y.; Wang, H. H.; Zhang, S.; Li, J.; Wang, Y.; Chu, W. S.; Ye, Q.; Song, L. Initial Reaction Mechanism of Platinum Nanoparticle in Methanol-Water System and the Anomalous Catalytic Effect of Water. *Nano Letters* **2015**, *15* (9), 5961-5968. DOI: 10.1021/acs.nanolett.5b02098.

(248) Wang, T.; Yang, R.; Ouyang, S. S.; Shi, H. B.; Wang, S. Light-induced synthesis of clean-surface PdPt@Pt core-shell nanoparticles with excellent electrocatalytic activity. *RSC Advances* **2015**, *5* (60), 48992-48996. DOI: 10.1039/c5ra06482a.

(249) Mathiesen, J. K.; Quinson, J.; Dworzak, A.; Vosch, T.; Juelsholt, M.; Kjaer, E. T. S.; Schroder, J.; Kirkensgaard, J. J. K.; Oezaslan, M.; Arenz, M.; et al. Insights from In Situ Studies on the Early Stages of Platinum Nanoparticle Formation. *Journal of Physical Chemistry Letters* **2021**, *12* (12), 3224-3231. DOI: 10.1021/acs.jpclett.1c00241.

(250) Quinson, J.; Simonsen, S. B.; Kuhn, L. T.; Kunz, S.; Arenz, M. Size effect studies in catalysis: a simple surfactant-free synthesis of sub 3 nm Pd nanocatalysts supported on carbon. *RSC Advances* **2018**, *8* (59), 33794-33797. DOI: 10.1039/c8ra06912c.

(251) Schreyer; Hjortshøj, O. A.; Quinson, J.; Escudero-Escribano; , M. Toward Overcoming the Challenges in the Comparison of Different Pd Nanocatalysts: Case Study of the Ethanol Oxidation Reaction. *Inorganics* **2020**, *8* (11), 59. DOI: 10.3390/inorganics8110059.

(252) Quinson, J.; Neumann, S.; Kacenauskaite, L.; Bucher, J.; Kirkensgaard, J. J. K.; Simonsen, S. B.; Kuhn, L. T.; Zana, A.; Vosch, T.; Oezaslan, M.; et al. Solvent-Dependent Growth and Stabilization Mechanisms of Surfactant-Free Colloidal Pt Nanoparticles. *Chemistry-a European Journal* **2020**, *26* (41), 9012-9023. DOI: 10.1002/chem.202001553.

(253) Quinson, J.; Kacenauskaite, L.; Schroder, J.; Simonsen, S. B.; Kuhn, L. T.; Vosch, T.; Arenz, M. UVinduced syntheses of surfactant-free precious metal nanoparticles in alkaline methanol and ethanol. *Nanoscale Advances* **2020**, *2* (6), 2288-2292. DOI: 10.1039/d0na00218f. (254) Mathiesen, J. K.; Cooper, S. R.; Anker, A. S.; Kinnibrugh, T. L.; Jensen, K. M. Ø.; Quinson, J. Simple Setup Miniaturization with Multiple Benefits for Green Chemistry in Nanoparticle Synthesis. **2022**, *7*, 4714-4721. DOI: 10.1021/acsomega.2c00030.

(255) Juelsholt, M.; Quinson, J.; Kjær, E. T. S.; Wang, B.; Pittkowski, R.; Cooper, S. R.; Kinnibrugh, T. L.;
Simonsen, S. B.; Theil Kuhn, L.; Escudero-Escribano; et al. Surfactant-free syntheses and pair distribution function analysis of osmium nanoparticles. *Beilstein Journal of Nanotechnoly* 2022, *13*, 230–235.
(256) Bizzotto, F.; Arenz, M.; Quinson, J. Surfactant-free Ir nanoparticles synthesized in ethanol: Catalysts for the oxygen evolution reaction. *Materials Letters* 2022, *308*, 131209. DOI: 10.1016/j.matlet.2021.131209.

(257) Quinson, J.; Kacenauskaite, L.; Bucher, J.; Simonsen, S. B.; Kuhn, L. T.; Oezaslan, M.; Kunz, S.; Arenz, M. Controlled Synthesis of Surfactant-Free Water-Dispersible Colloidal Platinum Nanoparticles by the Co4Cat Process. *ChemSusChem* **2019**, *12* (6), 1229-1239. DOI: 10.1002/cssc.201802897.

(258) Bizzotto, F.; Quinson, J.; Zana, A.; Kirkensaard, J. J. K.; Dworzak, A.; Oezaslan, M.; Arenz, M. Ir nanoparticles with ultrahigh dispersion as oxygen evolution reaction (OER) catalysts: synthesis and activity benchmarking. *Catalysis Science & Technology* **2019**, *9* (22), 6345-6356. DOI: 10.1039/c9cy01728c.

(259) Bizzotto, F.; Quinson, J.; Schröder, J.; Zana, A.; Arenz, M. Surfactant-free colloidal strategies for highly dispersed and active supported IrO2 catalysts: Synthesis and performance evaluation for the oxygen evolution reaction. *Journal of Catalysis* **2021**, *401*, 54-62.

(260) Quinson, J.; Aalling-Frederiksen , O.; Dacayan, W. L.; Bjerregaard, J. D.; Jensen, K. D.; Jørgensen, M. R. V.; Kantor, I.; Sørensen, D. R.; Theil Kuhn, L.; Johnson, M. S.; et al. Surfactant-free colloidal syntheses of gold-based nanomaterials in alkaline water and mono-alcohol mixtures. *ChemRxiv* **2022**, *Preprint*. DOI: 10.26434/chemrxiv-2022-jnn9p.

(261) Quinson, J.; Simonsen, S. B.; Theil Kuhn, L.; Arenz, M. Commercial spirits for surfactant-free syntheses of electro-active platinum nanoparticles. *Sustainable Chemistry* **2021**, *2* (1), 1-7. DOI: 10.3390/suschem2010001.

(262) Pelzer, K.; Vidoni, O.; Philippot, K.; Chaudret, B.; Colliere, V. Organometallic synthesis of sizecontrolled polycrystalline ruthenium nanoparticles in the presence of alcohols. *Advanced Functional Materials* **2003**, *13* (2), 118-126. DOI: 10.1002/adfm.200390017.

(263) Navlani-Garcia, M.; Salinas-Torres, D.; Mori, K.; Kuwahara, Y.; Yamashita, H. Tailoring the Size and Shape of Colloidal Noble Metal Nanocrystals as a Valuable Tool in Catalysis. *Catalysis Surveys from Asia* **2019**, *23* (3), 127-148. DOI: 10.1007/s10563-019-09271-7.

(264) a)Das, A. K.; Raj, C. R. Iodide-Mediated Reduction of AuCl4- and a New Green Route for the Synthesis of Single Crystalline Au Nanostructures with Pronounced Electrocatalytic Activity. *Journal of Physical Chemistry C* **2011**, *115* (43), 21041-21046. DOI: 10.1021/jp207233b. b) Antoniassi, R. M.; Erikson, H.; Solla-Gullon, J.; Torresi, R. M.; Feliu, J. M. Small (< 5 nm), Clean, and Well-Structured Cubic Platinum Nanoparticles: Synthesis and Electrochemical Characterization. *ChemElectroChem* **2021**, *8* (1), 49-52. DOI: 10.1002/celc.202001336.

(265) Feng, C. H.; Zhang, R.; Yin, P. G.; Li, L. D.; Guo, L.; Shen, Z. G. Direct solution synthesis of Pd nanowire networks and their application in surface-enhanced Raman scattering. *Nanotechnology* **2008**, *19* (30), 305601. DOI: 10.1088/0957-4484/19/30/305601.

(266) Herricks, T.; Chen, J. Y.; Xia, Y. N. Polyol synthesis of platinum nanoparticles: Control of morphology with sodium nitrate. *Nano Letters* 2004, *4* (12), 2367-2371. DOI: 10.1021/nl048570a.
(267) Sarno, M.; Ponticorvo, E.; Scarpa, D. Controlled PtIr nanoalloy as an electro-oxidation platform for methanol reaction and ammonia detection. *Nanotechnology* 2019, *30* (39). DOI: 10.1088/1361-6528/ab2c3c.

(268) Siani, A.; Wigal, K. R.; Alexeev, O. S.; Amiridis, M. D. Synthesis and characterization of Pt clusters in aqueous solutions. *Journal of Catalysis* **2008**, *257* (1), 5-15. DOI: 10.1016/j.jcat.2008.03.024.

(269) Kang, N.; Yu, T.; Lim, G. H.; Koh, T.; Lim, B. Facile synthesis of carbon-supported, ultrasmall ruthenium oxide nanocrystals for supercapacitor electrode materials. *Chemical Physics Letters* **2014**, *592*, 192-195. DOI: 10.1016/j.cplett.2013.12.020.

(270) Lee, J.; Shah, S. A. S.; Yoo, P. J.; Lim, B. Hydrous RuO2 nanoparticles as highly active electrocatalysts for hydrogen evolution reaction. *Chemical Physics Letters* **2017**, *673*, 89-92. DOI: 10.1016/j.cplett.2017.02.029.

(271) Lim, G. H.; Yu, T.; Koh, T.; Lee, J. H.; Jeong, U.; Lim, B. Reduction by water for eco-friendly, capping agent-free synthesis of ultrasmall platinum nanocrystals. *Chemical Physics Letters* **2014**, *595*, 77-82. DOI: 10.1016/j.cplett.2014.01.030.

(272) Liz-Marzan, L. M.; Kagan, C. R.; Millstone, J. E. Reproducibility in Nanocrystal Synthesis? Watch Out for Impurities! *ACS Nano* **2020**, *14* (6), 6359-6361. DOI: 10.1021/acsnano.0c04709.

(273) Handwerk, D. R.; Shipman, P. D.; Ozkar, S.; Finke, R. G. Dust Effects on Ir(0)(n) Nanoparticle Formation Nucleation and Growth Kinetics and Particle Size-Distributions: Analysis by and Insights from Mechanism-Enabled Population Balance Modeling. *Langmuir* **2020**, *36* (6), 1496-1506. DOI: 10.1021/acs.langmuir.9b03193.

(274) Coutanceau, C.; Urchaga, P.; Brimaud, S.; Baranton, S. Colloidal Syntheses of Shape- and Size-Controlled Pt Nanoparticles for Electrocatalysis. *Electrocatalysis* **2012**, *3* (2), 75-87. DOI: 10.1007/s12678-012-0079-0.

(275) Saldanha, P. L.; Lesnyak, V.; Manna, L. Large scale syntheses of colloidal nanomaterials. *Nano Today* **2017**, *12*, 46-63. DOI: 10.1016/j.nantod.2016.12.001.

(276) a) van Embden, J.; Chesman, A. S. R.; Jasieniak, J. J. The Heat-Up Synthesis of Colloidal Nanocrystals. *Chemistry of Materials* **2015**, *27* (7), 2246-2285. DOI: 10.1021/cm5028964. b) Stavis, S. M.; Fagan, J. A.; Stopa, M.; Liddle, J. A. Nanoparticle Manufacturing - Heterogeneity through Processes to Products. *ACS Applied Nano Materials* **2018**, *1* (9), 4358-4385. DOI: 10.1021/acsanm.8b01239. c) Tsuzuki, T. Commercial scale production of inorganic nanoparticles. *International Journal of Nanotechnology* **2009**, *6* (5-6), 567-578.

(277) Ellingsen, L. A. W.; Hung, C. R.; Majeau-Bettez, G.; Singh, B.; Chen, Z. W.; Whittingham, M. S.; Stromman, A. H. Nanotechnology for environmentally sustainable electromobility. *Nature Nanotechnology* **2016**, *11* (12), 1039-1051. DOI: 10.1038/nnano.2016.237.

(278) a) He, J.; Kappler, A. Recovery of precious metals from waste streams. *Microbial Biotechnology* **2017**, *10* (5), 1194-1198. DOI: 10.1111/1751-7915.12759. b) Cayumil, R.; Khanna, R.; Rajarao, R.; Mukherjee, P. S.; Sahajwalla, V. Concentration of precious metals during their recovery from electronic waste. *Waste Management* **2016**, *57*, 121-130. DOI: 10.1016/j.wasman.2015.12.004.

(279) Charitidis, C. A.; Georgiou, P.; Koklioti, M. A.; Trompeta, A.-F.; Markakis, V. Manufacturing nanomaterials: from research to industry. *Manufacturing Review* **2014**, *1*, 11. DOI: 10.1051/mfreview/2014009.

(280) Singh, A.; Miyabayashi, K. Novel continuous flow synthesis of Pt NPs with narrow size distribution for Pt@carbon catalysts. *RSC Advances* **2020**, *10* (1), 362-366. DOI: 10.1039/c9ra08762a.

(281) Quinson, J.; Arenz, M. The toolbox concept for the synthesis of surfactant-free colloidal nanoparticles as electrocatalysts. *ECS Transactions* **2020**, *97* (7), 443-455. DOI: 10.1149/09707.0443ecst. (282) Qi, J.; Jiang, L. H.; Jing, M. Y.; Tang, Q. W.; Sun, G. Q. Preparation of Pt/C via a polyol process - Investigation on carbon support adding sequence. *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy* **2011**, *36* (17), 10490-10501. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijhydene.2011.06.022.

(283) Xue, X. Z.; Ge, J. J.; Tian, T.; Liu, C. P.; Xing, W.; Lu, T. H. Enhancement of the electrooxidation of ethanol on Pt-Sn-P/C catalysts prepared by chemical deposition process. *Journal of Power Sources* **2007**, *172* (2), 560-569. DOI: 10.1016/j.jpowsour.2007.05.091.

(284) Proch, S.; Kodama, K.; Inaba, M.; Oishi, K.; Takahashi, N.; Morimoto, Y. The "Particle Proximity Effect" in Three Dimensions: a Case Study on Vulcan XC 72R. *Electrocatalysis* **2016**, *7* (3), 249-261. DOI: 10.1007/s12678-016-0302-5.

(285) Li, H. Q.; Sun, G. Q.; Gaot, Y.; Jiang, Q.; Jia, Z.; Xin, Q. Effect of reaction atmosphere on the electrocatalytic activities of Pt/C and PtRu/C obtained in a polyol process. *Journal of Physical Chemistry C* **2007**, *111* (42), 15192-15200. DOI: 10.1021/jp073072m.

(286) Siracusano, S.; Baglio, V.; Grigoriev, S. A.; Merlo, L.; Fateev, V. N.; Arico, A. S. The influence of iridium chemical oxidation state on the performance and durability of oxygen evolution catalysts in PEM electrolysis. *Journal of Power Sources* **2017**, *366*, 105-114. DOI: 10.1016/j.jpowsour.2017.09.020. (287) a) Mukerjee, S. REVIEWS OF APPLIED ELECTROCHEMISTRY .23. PARTICLE-SIZE AND STRUCTURAL EFFECTS IN PLATINUM ELECTROCATALYSIS. *Journal of Applied Electrochemistry* **1990**, *20* (4), 537-548. DOI: 10.1007/bf01008861. b) Sattler, M. L.; Ross, P. N. THE SURFACE-STRUCTURE OF PT CRYSTALLITES SUPPORTED ON CARBON-BLACK. *Ultramicroscopy* **1986**, *20* (1-2), 21-28. DOI: 10.1016/0304-3991(86)90163-4. c) Kinoshita, K. PARTICLE-SIZE EFFECTS FOR OXYGEN REDUCTION ON HIGHLY DISPERSED PLATINUM IN ACID ELECTROLYTES. *Journal of the Electrochemical Society* **1990**, *137* (3), 845-848. DOI: 10.1149/1.2086566. d) Arenz, M.; Mayrhofer, K. J. J.; Stamenkovic, V.; Blizanac, B. B.; Tomoyuki, T.; Ross, P. N.; Markovic, N. M. The effect of the particle size on the kinetics of CO electrooxidation on high surface area Pt catalysts. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **2005**, *127* (18), 6819-6829. DOI: 10.1021/ja043602h.

(288) Gasteiger, H. A.; Kocha, S. S.; Sompalli, B.; Wagner, F. T. Activity benchmarks and requirements for Pt, Pt-alloy, and non-Pt oxygen reduction catalysts for PEMFCs. *Applied Catalysis B-Environmental* **2005**, *56* (1-2), 9-35. DOI: 10.1016/j.apcatb.2004.06.021.

(289) a) Mayrhofer, K. J. J.; Blizanac, B. B.; Arenz, M.; Stamenkovic, V. R.; Ross, P. N.; Markovic, N. M. The impact of geometric and surface electronic properties of Pt-catalysts on the particle size effect in electocatalysis. *Journal of Physical Chemistry B* 2005, *109* (30), 14433-14440. DOI: 10.1021/jp051735z.
b) Nesselberger, M.; Ashton, S.; Meier, J. C.; Katsounaros, I.; Mayrhofer, K. J. J.; Arenz, M. The Particle Size Effect on the Oxygen Reduction Reaction Activity of Pt Catalysts: Influence of Electrolyte and Relation to Single Crystal Models. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 2011, *133* (43), 17428-17433. DOI: 10.1021/ja207016u.

(290) a) Watanabe, M.; Saegusa, S.; Stonehart, P. HIGH PLATINUM ELECTROCATALYST UTILIZATIONS FOR DIRECT METHANOL OXIDATION. *Journal of Electroanalytical Chemistry* **1989**, *271* (1-2), 213-220. DOI: 10.1016/0022-0728(89)80076-2. b) Takasu, Y.; Ohashi, N.; Zhang, X. G.; Murakami, Y.; Minagawa, H.; Sato, S.; Yahikozawa, K. Size effects of platinum particles on the electroreduction of oxygen.

Electrochimica Acta **1996**, *41* (16), 2595-2600. DOI: 10.1016/0013-4686(96)00081-3. c) Tripkovic, V.; Cerri, I.; Bligaard, T.; Rossmeisl, J. The Influence of Particle Shape and Size on the Activity of Platinum Nanoparticles for Oxygen Reduction Reaction: A Density Functional Theory Study. *Catalysis Letters* **2014**, *144* (3), 380-388. DOI: 10.1007/s10562-013-1188-y.

(291) Inaba, M.; Zana, A.; Quinson, J.; Bizzotto, F.; Dosche, C.; Dworzak, A.; Oezaslan, M.; Simonsen, S. B.; Kuhn, L. T.; Arenz, M. The Oxygen Reduction Reaction on Pt: Why Particle Size and Interparticle Distance Matter. *ACS Catalysis* **2021**, *11* (12), 7144-7153. DOI: 10.1021/acscatal.1c00652.

(292) Sandbeck, D. J. S.; Inaba, M.; Quinson, J.; Bucher, J.; Zana, A.; Arenz, M.; Cherevko, S. Particle Size Effect on Platinum Dissolution: Practical Considerations for Fuel Cells. *ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces* **2020**, *12* (23), 25718-25727. DOI: 10.1021/acsami.0c02801.

(293) Song, H.; Rioux, R. M.; Hoefelmeyer, J. D.; Komor, R.; Niesz, K.; Grass, M.; Yang, P. D.; Somorjai, G. A. Hydrothermal growth of mesoporous SBA-15 silica in the presence of PVP-stabilized Pt nanoparticles: Synthesis, characterization, and catalytic properties. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **2006**, *128* (9), 3027-3037. DOI: 10.1021/ja057383r.

(294) Neumann, S.; Gutmann, T.; Buntkowsky, G.; Paul, S.; Thiele, G.; Sievers, H.; Balmer, M.; Kunz, S. Insights into the reaction mechanism and particle size effects of CO oxidation over supported Pt nanoparticle catalysts. *Journal of Catalysis* **2019**, *377*, 662-672. DOI: 10.1016/j.jcat.2019.07.049.
(295) Imbihl, R.; Ertl, G. OSCILLATORY KINETICS IN HETEROGENEOUS CATALYSIS. *Chemical Reviews* **1995**, *95* (3), 697-733. DOI: 10.1021/cr00035a012.

(296) Jaydev, S. D.; Martin, A. J.; Perez-Ramirez, J. Direct Conversion of Polypropylene into Liquid Hydrocarbons on Carbon-Supported Platinum Catalysts. *ChemSusChem* **2021**, *14* (23), 5179-5185. DOI: 10.1002/cssc.202101999.

(297) a) Speder, J.; Zana, A.; Spanos, I.; Kirkensgaard, J. J. K.; Mortensen, K.; Arenz, M. On the influence of the Pt to carbon ratio on the degradation of high surface area carbon supported PEM fuel cell electrocatalysts. *Electrochemistry Communications* **2013**, *34*, 153-156. DOI:

10.1016/j.elecom.2013.06.001. b) Speder, J.; Zana, A.; Spanos, I.; Kirkensgaard, J. J. K.; Mortensen, K.; Hanzlik, M.; Arenz, M. Comparative degradation study of carbon supported proton exchange membrane fuel cell electrocatalysts - The influence of the platinum to carbon ratio on the degradation rate. *Journal of Power Sources* **2014**, *261*, 14-22. DOI: 10.1016/j.jpowsour.2014.03.039.

(298) Nösberger, S.; Du, J.; Quinson, J.; Berner, E.; Zana, A.; Wiberg, G. K. H.; Arenz, M. The gas diffusion electrode setup as a testing platform for evaluating fuel cell catalysts: A comparative RDE-GDE study. *Electrochemical Science Adances* **2022**, e2100190. DOI: 10.1002/elsa.202100190.

(299) Darab, M.; Barnett, A. O.; Lindbergh, G.; Thomassen, M. S.; Sunde, S. The Influence of Catalyst Layer Thickness on the Performance and Degradation of PEM Fuel Cell Cathodes with Constant Catalyst Loading. *Electrochimica Acta* **2017**, *232*, 505-516. DOI: 10.1016/j.electacta.2017.02.101.

(300) Fabbri, E.; Taylor, S.; Rabis, A.; Levecque, P.; Conrad, O.; Kotz, R.; Schmidt, T. J. The Effect of Platinum Nanoparticle Distribution on Oxygen Electroreduction Activity and Selectivity. *ChemCatChem* **2014**, *6* (5), 1410-1418. DOI: 10.1002/cctc.201300987.

(301) Binninger, T.; Schmidt, T. J.; Kramer, D. Capacitive electronic metal-support interactions: Outer surface charging of supported catalyst particles. *Physical Review B* **2017**, *96* (16), 165405. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevB.96.165405.

(302) a) Watanabe, Y. Atomically precise cluster catalysis towards quantum controlled catalysts. *Science and Technology of Advanced Materials* **2014**, *15* (6), 063501. DOI: 10.1088/1468-6996/15/6/063501. b) von Weber, A.; Anderson, S. L. Electrocatalysis by Mass-Selected Pt_n Clusters. *Accounts of Chemical Research* **2016**, *49* (11), 2632-2639. DOI: 10.1021/acs.accounts.6b00387.

(303) Sandbeck, D. J. S.; Secher, N. M.; Inaba, M.; Quinson, J.; Sorensen, J. E.; Kibsgaard, J.; Zana, A.; Bizzotto, F.; Speck, F. D.; Paul, M. T. Y.; et al. The Dissolution Dilemma for Low Pt Loading Polymer Electrolyte Membrane Fuel Cell Catalysts. *Journal of the Electrochemical Society* **2020**, *167* (16), 164501. DOI: 10.1149/1945-7111/abc767.

(304) Du, J.; Quinson, J.; Zhang, D. M.; Bizzotto, F.; Zana, A.; Arenz, M. Bifunctional Pt-IrO₂ Catalysts for the Oxygen Evolution and Oxygen Reduction Reactions: Alloy Nanoparticles versus Nanocomposite Catalysts. *ACS Catalysis* **2021**, *11* (2), 820-828. DOI: 10.1021/acscatal.0c03867.

(305) Du, J.; Quinson, J.; Zana, A.; Arenz, M. Elucidating Pt-Based Nanocomposite Catalysts for the Oxygen Reduction Reaction in Rotating Disk Electrode and Gas Diffusion Electrode Measurements. *ACS Catalysis* **2021**, *11* (12), 7584-7594. DOI: 10.1021/acscatal.1c01496.

(306) Du; Jia; Quinson, J.; Zhang, D.; Wang, B.; Wiberg, G.; Pittkowski, R.; Schröder, J.; Simonsen, S.; Kirkensgaard; et al. Nanocomposite Concept for Electrochemical in situ Preparation of Pt-Au Alloy Nanoparticles for Formic Acid Oxidation. *JACS Au* **2022**, *Accepted*. *In print*. DOI: 10.1021/jacsau.2c00335 (307) Gerber, I. C.; Serp, P. A Theory/Experience Description of Support Effects in Carbon-Supported Catalysts. *Chemical Reviews* **2020**, *120* (2), 1250-1349. DOI: 10.1021/acs.chemrev.9b00209. (308) Gebauer, C.; Jusys, Z.; Wassner, M.; Husing, N.; Behm, R. J. Membrane Fuel Cell Cathode Catalysts Based on Titanium Oxide Supported Platinum Nanoparticles. *ChemPhysChem* **2014**, *15* (10), 2094-2107. DOI: 10.1002/cphc.201402019.

(309) Zana, A.; Rudiger, C.; Kunze-Liebhauser, J.; Granozzi, G.; Reeler, N. E. A.; Vosch, T.; Kirkensgaard, J. J. K.; Arenz, M. Core-shell TiO2@C: towards alternative supports as replacement for high surface area carbon for PEMFC catalysts. *Electrochimica Acta* 2014, *139*, 21-28. DOI: 10.1016/j.electacta.2014.07.002.
(310) Liu, J.; Wu, X. X.; Yang, L. P.; Wang, F.; Yin, J. Unprotected Pt nanoclusters anchored on ordered mesoporous carbon as an efficient and stable catalyst for oxygen reduction reaction. *Electrochimica Acta* 2019, *297*, 539-544. DOI: 10.1016/j.electacta.2018.12.017.

(311) Zhang, L. W.; Zheng, N.; Gao, A.; Zhu, C. M.; Wang, Z. Y.; Wang, Y.; Shi, Z. J.; Liu, Y. A robust fuel cell cathode catalyst assembled with nitrogen-doped carbon nanohorn and platinum nanoclusters. *Journal of Power Sources* **2012**, *220*, 449-454. DOI: 10.1016/j.jpowsour.2012.08.009.

(312) Schonvogel, D.; Hulstede, J.; Wagner, P.; Dyck, A.; Agert, C.; Wark, M. Durability of Electrocatalysts for ORR: Pt on Nanocomposite of Reduced Graphene Oxide with FTO versus Pt/C. *Journal of the Electrochemical Society* **2018**, *165* (6), F3373-F3382. DOI: 10.1149/2.0361806jes.

(313) Tsang, K. Y.; Lee, T. C.; Ren, J. W.; Chan, K. Y.; Wang, H. Z.; Wang, H. T. Platinum tungsten oxide (Pt-WO3) nanoparticles: their preparation in glycol and electrocatalytic properties. *Journal of Experimental Nanoscience* **2006**, *1* (1), 113-123. DOI: 10.1080/17458080500482297.

(314) Muthuswamy, N.; de la Fuente, J. L. G.; Ochal, P.; Giri, R.; Raaen, S.; Sunde, S.; Ronning, M.; Chen, D. Towards a highly-efficient fuel-cell catalyst: optimization of Pt particle size, supports and surfaceoxygen group concentration. *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics* **2013**, *15* (11), 3803-3813. DOI: 10.1039/c3cp43659d.

(315) Zhang, J. L.; Wang, Y.; Ji, H.; Wei, Y. G.; Wu, N. Z.; Zuo, B. J.; Wang, Q. L. Magnetic nanocomposite catalysts with high activity and selectivity for selective hydrogenation of ortho-chloronitrobenzene. *Journal of Catalysis* **2005**, *229* (1), 114-118. DOI: 10.1016/j.jcat.2004.09.029.

(316) Lian, C.; Liu, H. Q.; Xiao, C.; Yang, W.; Zhang, K.; Liu, Y.; Wang, Y. Solvent-free selective hydrogenation of chloronitrobenzene to chloroaniline over a robust Pt/Fe₃O₄ catalyst. *Chemical Communications* **2012**, *48* (25), 3124-3126. DOI: 10.1039/c2cc16620h.

(317) Fang, Y. Y.; Xiao, H. L.; Sui, N.; Liu, M. H.; Yu, W. W. Hydrogenation of o-chloronitrobenzene to o-chloroaniline over a Pt/gamma-Fe₂O₃ catalyst under ambient conditions. *RSC Advances* **2014**, *4* (23), 11788-11793. DOI: 10.1039/c4ra00657g.

(318) Zheng, B.; Liu, G.; Geng, L. L.; Cui, J. Y.; Wu, S. J.; Wu, P.; Jia, M. J.; Yan, W. F.; Zhang, W. X. Role of the FeO_x support in constructing high-performance Pt/FeO_x catalysts for low-temperature CO oxidation. *Catalysis Science & Technology* **2016**, *6* (5), 1546-1554. DOI: 10.1039/c5cy00840a.

(319) Tauster, S. J. STRONG METAL-SUPPORT INTERACTIONS. *Accounts of Chemical Research* **1987**, *20* (11), 389-394. DOI: 10.1021/ar00143a001.

(320) Neumann, S.; Doebler, H. H.; Keil, S.; Erdt, A. J.; Gutsche, C.; Borchert, H.; Kolny-Olesiak, J.; Parisi, J.; Baumer, M.; Kunz, S. Effects of Particle Size on Strong Metal-Support Interactions Using Colloidal "Surfactant-Free" Pt Nanoparticles Supported on Fe3O4. *ACS Catalysis* **2020**, *10* (7), 4136-4150. DOI: 10.1021/acscatal.9b04367.

(321) Chen, C. Y.; Wu, Q. M.; Chen, F.; Zhang, L.; Pan, S. X.; Bian, C. Q.; Zheng, X. M.; Meng, X. J.; Xiao, F. S. Aluminium-rich Beta zeolite-supported platinum nanoparticles for the low-temperature catalytic removal of toluene. *Journal of Materials Chemistry A* **2015**, *3* (10), 5556-5562. DOI: 10.1039/c4ta06407k.
(322) Schaffer, J.; Kondratenko, V. A.; Steinfeldt, N.; Sebek, M.; Kondratenko, E. V. Highly selective ammonia oxidation to nitric oxide over supported Pt nanoparticles. *Journal of Catalysis* **2013**, *301*, 210-216. DOI: 10.1016/j.jcat.2013.02.010.

(323) Cheng, H. Y.; Meng, X. C.; Wang, Q.; Ming, J.; Yu, Y. C.; Zhao, F. Y. Fabrication of Co(OH)(2) coated Pt nanoparticles as an efficient catalyst for chemoselective hydrogenation of halonitrobenzenes. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science* **2012**, *377*, 322-327. DOI: 10.1016/j.jcis.2012.03.042.

(324) Zana, A.; Speder, J.; Reeler, N. E. A.; Vosch, T.; Arenz, M. Investigating the corrosion of high surface area carbons during start/stop fuel cell conditions: A Raman study. *Electrochimica Acta* **2013**, *114*, 455-461. DOI: 10.1016/j.electacta.2013.10.097.

(325) Speder, J.; Altmann, L.; Baumer, M.; Kirkensgaard, J. J. K.; Mortensen, K.; Arenz, M. The particle proximity effect: from model to high surface area fuel cell catalysts. *RSC Advances* **2014**, *4* (29), 14971-14978. DOI: 10.1039/c4ra00261j.

(326) Speder, J.; Zana, A.; Arenz, M. The colloidal tool-box approach for fuel cell catalysts: Systematic study of perfluorosulfonate-ionomer impregnation and Pt loading. *Catalysis Today* **2016**, *262*, 82-89. DOI: 10.1016/j.cattod.2015.09.021.

(327) Inaba, M.; Quinson, J.; Arenz, M. pH matters: The influence of the catalyst ink on the oxygen reduction activity determined in thin film rotating disk electrode measurements. *Journal of Power Sources* **2017**, *353*, 19-27. DOI: 10.1016/j.jpowsour.2017.03.140.

(328) An, N. H.; Yuan, X. L.; Pan, B.; Li, Q. L.; Li, S. Y.; Zhang, W. X. Design of a highly active Pt/Al₂O₃ catalyst for low-temperature CO oxidation. *RSC Advances* **2014**, *4* (72), 38250-38257. DOI: 10.1039/c4ra05646a.

(329) Li, C.; Shao, Z. F.; Pang, M.; Williams, C. T.; Liang, C. H. Carbon nanotubes supported Pt catalysts for phenylacetylene hydrogenation: effects of oxygen containing surface groups on Pt dispersion and catalytic performance. *Catalysis Today* **2012**, *186* (1), 69-75. DOI: 10.1016/j.cattod.2011.09.005.

(330) Kongkanand, A.; Vinodgopal, K.; Kuwabata, S.; Kamat, P. V. Highly dispersed Pt catalysts on singlewalled carbon nanotubes and their role in methanol oxidation. *Journal of Physical Chemistry B* **2006**, *110* (33), 16185-16188. DOI: 10.1021/jp064054s.

(331) Wang, Q.; Sun, G. Q.; Jiang, L. H.; Xin, Q.; Sun, S. G.; Jiang, Y. X.; Chen, S. P.; Jusys, Z.; Behm, R. J. Adsorption and oxidation of ethanol on colloid-based Pt/C, PtRu/C and Pt3Sn/C catalysts: In situ FTIR spectroscopy and on-line DEMS studies. *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics* **2007**, *9* (21), 2686-2696. DOI: 10.1039/b700676b.

(332) Li, X.; Wang, Y.; Li, L. Q.; Huang, W. Q.; Xiao, Z. C.; Wu, P. F.; Zhao, W. B.; Guo, W.; Jiang, P.; Liang, M. H. Deficient copper decorated platinum nanoparticles for selective hydrogenation of chloronitrobenzene. *Journal of Materials Chemistry A* **2017**, *5* (22), 11294-11300. DOI: 10.1039/c7ta01587a.

(333) a) Gilroy, K. D.; Hughes, R. A.; Neretina, S. Kinetically Controlled Nucleation of Silver on Surfactant-Free Gold Seeds. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **2014**, *136* (43), 15337-15345. DOI: 10.1021/ja5081635. b) Xia, Y. N.; Gilroy, K. D.; Peng, H. C.; Xia, X. H. Seed-Mediated Growth of Colloidal Metal Nanocrystals. *Angewandte Chemie-International Edition* **2017**, *56* (1), 60-95. DOI: 10.1002/anie.201604731.

(334) Fu, X. Y.; Wang, Y.; Wu, N. Z.; Gui, L. L.; Tang, Y. Q. Preparation of colloidal solutions of thin platinum nanowires. *Journal of Materials Chemistry* 2003, *13* (5), 1192-1195. DOI: 10.1039/b211747a.
(335) Wang, X. D.; Altmann, L.; Stover, J.; Zielasek, V.; Baumer, M.; Al-Shamery, K.; Borchert, H.; Parisi, J.; Kolny-Olesiak, J. Pt/Sn Intermetallic, Core/Shell and Alloy Nanoparticles: Colloidal Synthesis and Structural Control. *Chemistry of Materials* 2013, *25* (8), 1400-1407. DOI: 10.1021/cm302077w.

(336) Wang, P.; Zhao, J.; Li, X. B.; Yang, Y.; Yang, Q. H.; Li, C. Assembly of ZIF nanostructures around free Pt nanoparticles: efficient size-selective catalysts for hydrogenation of alkenes under mild conditions. *Chemical Communications* **2013**, *49* (32), 3330-3332. DOI: 10.1039/c3cc39275a.

(337) Baranova, E. A.; Le Page, Y.; Ilin, D.; Bock, C.; MacDougall, B.; Mercier, P. H. J. Size and composition for 1-5 nm Ø PtRu alloy nano-particles from Cu K alpha X-ray patterns. *Journal of Alloys and Compounds* **2009**, *471* (1-2), 387-394. DOI: 10.1016/j.jallcom.2008.03.101.

(338) Baranova, E. A.; Amir, T.; Mercier, P. H. J.; Patarachao, B.; Wang, D. S.; Le Page, Y. Single-step polyol synthesis of alloy Pt7Sn3 versus bi-phase Pt/SnO_x nano-catalysts of controlled size for ethanol electro-oxidation. *Journal of Applied Electrochemistry* **2010**, *40* (10), 1767-1777. DOI: 10.1007/s10800-010-0135-5.

(339) Baranova, E. A.; Tavasoli, A.; Amir, T. Particle Size Effect of Unsupported Pt/SnO_x Nanoparticles for Ethanol Electro-Oxidation. *Electrocatalysis* **2011**, *2* (2), 89-95. DOI: 10.1007/s12678-011-0043-4. (340) Li, W. J.; Yuan, R.; Chai, Y. Q.; Chen, S. H. Reagent less amperometric cancer antigen 15-3 immunosensor based on enzyme-mediated direct electrochemistry. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics* **2010**, *25* (11), 2548-2552. DOI: 10.1016/j.bios.2010.04.011.

(341) Li, F. J.; Tang, D. M.; Jian, Z. L.; Liu, D. Q.; Golberg, D.; Yamada, A.; Zhou, H. S. Li-O-2 Battery Based on Highly Efficient Sb-Doped Tin Oxide Supported Ru Nanoparticles. *Advanced Materials* **2014**, *26* (27), 4659-+. DOI: 10.1002/adma.201400162.

(342) Fu, X. Y.; Wang, Y.; Wu, N. Z.; Gui, L. L.; Tang, Y. Q. Surface modification of small platinum nanoclusters with alkylamine and alkylthiol: An XPS study on the influence of organic ligands on the Pt 4f binding energies of small platinum nanoclusters. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science* **2001**, *243* (2), 326-330. DOI: 10.1006/jcis.2001.7861.

(343) Blavo, S. O.; Qayyum, E.; Baldyga, L. M.; Castillo, V. A.; Sanchez, M. D.; Warrington, K.; Barakat, M. A.; Kuhn, J. N. Verification of Organic Capping Agent Removal from Supported Colloidal Synthesized Pt Nanoparticle Catalysts. *Topics in Catalysis* **2013**, *56* (18-20), 1835-1842. DOI: 10.1007/s11244-013-0120-4.

(344) Liang, H. P.; Jones, T. G. J.; Lawrence, N. S.; Jiang, L.; Barnard, J. S. Understanding the role of nanoparticle synthesis on their underlying electrocatalytic activity. *Journal of Physical Chemistry C* **2008**, *112* (11), 4327-4332. DOI: 10.1021/jp7100804.

(345) Wand, P.; Bartl, J. D.; Heiz, U.; Tschurl, M.; Cokoja, M. Functionalization of small platinum nanoparticles with amines and phosphines: Ligand binding modes and particle stability. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science* **2016**, *478*, 72-80. DOI: 10.1016/j.jcis.2016.06.003.

(346) Yan, M. Y.; Wu, T.; Chen, L. F.; Yu, Y. L.; Liu, B.; Wang, Y.; Chen, W. X.; Liu, Y.; Lian, C.; Li, Y. D. Effect of Protective Agents upon the Catalytic Property of Platinum Nanocrystals. *ChemCatChem* **2018**, *10* (11), 2433-2441. DOI: 10.1002/cctc.201800133.

(347) Marshall, S. T.; O'Brien, M.; Oetter, B.; Corpuz, A.; Richards, R. M.; Schwartz, D. K.; Medlin, J. W. Controlled selectivity for palladium catalysts using self-assembled monolayers. *Nature Materials* **2010**, *9* (10), 853-858. DOI: 10.1038/nmat2849.

(348) Clapham, S. E.; Hadzovic, A.; Morris, R. H. Mechanisms of the H₂-hydrogenation and transfer hydrogenation of polar bonds catalyzed by ruthenium hydride complexes. *Coordination Chemistry Reviews* **2004**, *248* (21-24), 2201-2237. DOI: 10.1016/j.ccr.2004.04.007.

(349) Schrader, I.; Warneke, J.; Backenkohler, J.; Kunz, S. Functionalization of Platinum Nanoparticles with L-Proline: Simultaneous Enhancements of Catalytic Activity and Selectivity. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **2015**, *137* (2), 905-912. DOI: 10.1021/ja511349p.

(350) Sulce, A.; Backenkohler, J.; Schrader, I.; Delle Piane, M.; Muller, C.; Wark, A.; Ciacchi, L. C.; Azov, V.; Kunz, S. Ligand-functionalized Pt nanoparticles as asymmetric heterogeneous catalysts: molecular reaction control by ligand-reactant interactions. *Catalysis Science & Technology* **2018**, *8* (23). DOI: 10.1039/c8cy01836g.

(351) Sulce, A.; Flaherty, D. W.; Kunz, S. Kinetic analysis of the asymmetric hydrogenation of beta-keto esters over alpha-amino acid-functionalized Pt nanoparticles. *Journal of Catalysis* **2019**, *374*, 82-92. DOI: 10.1016/j.jcat.2019.04.020.

(352) Kahsar, K. R.; Schwartz, D. K.; Medlin, J. W. Control of Metal Catalyst Selectivity through Specific Noncovalent Molecular Interactions. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **2014**, *136* (1), 520-526. DOI: 10.1021/ja411973p.

(353) Kunz, S. Supported, Ligand-Functionalized Nanoparticles: An Attempt to Rationalize the Application and Potential of Ligands in Heterogeneous Catalysis. *Topics in Catalysis* **2016**, *59* (19-20), 1671-1685. DOI: 10.1007/s11244-016-0687-7.

(354) Schrader, I.; Neumann, S.; Sulce, A.; Schmidt, F.; Azov, V.; Kunz, S. Asymmetric Heterogeneous Catalysis: Transfer of Molecular Principles to Nanoparticles by Ligand Functionalization. *ACS Catalysis* **2017**, *7* (6), 3979-3987. DOI: 10.1021/acscatal.7b00422.

(355) Kunz, S.; Schreiber, P.; Ludwig, M.; Maturi, M. M.; Ackermann, O.; Tschurl, M.; Heiz, U. Rational design, characterization and catalytic application of metal clusters functionalized with hydrophilic, chiral ligands: a proof of principle study. *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics* **2013**, *15* (44), 19253-19261. DOI: 10.1039/c3cp53626b.

(356) Schrader, I.; Neumann, S.; Himstedt, R.; Zana, A.; Warneke, J.; Kunz, S. The effect of particle size and ligand configuration on the asymmetric catalytic properties of proline-functionalized Pt-

nanoparticles. *Chemical Communications* **2015**, *51* (90), 16221-16224. DOI: 10.1039/c5cc06990d. (357) Sulce, A.; Mitschke, N.; Azov, V.; Kunz, S. Molecular Insights into the Ligand-Reactant Interactions of Pt Nanoparticles Functionalized with alpha-Amino Acids as Asymmetric Catalysts for beta-Keto Esters. *ChemCatChem* **2019**, *11* (11), 2732-2742. DOI: 10.1002/cctc.201900238.

(358) Schroder, C.; Baumann, A. K.; Schmidt, M. C.; Smyczek, J.; Haugg, P. A.; Graap, O. C.; Schauermann, S. Mechanisms Acting in Ligand-Directed Heterogeneous Catalysis: Electronic, Geometric, and Enol-Induced Effects. *Journal of Physical Chemistry C* **2022**, *126* (10), 4907-4920. DOI: 10.1021/acs.jpcc.2c00987.

(359) Morsbach, E.; Speder, J.; Arenz, M.; Brauns, E.; Lang, W.; Kunz, S.; Baumer, M. Stabilizing Catalytically Active Nanoparticles by Ligand Linking: Toward Three-Dimensional Networks with High Catalytic Surface Area. *Langmuir* **2014**, *30* (19), 5564-5573. DOI: 10.1021/la4049055.

(360) Brauns, E.; Morsbach, E.; Kunz, S.; Baumer, M.; Lang, W. A fast and sensitive catalytic gas sensors for hydrogen detection based on stabilized nanoparticles as catalytic layer. *Sensors and Actuators B-Chemical* **2014**, *193*, 895-903. DOI: 10.1016/j.snb.2013.11.048.

(361) Shin, W.; Tajima, K.; Choi, Y. S.; Izu, N.; Matsubara, I.; Murayama, N. Planar catalytic combustor film for thermoelectric hydrogen sensor. *Sensors and Actuators B-Chemical* **2005**, *108* (1-2), 455-460. DOI: 10.1016/j.snb.2004.12.077.

(362) Liu, P. X.; Qin, R. X.; Fu, G.; Zheng, N. F. Surface Coordination Chemistry of Metal Nanomaterials. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 2017, *139* (6), 2122-2131. DOI: 10.1021/jacs.6b10978.
(363) Sharapa, D. I.; Doronkin, D. E.; Studt, F.; Grunwaldt, J. D.; Behrens, S. Moving Frontiers in Transition Metal Catalysis: Synthesis, Characterization and Modeling. *Advanced Materials* 2019, *31* (26), 1970187. DOI: 10.1002/adma.201807381.

(364) Gu, S. S.; Kaiser, J.; Marzun, G.; Ott, A.; Lu, Y.; Ballauff, M.; Zaccone, A.; Barcikowski, S.; Wagener, P. Ligand-free Gold Nanoparticles as a Reference Material for Kinetic Modelling of Catalytic Reduction of 4-Nitrophenol. *Catalysis Letters* **2015**, *145* (5), 1105-1112. DOI: 10.1007/s10562-015-1514-7.